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TRANSFORMATION
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT  
has completed its third year since 
listing in April 2007. The past year is  
best described as transformational, 
one in which the Trust has emerged 
as a stronger and more resilient 
vehicle. With a recapitalised balance 
sheet and two financially strong 
sponsors, the Trust is on course  
to deliver on its promise of secure 
income and sustainable growth  
to Unitholders.
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Key Highlights for the Financial Year ended 
31 March 2010 (“FY2010”) for the Trust

Annual Report 2010

All figures are in Singapore dollars,  
unless otherwise specified. 

+8.9% increase in net property 
income from previous year

Portfolio was 96.0% occupied

Leverage of 28.9%, reduced from 
41.3% as at 31 March 2009

Net Asset Value per unit of $0.31

Total portfolio size of  
$635.25 million

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT  
(“AIMSAMPIREIT” or the “Trust”)

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (formerly 
known as MacarthurCook Industrial REIT) is a real 
estate investment trust (“REIT”) that listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”) on 19 April 2007. The Trust has the 
investment objective of owning and investing in a 
diversified portfolio of income-producing industrial 
real estate assets in Singapore and Asia.

As at 31 March 2010, AIMSAMPIREIT’s portfolio 
comprises 26 industrial properties, 25 of which are 
located throughout Singapore and one in Saitama, 
Tokyo, Japan. The Trust’s portfolio has an appraised 
total value of $635.25 million based on valuations 
obtained for the Singapore-located properties as 
at 21 December 2009 and for the Japan-located 
property as at 28 January 2010. The Trust’s portfolio 
is diversified across the following key industrial 
subsectors: warehouse and logistics, manufacturing, 
business and office park and research and 
technology. The properties house a tenant base of 
international and local companies engaged in a wide 
range of economic activity, including construction 
and engineering, food and beverage, consumer 
goods, pharmaceuticals, oil and gas, information 
technology and logistics.

The Trust is managed by AIMS AMP Capital Industrial 
REIT Management Limited (the “Manager”), a joint 
venture REIT management company owned 50% 
each by AIMS Financial Group and AMP Capital 
Investors. AIMS Financial Group is a privately 
owned Australian, non-bank financial services and 
investment group, which has a solid track record 
in the Australian mortgage and securitisation 
markets. AMP Capital Investors is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Australian Securities Exchange listed 
AMP Limited, one of Australia’s largest retail and 
corporate pension providers and one of the region’s 
most significant investment managers.

The Manager’s key objectives are to deliver secure 
and stable distributions to Unitholders and to 
provide long-term capital growth.
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AIMS FINANCIAL GROUP

Established in 1991 by Mr George Wang, AIMS Financial Group (“AIMS”) is an Australian 
diversified non-bank financial services and investment group which has a solid track 
record in the Australian mortgage and securitisation markets. Since its founding, AIMS 
Financial Group has also expanded to become an international financial group focusing on 
lending, securitisation, real estate investment, private equity, investment banking, funds 
management, securities exchange ownership and e-commerce across the Asia Pacific 
region. AIMS holds an Australian Financial Service License (AFSL) for securitisation trust 
management granted by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC).

In the eight years to 2007, AIMS has raised directly and indirectly close to A$3 billion in 
funds from the capital markets, with most of the residential mortgage-backed securities 
(RMBS) rated AAA by both Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings. AIMS has originated over 
A$5 billion of high-quality, prime home loans since 1997. 

In the real estate funds management area, AIMS holds an AFSL granted by the ASIC  
to offer real estate funds management and mortgage funds management services.  
AIMS actively introduces international investors to the Australian real estate market,  
and has attracted over A$1 billion of investment from its international clients to invest  
in Australian direct property.

Recent acquisitions have enhanced the vertical integration of AIMS Financial Group’s real 
estate, funds management and capital market businesses. These include the acquisitions 
of Asia Pacific Exchange Limited, one of Australia’s three licensed securities exchanges,  
in 2008, and MacarthurCook Limited in 2009. 

AIMS Financial Group’s head office is in Sydney, Australia, and it has offices across Australia, 
China and Singapore. Together with its highly qualified, professional and experienced cross-
cultural teams, AIMS Financial Group is in a very strong position to bridge the gap between 
Australia and China in various markets.

www.aims.com.au

Our Sponsors

8 & 10 Pandan Crescent, Singapore
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Our Sponsors continued

AMP CAPITAL INvESTORS 

AMP Capital Investors (“AMP Capital”) is a specialist 
investment manager with over A$96 billion in assets under 
management as at 31 March 2010. AMP Capital is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of AMP Limited (“AMP”). AMP Capital’s 
teams of specialists operate across direct and listed real 
estate, infrastructure, equities, fixed income and credit. 

As one of the largest institutional real estate fund 
managers in Australia and New Zealand, AMP Capital has 
over A$20 billion in global direct and listed real estate funds 
under management. The group has over 45 years of real 
estate investment expertise and was ranked a Global Top 
20 real estate investment manager by Towers Watson in 
2009. AMP Capital was also ranked a Top 10  Australian 
company by Forbes in 2010. 

With established operations in Australia, New Zealand, 
China, Hong Kong, India, Luxembourg, Japan, Singapore  
and the United Kingdom, AMP Capital has over 200 in-house 
investment professionals, around 900 staff globally, and a 
carefully selected network of regional investment partners 
who can source competitive international investment 
opportunities catering for the varying needs of its clients.
 
AMP Capital expanded its Singapore office in 2006  
and is committed to building its investment business in 
Asia. As AMP Capital’s Asian regional hub, the Singapore 
team specialises in Asian real estate, Asian equities  
and distribution. 

AMP is one of Australia’s largest retail and corporate 
pension providers, and one of the region’s most significant 
investment managers with over A$114 billion in assets 
under management as at 31 December 2009. AMP was 
established in 1849 as a mutual company and listed on 
the Australian and New Zealand stock exchanges in 1998. 
AMP has more than 3.6 million customers and over 3,500 
employees. It has one of Australia’s largest shareholder 
registers, with approximately 795,000 shareholders.  
One in six Australian adults is an AMP customer.

www.ampcapital.com

1A International Business Park, Singapore
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For the Financial Year ended 31 March 2010 2009 2008

Gross revenue1 50.9 50.8 32.2

Net property income 40.1 36.9 24.8

Amount available for distribution 22.3 23.4 19.6

Distribution per unit (“DPU”)(cents)2 5.1234 8.925 7.52
1 Gross revenue comprises property rental income and property expenses recoverable from tenants. 
2 DPU for FY2010 was lower than the corresponding period largely due to (i) the issuance of 221,428,572 Placement Units and 975,627,332 Rights 

Units in FY2010 and (ii) higher borrowing cost.

Balance Sheet ($’million) as at 31 March 2010 2009 2008

Total assets 657.7 544.0 569.3

Total liabilities 200.9 254.7 231.7

Total borrowings 190.0 224.4 222.0

Unitholders’ funds 456.7 289.1 337.8

Total Units in issue and to be issued at end of  
the period (million) 

1,466.6 266.4 261.0

Market capitalisation 315.31 60.22 256.83

1 Based on 1,466.6 million Units in issue and the Trust’s closing price of $0.215 per unit as at 31 March 2010. 
2 Based on 261.71 million Units in issue and the Trust’s closing price of $0.230 per unit as at 31 March 2009.
3 Based on 260.8 million Units in issue and the Trust’s closing price of $0.985 per unit as at 31 March 2008. 

Key Financial Ratios as at 31 March 2010 2009 2008

Earnings per unit (cents) (2.65) (6.87)1 28.22

Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per unit ($)2 0.31 1.09 1.29

Aggregate leverage ratio (%) 28.9 41.3 39.0

Interest coverage ratio3 (times) 3.17 7.36 9.82

Management expense ratio4 (times) 1.26 1.03 1.02
1 Restated for the effect of the underwritten renounceable 2-for-1 rights issue (“Rights Issue”) on 24 December 2009. A total of 975,627,332 Units 

were issued pursuant to the Rights Issue. 
2 NAV as at 31 March 2010 was lower than the previous corresponding period largely due to the (i) issuance of 221,428,572 Placement Units and  

(ii) 975,627,332 Rights Units in FY2010.
3 Ratio of EBITDA over interest expense. Bank covenant of 2.5 times. The interest coverage ratio under the current terms of the bank loans is  

4.2 times, calculated using EBITDA over interest expense for 4Q FY2010.
4 Expenses to weighted average net assets (excludes performance related fee): The expenses refers to the expenses of the Group excluding  

property- related expenses, borrowing costs and foreign exchange gains/(losses). The expense ratio, including performance fee for FY2009,  
is 1.36 %. There was no performance fee for FY2010 and FY2008.

Unit Performance  
(Source: Bloomberg)

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

Closing price $0.215 $0.230

Highest price during financial year $0.450 $1.000

Lowest price during financial year $0.195 $0.200

Total volume traded (million Units) 449.4 160.2

Average daily volume traded (Units) 1,721,816 635,595

Market capitalisation ($’million) 315.3 60.2

Financial Highlights FY2010 ($’million unless otherwise stated)
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Financial Highlights FY2010 continued

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT  
Unit Price and volume (Source: Bloomberg) 
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March 2009 Extended the maturity date of the Trust’s $220.8 million term 
loan facility from 18 April 2009 to 16 June 2009.

April 2009 Moody’s Investors Service downgraded the Trust’s corporate 
family rating to “B2”.

May 2009 Announced results for the financial year ended 31 March 2009 
(“FY2009”) and a DPU of 1.875 cents for the quarter ended  
31 March 2009. 

June 2009 Moody’s downgraded the Trust’s corporate family rating to “Caa1”. 

Extended the maturity date of the Trust’s $202.3 million term 
loan facility from 16 June 2009 to 31 December 2009.

The Trust’s auditors, KPMG LLP, included an emphasis of matter 
in relation to the Financial Statements for FY2009. 

July 2009 AIMS Financial Group acquired a 100% interest in 
MacarthurCook Limited, the parent company of the Trust’s 
Manager, leading to a change in control of the Manager.

Resignation of Mr Craig Mathew Dunstan as Executive Director 
of the Manager and Managing Director of MacarthurCook 
Limited, following the takeover by AIMS. Resignation of  
Mr Alastair Hugh Gurner as Independent Director of the Board.

August 2009 Announced financial results and a DPU of 1.51 cents for the first 
quarter ended 30 June 2009. 

Recomposition of the Manager’s Board of Directors. Resignation 
of Mr Richard Michael Haddock as Chairman of the Manager 
and appointment of Mr George Wang as Non-Executive 
Chairman and Mr Gregory Allen Bundy and Mr Mark Thorpe-Apps 
as Non-Executive Directors. 

November 2009 Announced financial results and a DPU of 1.939 cents for the 
second quarter ended 30 September 2009 (“2Q FY2010”). 

Issue of a Unitholder Circular dated 6 November 2009, announcing 
a fully underwritten recapitalisation and refinancing of the Trust, 
subject to approval by Unitholders at an Extraordinary General 
Meeting (“EGM”) held on 23 November 2009.

Moody’s Investors Service placed the Trust’s “Caa1” corporate 
family rating on review for possible upgrade following the 
announcement of the Transactions.

All five resolutions, as set out in the notice of EGM dated 6 November 
2009, were duly passed at the EGM on 23 November 2009. 

Issued 221,428,572 new Units pursuant to the AMP Capital 
Investment and the Cornerstone Investments, bringing  
the total number of Units in issue to 487,813,666 as of  
24 November 2009 and raising $62.0 million. 

Lodged an Offer Information Statement on 30 November 2009 
with the Monetary Authority of Singapore in relation to a  
fully underwritten, 2-for-1 Renounceable Rights Issue to raise 
$155.1 million.

Completed the acquisition of 1A International Business Park, 
Singapore 609933 (“1A IBP”) from Eurochem Corporation Pte 
Ltd. for $90.2 million.

Significant Events  
during the Year FY2010
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Significant Events  
during the Year FY2010 continued

December 2009 Raised $155.1 million with the issue of 975,627,332 Rights 
Units, bringing the total number of Trust Units in issue to 
1,463,440,998 Units.

Repaid JPY500.0 million ($7.8 million) of the JPY1.5 billion debt 
facility and bridged the balance of the facility until February 2010.

Repaid $27.3 million of the $202.3 million debt facility. The 
balance of the facility, $175.0 million, was refinanced for three 
years to December 2012. 

Completion of the acquisition of 50% of the Manager and 50% 
of the Property Manager by AMP Capital Investors.

Resignation of Mr Lawrence Alan Mendelowitz as Executive 
Director, Mr Gregory Allen Bundy and Mr Mark Thorpe-Apps 
as Non-Executive Directors and recomposition of the Board to 
include both Mr Simon Vinson and Mr Graham Sugden from 
AMP Capital Investors as Non-Executive Directors of  
the Manager.

The name of the Trust was changed from “MacarthurCook 
Industrial REIT” to “AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT”. 

The name of the Manager was changed from “MacarthurCook 
Investment Managers (Asia) Limited” to “AIMS AMP Capital 
Industrial REIT Management Limited”, and the name of the 
Property Manager was changed from “MacarthurCook Property 
Management Pte Limited” to “AIMS AMP Capital Property 
Management Pte Ltd”.

Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the Trust’s corporate family 
rating to Ba2 from Caa1 with a stable rating outlook. 

January 2010 Capital Markets Service License was issued to the Manager by 
the Monetary Authority of Singapore. 

Completed the acquisition of four industrial properties (23 Tai 
Seng Drive, 3 Toh Tuck Link, 56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 and 
30/32 Tuas West Road) from DB International Trust (Singapore) 
Limited, in its capacity as trustee of AMP Capital Business Space 
REIT (the “4 AMP Capital Properties”), for a total consideration 
of $68.6 million.

February 2010 Announced a special distribution of 0.95 cents per Unit  
to Unitholders for the period from 1 October 2009 to  
23 November 2009.

Announced 3Q FY2010 financial results and a distribution of 
0.1868 cents per Unit for the period from 24 November 2009  
to 31 December 2009. 

Resignation of Mr Lim How Teck as Independent Director and 
Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

Refinanced the JPY Bridge Loan of JPY1.0 billion for two years to 
February 2012.

Appointment of Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath as Executive Director 
and Mr Eugene Lai as Independent Director of the Manager. 

March 2010 Appointment of Mr Norman Ip as Independent Director and  
Ms Giam Lay Hoon as Non-Executive Director of the Manager.
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George Wang

Chairman

Chairman’s Report

Dear Unitholders, 

The financial year ended 31 March 2010 was a transformational year for the 
Trust. The Trust is now well on track to charting a new course for a stable, 
rewarding future as one of Singapore’s pre-eminent industrial real estate 
investment trusts. On behalf of the Manager’s Board of Directors, I am pleased 
to present the Trust’s Annual Report for FY2010. 

Transformation of the Trust in FY2010

FY2010 was an extraordinary year that began under very difficult global capital 
market and economic conditions. The global capital market turbulence in 2008 
and 2009 meant that liquidity was almost non-existent and debt was extremely 
difficult to obtain or refinance. 

Against this backdrop, the Trust faced an uncertain future at the start of FY2010 
given its impending debt expiries, unfunded contractual obligations and the 
financial challenges its sponsor, MacarthurCook Limited, was facing. The Trust 
had debt of $202.3 million due on 17 April 2009, together with an unfunded 
$90.2 million contractual obligation to purchase 1A International Business Park 
(“1A IBP”) upon its completion in 3Q FY2010. The debt was extended twice on a 
short-term basis to 16 June 2009, and then to 31 December 2009. Put simply,  
the Trust had to recapitalise in order to continue as a going concern. 

Following completion of the acquisition of MacarthurCook Limited by AIMS 
Financial Group in July 2009, efforts were redoubled to solve the issues facing 
the Trust in order to achieve the best outcome for the Trust and its Unitholders. 

With your vote of approval at the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)  
in November 2009, the Trust was transformed into a vehicle with significant 
strength. Highlights include: 

 Raising $217.1 million in equity, which enabled the acquisition of 1A IBP and 
the refinancing of the Trust’s debt facilities; 

 A sharp reduction in the Trust’s leverage to 28.9% from 41.3%; 
 The partial repayment and refinancing of debt facilities; 
 An increase in the Trust’s market capitalisation to $315.3 million from  

$60.2 million; and 
 An increase in the Trust’s portfolio size and diversity by 19.1% to $635.25 million 

with the acquisition of 1A IBP and the four AMP Capital Properties.
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In addition, the Trust has gained the support of another 
strong Sponsor, AMP Capital Investors. AMP Capital 
Investors acquired 50% of the Trust’s Manager and Property 
Manager, and became the largest substantial Unitholder 
with a 16.07% interest in the Trust’s Units. 

The Trust was renamed “AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT”.

AIMS Financial Group as a Sponsor

In October 2009, AIMS Financial Group completed the 
acquisition of a 100.0% interest in MacarthurCook Limited, 
the parent company of the Manager of the Trust. At AIMS, 
we were particularly attracted to MacarthurCook’s strong 
real estate funds management platform. We felt that the 
Trust was significantly undervalued despite it owning quality, 
income-earning industrial real estate assets in Singapore. 

I believe that the Trust has significant potential to become 
Singapore’s leading independent pan-Asian industrial REIT 
with a focus on Singapore in the near term, and China and 
other countries in the medium to longer term. AIMS has 
actively invested in the Trust’s growth and holds a 7.65% 
interest in the Trust’s Units as at 31 March 2010. 

As a substantial Unitholder of the Trust and Chairman of 
the Manager’s Board of Directors, I am committed to the 
enhancement of returns to Unitholders. During my tenure 
as Chairman, I will ensure that the Trust takes appropriate 
steps that will benefit Unitholders in the long term. It is 
important that we continue to build on the Trust’s existing 
strengths and adopt appropriate and financially sound 
strategies in pursuit of sustainable growth. The Chief 
Executive Officer’s report states the key strategies of 
management to achieve these aims. 

Joint venture with AMP Capital Investors

I am also pleased that AMP Capital Investors, an 
internationally recognised funds management company 
with over A$20 billion in global direct and listed real estate 
funds under management, has joined AIMS as a Sponsor 
of the Trust. AMP Capital Investors’ investment was a 
significant step in their long-term Asian growth strategy 
and demonstrates its confidence in the Trust’s potential. 

The Trust will benefit from AMP Capital Investors’ strong 
property funds management expertise and its platform 
in Asia. In addition, AMP Capital’s risk management and 
compliance framework will ensure that the Trust has the 
benefit of best-practice risk and compliance procedures.

Board of Directors

With the change in the Sponsorship of the Trust, the 
Manager’s Board of Directors has been reconstituted to 

Chairman’s Report continued

comprise eight directors, including one executive director 
and three independent directors. 

I would like to thank Mr Lim How Teck, who resigned in 
February 2010 as Independent Director and Chairman 
of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, for his 
invaluable contribution and advice throughout his tenure 
as a director on the Board of the Manager. 

I also wish to thank all of the following directors who 
served on the Board of the Manager in the past year:  
Mr Richard Michael Haddock, Mr Craig Mathew Dunstan, 
Mr Alastair Hugh Gurner, Mr Lawrence Alan Mendelowitz, 
Mr Gregory Allen Bundy and Mr Mark Thorpe-Apps. 

I would also like to welcome the following directors who 
joined the Board this year: Mr Simon Vinson, Mr Graham 
Sugden, Mr Eugene Paul Lai, Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung,  
Ms Giam Lay Hoon and Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath. 

With these appointments, our Board is comprised of a 
quality team of corporate leaders who have substantial 
professional experience with complementary skill sets 
across real estate, accounting, banking, finance, legal and 
compliance, private equity and risk management. 

Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)

The Annual General Meeting for the Trust is scheduled for 
Wednesday, 30 June 2010 at 2.00 p.m. at STI Auditorium, 
Capital Tower. The Board looks forward to meeting 
Unitholders at the AGM. 

Thank You

In conclusion, I would like to sincerely thank our 
Unitholders, Trustee and our strategic partners, lenders  
and tenants for their support throughout FY2010. 
 
I would also like to extend my appreciation to my fellow 
Board members and, on behalf of the Board, thank the 
management team for their hard work and dedication 
throughout the year. 

We look forward to your continued support in FY2011. 

Yours faithfully, 

George Wang 

Chairman
25 May 2010
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Nicholas McGrath

Chief Executive 
Officer and 

Executive Director

Dear Unitholders, 

As the Chairman has highlighted in his report, FY2010 was an extraordinary 
year which saw the transformation of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT into 
a stronger, more resilient REIT with excellent prospects for growth. The Trust 
ended its financial year with a market capitalisation of $315.3 million, low 
leverage of 28.9% with a stable debt platform out to 2012 and five additional 
investment grade properties that contribute to portfolio diversification.

The Trust commences financial year 2011 having resolved all of the issues that 
have held it back in previous years, with a solid balance sheet demonstrating low  
leverage against conservative asset valuations, and well-positioned for growth. 
The Trust now has the support of two strong Sponsors in AIMS Financial  
Group and AMP Capital Investors, which bring with them a combination of 
demonstrated real estate funds management experience and an open approach 
to investment opportunities. 

Moving forward, the Board and management intend to implement a clear set 
of strategies which are designed to increase Unitholders’ value and liquidity 
through repositioning and growth of the existing portfolio. These strategies are 
described further below. 

Review of the Issues Facing the Trust at the Beginning of FY2010 

When I joined the Manager as Chief Executive Officer in January 2009 at the 
height of the global financial crisis, the Trust had an aggregate leverage of 
approximately 40.0% and a loan facility of $202.3 million that was due to 
mature in April 2009. The Manager obtained a final extension of the loan to 
31 December 2009, whilst reviewing possible solutions for additional funding. 
As detailed by the Chairman, the Manager embarked on recapitalisation 
transactions to secure the necessary funding to fulfil the Trust’s obligations,  
and successfully raised $217.1 million in December for the Trust. 

Moody’s Ratings Upgrade

Following completion of the recapitalisation transactions, Moody’s Investors 
Services acknowledged the significant improvement in the Trust’s capital structure 
by upgrading the Trust’s corporate rating by five notches to Ba2 from Caa1 on  

Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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 Aggregate leverage of 28.9% as at 31 March 2010.

 A robust net asset value (NAv) of 31 cents per unit, as at 
31 March 2010, following a write down of 13.0% during 
the period from 31 December 2008 to 31 March 2010. 

 A unit price of 21.5 cents as at 11 May 2010, representing 
a 30.6% discount to the NAV per unit.

 An interest cover ratio (ICR) of 4.2 times for 4Q FY2010, 
compared to the Trust’s bank facility ICR of 2.5 times. 

 Strong, stable and predictable cashflows supported by 
occupancy of 96.0%, a weighted average lease expiry of 
4.4 years and an average of 9.5 months of security deposit 
per property underpinning contracted rental obligations.

Strategy for the Trust Moving Forward 

The Trust has a clear set of strategies which are designed 
to close the gap between trading price and NAV and to 
clearly differentiate itself from other Singapore industrial 
REITs. The goal of management, at all times, is to enhance 
Unitholder wealth by growing distributable income and to 
maximise the value of the Trust’s portfolio.

Moving forward, the Trust’s key objective is to increase 
Unitholder value and liquidity through repositioning and 
growth of the existing portfolio. The Manager intends to 
achieve this through:

 An immediate focus on repositioning the Singapore 
portfolio through selective asset recycling that seeks to 
replace likely underperforming assets, combined with 
intensive asset management programs on retained assets.

 Negotiation of an increase in the facility amount 
under the existing debt facility, bringing total 
aggregate leverage from the current level of 29% up 
to approximately 35%. This will be the medium-term 
targeted maximum debt level.

 Refinancing of the existing $175 million debt facility.

 Positioning the Trust as an investor across all of the major 
industrial/business space sub-sectors in medium-sized 
single tenant assets and, potentially, larger facilities 
where the income can be derived from multiple tenants, 
thus spreading income risk and allowing for the addition 
of organic value through management input.

 Focus on the Singapore market in the near to medium 
term, but true to the original investment mandate for the 
Trust, over the longer term seeking opportunities across 

Chief Executive Officer’s Report continued

28 December 2009. From hereon, we are targeting an 
investment grade rating of at least Baa3 of the Trust by 
maintaining strict financial discipline and robust investment 
grade metrics. 

FY2010 Financial Performance 

For FY2010, AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT had a 
distribution per Unit of 5.1234 cents. The total distribution 
of $22.3 million for FY2010 was 4.6% lower than in 
FY2009. These results were the function of rental income 
contribution from the five newly acquired properties offset 
by higher interest expense.

FY2010 gross revenue increased marginally year-on-year 
to $50.9 million. The increase reflected the full quarterly 
rental income contribution from 1A International Business 
Park, which was acquired in 3Q FY2010, and 80 days rental 
income contribution from the four AMP Capital properties 
which were acquired in 4Q FY2010. The five newly acquired 
properties will contribute an aggregate full-year rental 
income of approximately $12.0 million for the next 
financial year. 

FY2010 net property income increased 8.9% year-on-year 
to $40.1 million, driven largely by the acquisition of the five 
properties together with net lower operating expenses. 

The Trust’s distributions are supported by the following 
key factors:

 High portfolio occupancy rate of 96.0%, compared to the 
Singapore industrial average of 91.2%1 . 

 Security deposits which support the rental obligation of 
tenants, with the average security deposit being  
9.5 months per property.

 A weighted average lease expiry of 4.4 years.

 Organic rental growth supported by built-in escalations 
that range from 2.5% to 8% on 20 of the Trust’s  
properties which are under a master lease.

 Five multi-tenanted properties in the Trust’s portfolio, 
giving it exposure to future growth in market rentals as 
the Singapore economy continues to recover.

The key financial and operational metrics of the Trust as we
commence our 2011 financial year include: 

 An annualised yield of 10.0%2, which represents a spread 
of 9.5% over the Singapore 12-month fixed deposit rate  
of 0.5%3 and a spread of 1.9% over the Singapore 
industrial REIT sector average yield of 8.1%4 as at  
11 May 2010.  

1 URA, 1st quarter 2010 Real Estate Statistics, 23 April 2010.
2 Based on annualised 4Q FY2010 DPU of 2.1504 cents and 11 May 2010 closing price of 21.5 cents.
3 12-month fixed deposit as at 30 April 2010. Source: The website of the Monetary Authority  

of Singapore. 
4 Bloomberg analysis consensus estimates as at 11 May 2010.
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the maximum in this band to fund the acquisition activity 
discussed above.

 A broadening and diversification of the Trust’s funding 
sources beyond existing key relationships with our 
current lenders.

 The targeting of a refinance of the Trust’s existing  
$175 million facility with a view to improving the 
financing terms for the Trust.

 Continuity of appropriate hedging of market-based risks 
such as interest rate and exchange rate risks. 

 The targeting of an investment grade rating of Baa3 or 
above (current rating Ba2) from Moody’s by maintaining 
strict financial discipline and investment grade metrics 
over the cycle. 

3. Revised geographic focus

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT was listed in April 2007 
with an investment mandate to invest in a diversified 
portfolio of income-producing real estate located 
throughout Asia, which is used for industrial/business 
space purposes.

The strategy in the near to medium term is to refocus the 
Trust on opportunities in Singapore. 

Beyond this, management will consider opportunities 
in overseas markets where the Trust’s Sponsors have a 
presence and domain knowledge, such as China, and take 
advantage of opportunities arising from the growth of the 
Sponsors’ businesses across the Asia region. Management 
will allocate resources to a complete analysis of investing 
structures and opportunities in those markets to prepare 
the REIT for possible acquisitions in the future.

For now the Trust will seek to dispose of its single asset in 
Japan, but may seek to re-enter the Japanese market in a 
considered and more sustainable manner over the medium 
to long term when suitable opportunities arise.

Looking Ahead

In May 2010, the Ministry of Trade and Industry announced 
that the Singapore economy had expanded by 15.5% on a 
year-on-year basis in the first quarter of 2010. 
 
The Ministry maintained its earlier forecast for Singapore’s 
growth in 2010 at between 7.0% and 9.0%. The forecast takes 
into consideration the more broad-based U.S. economic 
recovery and continued growth in key Asian economies, 
but also the intensification in downside risk in recent 
weeks resulting from heightened market anxiety over the 
possibility of sovereign debt default in Europe and concerns 
over excessive asset price inflation in emerging Asia. 

Asia where the two Sponsors have a presence, such as 
China, and increasing that geographical footprint as the 
Sponsors’ own businesses expand across Asia.

 Exploring medium-term opportunities for delivering 
development value to Unitholders through participation 
in selective development opportunities.

 Enhancing the skills applied by the current management 
team through selective additional appointments and 
systems upgrades, with particular emphasis on the 
provision of high level support where needed from  
the Sponsors.

Moving forward, the Manager intends to actively 
implement its strategies through one or more of the 
following activities:

1. Portfolio management 

 The disposal of the current single asset held in Japan 
during the next six months, with a redeployment of the 
net proceeds into either repayment of Singapore debt or 
into a Singapore acquisition.

 The potential sale of one or more smaller assets in 
Singapore in accordance with management’s analysis 
of likely underperforming assets, with the intention of 
redeploying the proceeds into repayment of Singapore 
debt and/or a Singapore property acquisition.

 The utilisation of asset sale proceeds and existing  
debt capacity to acquire quality industrial real estate  
in Singapore.

 An increase in the critical mass of the Trust to position it 
for successful future growth. The Manager is targeting to 
increase the assets under management from the current 
$657.7 million as at 31 March 2010 to $1.4 billion within 
five years.

 As existing master leases expire and the Trust assumes 
multi-tenant relationships on its property portfolio, a 
sharply increased focus on positive leasing outcomes 
to capitalise on the expected improvement in market 
rentals as the Singapore economy recovers from the 
global financial crisis. 

 The potential participation in build-to-suit development 
opportunities with partners over the medium term 
within the limits prescribed by the Singapore Property 
Funds Appendix. 

 The enhancement of selected assets in the portfolio by 
increasing net lettable area to meet tenants’ growth 
requirements or identified demand in the market. 

2. Capital management

 The maintenance of aggregate leverage between 30% 
and 35% through the next property cycle, increasing to 

Chief Executive Officer’s Report continued
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The Singapore industrial property sector appears to have 
begun its recovery with a stabilisation of industrial rental 
rates and a small increase in rental rates for selected sub-
sectors. A sustained economic recovery in Singapore and the 
rest of Asia will support the industrial market’s recovery. 

Thank You

I wish to extend my appreciation to the management team 
for their continued dedication and hard work. I also wish to 
thank our Unitholders, tenants and business partners for 
their unwavering support during the year. As the Chairman 
has expressed, the transformation of the Trust would not 
have been achieved without your support. We look forward 
to your continued support and a rewarding year ahead. 

Yours faithfully, 

Nicholas Paul McGrath

Chief Executive Officer
25 May 2010

Chief Executive Officer’s Report continued

The Trust now has the support of  
two strong Sponsors in AIMS Financial Group  
and AMP Capital Investors, which bring a 
combination of demonstrated real estate 
funds management experience and an open 
approach to investment opportunities.
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Structure of  
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT

The following diagram indicates the relationships between the Trust, the Manager, the 
Property Manager, the Trustee and the Unitholders.
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Portfolio Summary as at 31 March 2010

Location/Property1 Major Tenants Date of  
Acquisition

Purchase  
Price

Net Lettable  
Area  

Appraised  
value2 

Rental Income for  
the Year ended  
31 March 2010

Occupancy Land Lease  
Expiry Year3

$'million sq m $'million $’000 %

Logistics and Warehousing

8 & 10 Pandan Crescent United Tech Park Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 115.0 65,856.4 122.9 7,717.3 100.0 2068

Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse Saitama,  
Tokyo, Japan8 MM Corporation 20/12/2007 28.7 9,088.6 28.9 2,056.9 100.0 Freehold

10 Changi South Lane Ossia International Limited 19/04/2007 33.8 12,655.9 26.5 2,474.1 100.0 2056

15 Tai Seng Drive Multi-tenanted:
Farnell Components Pte Ltd
Westfalia Separator (S.E.A.) Pte Ltd

•
•

Kumpulan Development (S) Pte Ltd•
17/12/2007 28.9 17,880.0 25.6 2,009.1 85.7 2051

11 Changi South Street 3 Builders Shop Pte Ltd 17/12/2007 20.8 11,547.5 22.4 2,011.5 100.0 2055

61 Yishun Industrial Park A BTH Global Pte Ltd6 21/01/2008 24.6 13,471.0 22.2 1,881.8 100.0 2052

1 Bukit Batok Street 22 Master lessee: GRP Limited5 19/04/2007 18.0 14,134.9 20.0 1,444.0 75.95 2055

Multi-tenanted:–
Guan Ming Hardware & Engineering
Terasaki Electric Co. (F.E.) Pte Ltd 

•
•

Mentor Media Ltd•
 

3 Toh Tuck Link Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd9 11/01/2010 19.3 11,446.0 19.8 429.0 100.0 2056

30 & 32 Tuas West Road Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd9 11/01/2010 17.3 14,081.0 17.8 358.0 100.0 2055

23 Tai Seng Drive Excalibur Holdings (S) Pte Ltd9 , IPC Corporation Ltd, T-Systems Singapore Pte Ltd 11/01/2010 17.2 8,561.0 17.6 328.0 84.0 2050

23 Changi South Avenue 2 Master lessee: KTL Offshore Pte. Ltd4 19/04/2007 19.5 9,989.1 16.0 1,454.9 93.24 2054

Multi-tenanted:
Futar Enterprises Pte Ltd
Hock Transportation & Containers 
Warehousing Pte Ltd

•
•

Pentagon Freight Services (S) Pte Ltd •

56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 Crescendas Pte Ltd9 11/01/2010 14.8 10,424.0 15.2 312.9 100.0 2055

31 Admiralty Road Fook Tong Nam Industries Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 13.4 10,197.1 15.0 1,172.7 100.0 2037

7 Clementi Loop Master lessee: Nova Engineering and Logistic Pte Ltd7 31/03/2008 18.3 9,081.3 12.2 1,407.8 33.87 2053

Multi-tenanted:
Agility Fairs & Events Logistics Pte Ltd• EM Services Pte Ltd•

103 Defu Lane 10 Success Global Pte Ltd6 21/01/2008 14.5 8,361.3 11.3 1,156.7 100.0 2043

Subtotal —  
Logistics and Warehousing  404.1 226,775.1 393.4 26,214.7 93.8

Manufacturing

20 Gul Way Enviro-Metals Pte Ltd10 19/04/2007 39.4 32,208.3 41.2 3,328.2 100.0 2041

135 Joo Seng Road Powermatic Data Systems Ltd 10/03/2008 25.0 9,535.1 23.3 1,825.4 100.0 2054

3 Tuas Ave 2 Cimelia Resource Recovery Pte Ltd10 19/04/2007 20.8 14,700.1 22.0 1,670.7 100.0 2055

541 Yishun Industrial Park A King Plastic Pte Ltd 03/10/2007 16.8 8,017.6 13.8 1,190.9 100.0 2054

1 Kallang Way 2A Xpress Holdings Ltd 30/01/2008 14.0 6,910.7 13.2 986.9 100.0 2055

8 & 10 Tuas Ave 20 C S Graphics Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 11.6 8,873.0 12.6 900.4 100.0 8 Tuas Ave 20 – 2050

10 Tuas Ave 20 – 2052

8 Senoko South Road Sin Hwa Dee Food Stuff Industries Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 12.8 7,278.9 11.3 930.3 100.0 2054

10 Soon Lee Road Fullmark Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 8.7 7,214.4 9.4 732.1 100.0 2041

26 Tuas Avenue 7 Aalst Chocolate Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 8.3 5,522.1 9.4 804.3 100.0 2053

Subtotal — Manufacturing  157.4 100,260.2 156.2 12,369.2 100.0

Research & Technology

2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 CIT Cosmeceutical Pte. Ltd 19/04/2007 15.2 6,255.0 12.7 1,160.4 100.0 2047

Subtotal – Research and Technology  15.2 6,255.0 12.7 1,160.4 100.0

Office Park

1A International Business Park Eurochem Corporation Pte Ltd 30/11/2009 90.2 16,697.0 73.0 1,993.4 100.0 2059

Subtotal – Office Park  90.2 16,697.0 73.0 1,993.4 100.0

TOTAL  666.9 349,987.3 635.3 41,737.7 96.0

The AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Portfolio
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Portfolio Summary as at 31 March 2010

Location/Property1 Major Tenants Date of  
Acquisition

Purchase  
Price

Net Lettable  
Area  

Appraised  
value2 

Rental Income for  
the Year ended  
31 March 2010

Occupancy Land Lease  
Expiry Year3

$'million sq m $'million $’000 %

Logistics and Warehousing

8 & 10 Pandan Crescent United Tech Park Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 115.0 65,856.4 122.9 7,717.3 100.0 2068

Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse Saitama,  
Tokyo, Japan8 MM Corporation 20/12/2007 28.7 9,088.6 28.9 2,056.9 100.0 Freehold

10 Changi South Lane Ossia International Limited 19/04/2007 33.8 12,655.9 26.5 2,474.1 100.0 2056

15 Tai Seng Drive Multi-tenanted:
Farnell Components Pte Ltd
Westfalia Separator (S.E.A.) Pte Ltd

•
•

Kumpulan Development (S) Pte Ltd•
17/12/2007 28.9 17,880.0 25.6 2,009.1 85.7 2051

11 Changi South Street 3 Builders Shop Pte Ltd 17/12/2007 20.8 11,547.5 22.4 2,011.5 100.0 2055

61 Yishun Industrial Park A BTH Global Pte Ltd6 21/01/2008 24.6 13,471.0 22.2 1,881.8 100.0 2052

1 Bukit Batok Street 22 Master lessee: GRP Limited5 19/04/2007 18.0 14,134.9 20.0 1,444.0 75.95 2055

Multi-tenanted:–
Guan Ming Hardware & Engineering
Terasaki Electric Co. (F.E.) Pte Ltd 

•
•

Mentor Media Ltd•
 

3 Toh Tuck Link Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd9 11/01/2010 19.3 11,446.0 19.8 429.0 100.0 2056

30 & 32 Tuas West Road Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd9 11/01/2010 17.3 14,081.0 17.8 358.0 100.0 2055

23 Tai Seng Drive Excalibur Holdings (S) Pte Ltd9 , IPC Corporation Ltd, T-Systems Singapore Pte Ltd 11/01/2010 17.2 8,561.0 17.6 328.0 84.0 2050

23 Changi South Avenue 2 Master lessee: KTL Offshore Pte. Ltd4 19/04/2007 19.5 9,989.1 16.0 1,454.9 93.24 2054

Multi-tenanted:
Futar Enterprises Pte Ltd
Hock Transportation & Containers 
Warehousing Pte Ltd

•
•

Pentagon Freight Services (S) Pte Ltd •

56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 Crescendas Pte Ltd9 11/01/2010 14.8 10,424.0 15.2 312.9 100.0 2055

31 Admiralty Road Fook Tong Nam Industries Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 13.4 10,197.1 15.0 1,172.7 100.0 2037

7 Clementi Loop Master lessee: Nova Engineering and Logistic Pte Ltd7 31/03/2008 18.3 9,081.3 12.2 1,407.8 33.87 2053

Multi-tenanted:
Agility Fairs & Events Logistics Pte Ltd• EM Services Pte Ltd•

103 Defu Lane 10 Success Global Pte Ltd6 21/01/2008 14.5 8,361.3 11.3 1,156.7 100.0 2043

Subtotal —  
Logistics and Warehousing  404.1 226,775.1 393.4 26,214.7 93.8

Manufacturing

20 Gul Way Enviro-Metals Pte Ltd10 19/04/2007 39.4 32,208.3 41.2 3,328.2 100.0 2041

135 Joo Seng Road Powermatic Data Systems Ltd 10/03/2008 25.0 9,535.1 23.3 1,825.4 100.0 2054

3 Tuas Ave 2 Cimelia Resource Recovery Pte Ltd10 19/04/2007 20.8 14,700.1 22.0 1,670.7 100.0 2055

541 Yishun Industrial Park A King Plastic Pte Ltd 03/10/2007 16.8 8,017.6 13.8 1,190.9 100.0 2054

1 Kallang Way 2A Xpress Holdings Ltd 30/01/2008 14.0 6,910.7 13.2 986.9 100.0 2055

8 & 10 Tuas Ave 20 C S Graphics Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 11.6 8,873.0 12.6 900.4 100.0 8 Tuas Ave 20 – 2050

10 Tuas Ave 20 – 2052

8 Senoko South Road Sin Hwa Dee Food Stuff Industries Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 12.8 7,278.9 11.3 930.3 100.0 2054

10 Soon Lee Road Fullmark Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 8.7 7,214.4 9.4 732.1 100.0 2041

26 Tuas Avenue 7 Aalst Chocolate Pte Ltd 19/04/2007 8.3 5,522.1 9.4 804.3 100.0 2053

Subtotal — Manufacturing  157.4 100,260.2 156.2 12,369.2 100.0

Research & Technology

2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 CIT Cosmeceutical Pte. Ltd 19/04/2007 15.2 6,255.0 12.7 1,160.4 100.0 2047

Subtotal – Research and Technology  15.2 6,255.0 12.7 1,160.4 100.0

Office Park

1A International Business Park Eurochem Corporation Pte Ltd 30/11/2009 90.2 16,697.0 73.0 1,993.4 100.0 2059

Subtotal – Office Park  90.2 16,697.0 73.0 1,993.4 100.0

TOTAL  666.9 349,987.3 635.3 41,737.7 96.0

Notes: 
1 All the properties in the portfolio are located in 

Singapore except for the Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse,  
which is located in Japan.

2 Appraised values were based on valuations obtained  
as at 21 December 2009 for the Singapore-based 
properties and as at 28 January 2010 for the  
Japan property.

3 Includes the period covered by the relevant options  
to renew.

4 The Trust assumed the existing multiple leases at  
23 Changi South Avenue 2 following the expiry of  
the master lease with KTL Offshore Pte. Ltd on  
18 April 2010. The occupancy rate at 23 Changi South 
Avenue 2 in this summary reflects the underlying 
subtenant occupancies as at 18 April 2010, following  
the expiry of the head lease. 

5 The Trust assumed the existing multiple leases at  
1 Bukit Batok Street 22 following the expiry of the  
master lease with GRP Limited on 18 April 2010.  
The occupancy rate at 1 Bukit Batok Street 22 in this 
summary reflects the underlying subtenant occupancies 
as at 18 April 2010, following the expiry of the head lease.

6 BTH Global Pte Ltd and Success Global Pte Ltd have 
shareholders who are related.

7 The Trust assumed the existing multiple leases at  
7 Clementi Loop following the termination of the  
master lease with Nova Engineering and Logistic  
Pte Ltd on 9 March 2010. The occupancy rate at  
7 Clementi Loop is expected to increase to 60.0% on  
15 June 2010 upon the commencement of a two-year 
lease with EBS Logistics Pte Ltd. 

8 The Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse was valued at  
JPY1.93 billion (conversion to SGD at JPY/SGD  
exchange rate of 66.7639). 

9 Excalibur Holdings (S) Pte Ltd, Crescendas Pte Ltd and 
Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd are related to the shareholders of 
Crescendas Pte Ltd. 

10 Both Enviro-Metals Pte Ltd (formerly known as E-Hub 
Metals Pte Ltd) and Cimelia Resource Recovery Pte Ltd 
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Enviro-Hub Holdings 
Ltd, which is listed on the Main Board of the SGX-ST.
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The AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Portfolio 

Strategically Located Portfolio 

The portfolio comprises 26 properties, of which 25 are strategically located in Singapore’s 
established industrial areas and one in Saitama, Japan, a key logistics node in the Greater 
Tokyo area. The properties are easily accessible by major highways and are in close 
proximity to sea ports, airports, amenities and public transportation. 

Portfolio Analysis

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Property Portfolio Key Statistics 

As at 31 March 2010 As at 19 April 2007 (IPO)

Number of Properties 26 12

Portfolio Value ($’m) 635.3 316.5

Net Lettable Area (sq m) 349,987.3 194,980.7

Number of Tenants 49 12

Occupancy 96.0% 100%

Location of Properties Singapore, Japan Singapore

Singapore Portfolio as at 31 March 2010 

The Trust’s presence throughout key industrial precincts in Singapore

Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse 

Address: 1-�98-�, 11, 1� Yoshinocho, 

Kita-Ku, Saitama City, Japan
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The master leases at 23 Changi South Avenue 2 and 1 Bukit Batok Street 22 expired on  
18 April 2010 and the Trust assumed the underlying subleases from that date. To present 
the most up to date analysis of the portfolio, rental income, where it is referred to in this 
section, is weighted according to rental income for the month of May 2010.

Diversified Income Base

The portfolio has a well-diversified tenant base, with no single tenant contributing more 
than 16.7% of rental income. This compares to the 33.6% contribution from the largest 
tenant at the time of listing. The top 10 tenant groups accounted for 73.4% of the Trust’s 
rental income, compared to 94.2%† in the initial portfolio at the time of listing.
† Based on contracted rental income for the initial 12 properties at the time of listing. 

Notes:
1 Both Enviro-Metals Pte Ltd (formerly known as E-Hub Metals Pte Ltd) and Cimelia Resource Recovery Pte Ltd are wholly- owned subsidiaries of 

Enviro-Hub Holdings Ltd, which is listed on the Main Board of the SGX-ST. 
2 Crescendas Pte Ltd and Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd are related to the shareholders of Crescendas Pte Ltd. 
3 BTH Global Pte Ltd and Success Global Pte Ltd have shareholders who are related.

Diversified Property Usage and Diverse Tenant Industry Mix

The Trust’s properties are well-diversified across a spread of industrial trade sectors. 
 

Property Usage by Industrial Subsector % of Rental Income as at 31 March 2010

Logistics and Warehousing 59.9

Manufacturing 25.7

Office Park 11.9

Research and Technology 2.5

Property Usage by Industrial Subsector (by Rental Income)

Portfolio Analysis continued
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Portfolio Analysis

Balanced Weighted Average Lease Expiry Profile

The Trust benefits from a balanced and diversified weighted average lease expiry profile, 
which reduces the Trust’s exposure to lease expiry in any one year. 

As at 31 March 2010, the weighted average lease term to expiry (by rental income) of all the 
properties was 4.4 years. 

Long Leasehold for Expiry of Underlying 
Land Lease

As at 31 March 2010, the weighted average 
unexpired lease term for the underlying 
land of all properties is 43.6 years, 
compared to 47.8 years as at the Initial 
Public Offer. 
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High Occupancy Levels

As at 31 March 2010, the portfolio was 96.0% occupied, which compares favourably with 
the Singapore industrial average occupancy rate of 91.2%.*

Portfolio Analysis continued

Master Lease Arrangements

Twenty-one properties in the portfolio under master lease arrangements, while five are 
under multi-tenanted leases. 

Additional Income Protection from Subleases

Of the 21 properties under master lease arrangements, 16 of the properties have additional 
sublease arrangements which provide an additional layer of income protection. The Trust 
has the right to take over existing sub-tenancies upon the expiry of the master lease.

Security Deposits

All of the properties are supported by security deposits in the form of cash or bankers’ 
guarantees. As at 31 March 2010, the deposits ranged from 3 months rental to 18 months 
rental, with an average of 9.5 months rental per property for the portfolio. 

Rental Escalations

Organic rental growth is supported by built-in rental escalations staggered throughout the 
leases of 20 properties. Nineteen properties have escalations that range from 2.5% to 8.0%, 
and one that is pegged to the Consumer Price Index.

* Source: Based on URA 1st quarter 2010 statistics. 91.2% is the average of the factory and warehouse space occupancy rates of 92.3% and  
90.1%, respectively.

Master Lease and Multi-Tenanted Leases (by Rental Income)

Multi-Tenanted 13.8%

Master Lease 86.2%

96.0% 92
.3%

9
0.1%

91
.2%

The Trust

Factory Space

W
arehouse Space

URA Industrial 

Average

Occupancy Rates as at 31 March 2010

The Trust in comparison with the Singapore industrial average
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8 & 10 Pandan Crescent
8 & 10 Pandan Crescent comprises one block of  
five-storey (Block 8) and one block of six-storey (Block 10) 
warehouse buildings. Each block has a similar layout and  
is served by passenger lift lobbies, warehouses with 
ancillary offices and cargo lift lobbies. The property has  
80 loading/unloading bays with 38 dock-levellers on the 
first storey.

The property is located in Pandan Crescent within the 
Jurong Industrial Estate, at the junction of the West Coast 
Highway. The property is approximately 15 km away 
from the city centre at Raffles Place and is well-served by 
expressways/major roads such as the West Coast Highway, 
Ayer Rajah Expressway and Jalan Buroh.

Property Details 8 & 10 Pandan Crescent

Valuation ($’million) 122.9

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.00

Terminal Yield (%) 7.25

Discount Rate (%) 8.25

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  115.0 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 September 2068

Land Area (sq m)  32,376.5

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 80,940.0

NLA (sq m)  65,856.4 

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.5

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant United Tech Park Pte Ltd

1A International  
Business Park
1A IBP comprises a 13-storey high-tech business park 
building with a basement car park with line-marked 
provisions for 114 cars. The building is suitable for business 
park use and incorporates office and warehouse areas, in 
addition to ancillary showroom areas.

Located within the prestigious precinct of International 
Business Park, the property is well-served by a network of  
roads that provides easy access to all parts of the island. These 
include the Ayer Rajah Expressway, Pan-Island Expressway  
and Commonwealth Avenue West. Approximately 16 km 
away from the city centre at Raffles Place, International 
Business Park is a business and technology hub for companies 
involved in high-technology industries that include software 
development, research and ancillary activities. 

Property Details 1A International Business Park

Valuation ($’million) 73.0

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.00

Terminal Yield (%) 7.25

Discount Rate (%) 8.25

Acquisition Date 30 November 2009

Purchase Price ($’million) 90.2

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 May 2059

Land Area (sq m) 7,998.4

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 19,949.6

NLA (sq m) 16,697.0

Property Type Business/Office Park

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.5

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant Eurochem Corporation Pte Ltd
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20 Gul Way
20 Gul Way comprises a large-scale industrial facility with 
production and warehouse areas, and ancillary office areas. 
The buildings comprise an administration block (Building 
A), a canteen block (Building B), a plant room/technician 
bay (Building D) and five production/warehouse buildings 
denoted as Buildings C1, C2, E, F, G, H and I. Buildings C and 
F each have a small single-storey annexe building which is 
generally used for storage. The buildings are spread over 
the site with generous open spaces. 

The property is located within the Jurong Industrial Estate, 
approximately 22 km from the city centre at Raffles Place. 
It is well-served by major arterial roads/expressways such 
as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Ayer Rajah Expressway and the 
Pan-Island Expressway. 

Property Details 20 Gul Way

Valuation ($’million) 41.2

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  39.4 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 15 January 2041 

Land Area (sq m) 76,946.1 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 35,123.0 

NLA (sq m) 32,208.3 

Property Type Manufacturing

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.4

Current Plot Ratio 0.46

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant Enviro-Metals Pte Ltd

Property Details 10 Changi South Lane

Valuation ($’million) 26.5

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.00

Terminal Yield (%) 7.25

Discount Rate (%) 8.25

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million) 33.8

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 15 June 2056

Land Area (sq m) 9,219.1

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 14,793.0

NLA (sq m) 12,655.9

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.50

Current Plot Ratio 1.60

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant Ossia International Limited

10 Changi South Lane
10 Changi South Lane comprises a part five-storey/part  
seven-storey warehouse with ancillary office space. The 
property is also equipped with eight loading and unloading 
bays with dock-levellers. An Automated Storage and 
Retrieval System (ASRS) is provided at the first-storey 
warehouse area. 

The property is located within Changi South Industrial 
Estate. It is approximately 15.5 km away from the city 
centre at Raffles Place and is well-served by expressways/
major roads such as the East Coast Parkway, Pan-Island 
Expressway and Upper Changi Road East.
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15 Tai Seng Drive
15 Tai Seng Drive comprises a five-storey plus basement 
industrial warehouse building. The building accommodates 
warehouse areas and ancillary office areas over five levels. 
Basement warehouse/storage areas have been created 
within an area originally designated for car parking. Ample 
loading/unloading bays with dock-levellers, lorry and 
covered car parking lots are provided. The building has two 
passenger lifts and two cargo lifts which operate between 
all storeys, including the basement level. 

The property is located within the Tai Seng Industrial 
Estate, approximately 10 km away from the city centre at 
Raffles Place. It is well-served by the Pan-Island Expressway, 
Paya Lebar Road Airport Road and Macpherson Road. It has 
easy access to the Kallang Paya Lebar Expressway. 

Property Details 15 Tai Seng Drive 

Valuation ($’million)  25.6 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.25

Terminal Yield (%) 7.50

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 17 December 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  28.9 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 March 2051

Land Area (sq m) 9,077.9 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 21,350.0 

NLA (sq m) 17,880.0 

Property Type  Warehouse and Logistics 

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.35

Lease Terms

Lease Type Multiple-tenanted 

Name of Major Tenants Farnell Components Pte Ltd
 Kumpulan Development (S) Pte Ltd
Westfalia Separator (S.E.A.) Pte Ltd

135 Joo Seng Road
135 Joo Seng Road comprises an 8-storey light industrial 
building incorporating a first-storey car park with seven 
storeys of areas primarily suitable for light industrial 
activities, in addition to a canteen located on the second 
storey. The building is equipped with two passenger lifts, 
two cargo lifts and six loading/unloading bays located on 
the first storey. 

The property is located at the north-western junction of  
Joo Seng Road and Jalan Bunga Rampai, approximately  
15 km away from the city centre. It is well-served by the 
Upper Paya Lebar Road and Upper Aljunied Road, which  
link with the Pan-Island Expressway and the Kallang Paya 
Lebar Expressway. 

Property Details  135 Joo Seng Road 

Valuation ($’million)  23.3 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.25

Terminal Yield (%) 7.50

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 10 March 2008

Purchase Price ($’million)  25.0 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 June 2054

Land Area (sq m) 5,420.1 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 12,835.0 

NLA (sq m) 9,535.1 

Property Type  Manufacturing 

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.36

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Powermatic Data Systems Limited 
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11 Changi South Street 3
11 Changi South Street 3 comprises a four-storey 
plus basement light industrial building incorporating 
four storeys of warehouse, office and showroom 
accommodation. A single basement level incorporates car 
parking for 60 bays and ancillary storage areas. Vertical 
access is provided by two passenger lifts and two cargo 
lifts which serve the basement to the fourth storey. There 
are three loading/unloading bays with dock-levellers. 

11 Changi South Street 3 is located within Changi South 
Industrial Estate, approximately 16 km away from the city 
centre at Raffles Place. It is well-served by Xilin Avenue, the  
Pan-Island Expressway and the East Coast Parkway. 

Property Details  11 Changi South Street 3 

Valuation ($’million)  22.4 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.00

Terminal Yield (%) 7.25

Discount Rate (%) 8.25

Acquisition Date 17 December 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  20.8 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 March 2055 

Land Area (sq m) 8,832.6 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 14,015.9 

NLA (sq m) 11,547.5 

Property Type  Warehouse and Logistics 

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.0

Current Plot Ratio 1.58

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Builders Shop Pte Ltd 

61 Yishun Industrial Park A
61 Yishun Industrial Park A comprises a six-storey 
industrial building with areas suitable for light 
manufacturing, warehouse and distribution and  
ancillary offices. Vertical access in the building is 
provided by a single passenger lift and three cargo lifts 
There are six loading/unloading bays located on the  
first storey. 

The property is located within Yishun Industrial Park A, 
approximately 24 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. It is well-served by major expressways/major roads, 
including Yishun Avenue 2, which directly links with the 
Seletar Expressway. 

Property Details 61 Yishun Industrial Park A 

Valuation ($’million)  22.2 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 21 January 2008

Purchase Price ($’million) 24.6

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 August 2052

Land Area (sq m) 5,921.8

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 14,601.0

NLA (sq m) 13,471.0

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.47

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  BTH Global Pte Ltd 
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1 Bukit Batok Street 22
1 Bukit Batok Street 22 comprises an eight-storey industrial 
building incorporating a four-storey factory and eight 
storeys of ancillary office space. The building is equipped 
with two passenger and two cargo lifts. 

The property is located within the Bukit Batok Industrial 
Estate, approximately 15 km away from the city centre at 
Raffles Place. The property is well-served by expressways/
major roads such as the Pan-Island Expressway and Bukit 
Batok Road.

Property Details 1 Bukit Batok Street 22

Valuation ($’million) 20.0

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.25

Terminal Yield (%) 7.50

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million) 18.0

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 June 2055

Land Area (sq m) 6,399.3

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 15,978.4 

NLA (sq m) 14,134.9

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.5

Lease Terms

Lease Type Multiple-tenanted

Name of Major Tenants Guan Ming Hardware & Engineering
 Mentor Media Ltd

Terasaki Electric Co. (F.E.) Pte Ltd

Property Details 3 Tuas Avenue 2 

Valuation ($’million)  22.0 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  20.8 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 15 March 2055 

Land Area (sq m) 17,802.7 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 16,334.3 

NLA (sq m) 14,700.1 

Property Type  Manufacturing 

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.4

Current Plot Ratio 0.92

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Cimelia Resource Recovery Pte Ltd 

3 Tuas Avenue 2
3 Tuas Avenue 2 comprises a two-storey ancillary office 
building, a single-storey factory building and a part two-/ 
part three-storey warehouse building. A cargo lift is 
provided at the warehouse building, which has loading and 
unloading areas. 

The property is located within the Jurong Industrial Estate, 
approximately 26.5 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. The property is well-served by major arterial roads/ 
expressways such as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, the Ayer Rajah 
Expressway and the Pan-Island Expressway. 
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3 Toh Tuck Link
3 Toh Tuck Link comprises a purpose-built part two-/ 
part-five storey warehouse building with ancillary offices. 
It accommodates high-bay and conventional warehouse 
areas on the first and third storeys, and ancillary office 
areas on all storeys. 

The building has a total of seven loading/unloading bays 
located at the first storey of the building, each one fitted 
with a dock-leveller.

The property is located within the Toh Tuck Industrial 
Estate and is bounded by Toh Tuck Link, Old Toh Tuck  
Road and Toh Tuck Avenue. It is situated some 12 km  
to the west of the city centre at Raffles Place and is  
well-served by major roads and expressways such as  
Boon Lay Way, Commonwealth Avenue West and the  
Pan-Island Expressway.

Property Details 3 Toh Tuck Link

Valuation ($’million) 19.75 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.25

Terminal Yield (%) 7.50

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 11 January 2010

Purchase Price ($’million) 19.3

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 15 November 2056

Land Area (sq m) 10,724.4 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 12,492.4 

NLA (sq m) 11,446.0 

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.6

Current Plot Ratio 1.16

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd

30/32 Tuas West Road
30/32 Tuas West Road comprises two detached three-
storey industrial buildings with a covered link at the first-
storey driveway. No. 30 Tuas West Road is a single-user 
factory with an office building. No. 32 Tuas West Road 
accommodates warehouse areas/production areas/offices 
on the first storey and production areas/ancillary office areas 
on the upper floors. Vertical access within 32 Tuas West Road 
is facilitated by two cargo lifts and a passenger lift.

The property is located along Tuas West Road, within the 
Tuas Industrial Estate some 25 km away from the city centre 
at Raffles Place. Accessibility to other parts of Singapore, as 
well as the Second Link to Johor Malaysia, is facilitated by its 
close proximity to the Ayer Rajah Expressway.

Property Details 30/32 Tuas West Road

Valuation ($’million) 17.8 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 11 January 2010

Purchase Price ($’million) 17.3 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 December 2055

Land Area (sq m) 12,894.9

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 14,838.1

NLA (sq m) 14,081.0 

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.4

Current Plot Ratio 1.15

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant Tavica Logistics Pte Ltd
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23 Tai Seng Drive
23 Tai Seng Drive comprises a purpose-built six-storey light 
industrial building with a basement car park. The building 
accommodates reception/ancillary office/production areas 
on the first storey and production areas for clean and light 
industry uses and ancillary office areas on the upper levels. 
The building is equipped with two loading/unloading bays 
with a raised platform, located at the front section of the 
building and facing the main entrance to the development.

The property is located at the junction of Tai Seng Drive 
and Tai Seng Avenue, some 9 km away from the city centre 
at Raffles Place. The property is well-served by major roads 
and expressways such as the Paya Lebar Road, Eunos Link 
and Pan-Island Expressway.

Property Details 23 Tai Seng Drive

Valuation ($’million) 17.6

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.00

Terminal Yield (%) 7.25

Discount Rate (%) 8.25

Acquisition Date 11 January 2010

Purchase Price ($’million) 17.2

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 July 2050

Land Area (sq m) 3,813.6 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 9,493.1 

NLA (sq m) 8,561.0 

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.5

Lease Terms

Lease Type Multiple-tenanted

Name of Major Tenants Excalibur Holdings (S) Pte Ltd 
IPC Corporation Ltd

 T-Systems Singapore Pte Ltd

23 Changi South Avenue 2
23 Changi South Avenue 2 comprises a four-storey 
warehouse with ancillary office building equipped with a 
passenger lift and three cargo lifts. A loading/unloading 
area with six dock-levellers is provided on the first storey. 

The property is located within the Changi South Industrial 
Estate approximately 16 km away from the city centre at 
Raffles Place. It is well-served by expressways/major roads 
such as the East Coast Parkway, Pan-Island Expressway, 
Xilin Avenue and Upper Changi Road. 

Property Details  23 Changi South Avenue 2

Valuation ($’million) 16.0 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.00

Terminal Yield (%) 7.25

Discount Rate (%) 8.25

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million) 19.5

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 September 2054

Land Area (sq m) 9,948.2

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 12,260.7

NLA (sq m) 9,989.1

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.6

Current Plot Ratio 1.23

Lease Terms

Lease Type Multiple-tenanted

Name of Major Tenants Futar Enterprises Pte Ltd
Hock Transportation & Containers 

Warehousing Pte Ltd
Pentagon Freight Services (S) Pte Ltd
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56 Serangoon North Avenue 4
56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 comprises a purpose-
built seven-storey light industrial building incorporating 
warehouse areas on the first storey and factory areas 
incorporating ancillary office areas on the upper floors. 
The units generally have regular configurations with direct 
access to the cargo lift lobbies on the upper floors, leading 
to the loading/unloading bays on the first storey. The 
building is equipped with six loading/unloading bays and 
two dock-levellers at the first storey. 

The property is situated within the Serangoon North 
Industrial Estate, some 12 km away from the city centre at 
Raffles Place. The property is well-served by major roads 
and expressways such as Yio Chu Kang Road, Ang Mo Kio 
Avenue 5 and the Central Expressway.

Property Details 56 Serangoon North Avenue 4

Valuation ($’million) 15.2 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.25

Terminal Yield (%) 7.50

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 11 January 2010

Purchase Price ($’million) 14.8 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 15 May 2055

Land Area (sq m) 4,999.1 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 11,751.0 

NLA (sq m) 10,424.0 

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.35

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant Crescendas Pte Ltd

31 Admiralty Road
31 Admiralty Road comprises a seven-storey factory with 
ancillary office building. The building is equipped with a 
passenger lift, a fireman’s lift, two cargo lifts and a loading/
unloading area accommodating four bays with two  
dock-levellers on the first storey. 

The property is located within Admiralty Industrial Park, 
approximately 25 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. The property is well-served by expressways such as 
the Bukit Timah Expressway and Seletar Expressway. 

Property Details  31 Admiralty Road 

Valuation ($’million)  15.0 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  13.4 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 April 2037

Land Area (sq m) 5,109.5 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 12,660.7 

NLA (sq m) 10,197.1 

Property Type  Warehouse and Logistics 

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.5

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Fook Tong Nam Industries Pte Ltd 
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Property Details 541 Yishun Industrial Park A 

Valuation ($’million)  13.8 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 3 October 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  16.8 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 June 2054 

Land Area (sq m) 6,851.4 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 8,770.9 

NLA (sq m) 8,017.6 

Property Type  Manufacturing 

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 1.28

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  King Plastic Pte Ltd 

541 Yishun Industrial Park A
541 Yishun Industrial Park A comprises a four-storey 
factory building which primarily incorporates production, 
warehouse and office areas. Vertical access throughout all 
levels is provided by a single passenger lift and two cargo 
lifts servicing the production and warehouse areas. There are 
six loading/unloading bays with dock-levellers located at the 
first storey.

The property is located within Yishun Industrial Park A and 
is approximately 24 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. The property is well-served by expressways/major 
roads, including Yishun Avenue 2, which directly links with 
the Seletar Expressway. 

1 Kallang Way 2A
1 Kallang Way 2A comprises an eight-storey light industrial 
building with areas suitable for light industrial activities 
and ancillary office and showroom areas. The building also 
features recreational areas in the form of an executive 
lounge, guest accommodation rooms, swimming pool, 
gymnasium, sauna, steam room and open seating areas. 
The building has two passenger lifts, a cargo lift, a fireman’s 
lift and two loading/unloading bays. 

The property is located within Kallang Way Industrial 
Estate, approximately 10 km away from the city centre at 
Raffles Place. It is well-served by the Pan-Island Expressway, 
Central Expressway, Kallang Paya Lebar Expressway, 
MacPherson Road and Aljunied Road. 

Property Details 1 Kallang Way 2A 

Valuation ($’million)  13.2 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.00

Terminal Yield (%) 7.25

Discount Rate (%) 8.25

Acquisition Date 30 January 2008

Purchase Price ($’million) 14.0

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 June 2055

Land Area (sq m) 3,231.4 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 7,811.1 

NLA (sq m) 6,910.7 

Property Type Manufacturing

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 2.42

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Xpress Holdings Ltd 
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2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65
2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 comprises an “L-shaped”  
three-storey factory building which was refurbished 
in 2006. The building is equipped with a cargo lift, a 
passenger lift and a loading/unloading bay.

The property is located within the Ang Mo Kio Industrial 
Estate, approximately 16 km away from the city centre 
at Raffles Place. It is well-served by major arterial roads/
expressways such as the Central Expressway. 

Property Details 2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65

Valuation ($’million) 12.7

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  15.2 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 March 2047

Land Area (sq m) 5,610.2 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 7,325.0 

NLA (sq m) 6,255.0 

Property Type Research & Technology

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 1.3

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant CIT Cosmeceutical Pte. Ltd

8 & 10 Tuas Avenue 20
8 & 10 Tuas Avenue 20 comprises two units of JTC “Type D”  
factories which were amalgamated into an extensively 
renovated two-storey detached factory. 

The property is located within the Jurong Industrial 
Estate, approximately 27 km away from the city centre at 
Raffles Place. It is well-served by major arterial roads and 
expressways such as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Ayer Rajah 
Expressway and the Pan-Island Expressway. 

Property Details 8 & 10 Tuas Avenue 20

Valuation ($’million) 12.6

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million) 11.6

Leasehold Title Expiry Year
8 Tuas Avenue 20 – 31 October 2050

10 Tuas Avenue 20 – 30 September 2052

Land Area (sq m) 10,560.0 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 10,918.0 

NLA (sq m) 8,873.1 

Property Type Manufacturing

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.4

Current Plot Ratio 1.03

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant CS Graphics Pte Ltd
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Property Details 7 Clementi Loop 

Valuation ($’million)  12.2 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.25

Terminal Yield (%) 7.50

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 31 March 2008

Purchase Price ($’million)  18.25 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 15 June 2053

Land Area (sq m) 9,998.3 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 9,081.3 

NLA (sq m) 9,081.3 

Property Type  Warehouse and Logistics 

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.6

Current Plot Ratio 0.91

Lease Terms

Lease Type Multiple-tenanted 

Name of Major Tenants Agility Fairs & Events Logistics Pte Ltd
EMS Services Pte Ltd 

7 Clementi Loop
7 Clementi Loop comprises a warehouse and office building 
consisting of a single-level high-bay warehouse and a three-
level plus mezzanine section with ancillary air-conditioned 
storage and office accommodation. The building has a 
passenger lift servicing the office and ancillary storage. 
There are eight loading and unloading bays with  
dock-levellers on the first storey.

The property is located within Clementi West Distripark, 
approximately 12 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. The property is well-served by the Pan-Island 
Expressway, Ayer Rajah Expressway and Commonwealth 
Avenue West. 

103 Defu Lane 10
103 Defu Lane 10 comprises a warehouse and office  
facility consisting of a three-storey office, and an  
adjoining two-storey warehouse. The building is equipped 
with two loading and unloading bays, a passenger lift and 
a cargo lift. 

The property is located within Defu Industrial Estate, 
approximately 13 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. It is well-served by major roads including the Kallang 
Paya Lebar Expressway and Hougang Avenue 3, which 
provides access to the Pan-Island Expressway via Eunos Link. 

Property Details 103 Defu Lane 10 

Valuation ($’million)  11.3 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 21 January 2008

Purchase Price ($’million)  14.5 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 30 June 2043 

Land Area (sq m) 7,541.0 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 9,045.6 

NLA (sq m) 8,361.3 

Property Type Warehouse and Logistics

Town Planning Business 1

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 1.2

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Success Global Pte Ltd 



ANNUAL REPORT 2010  |  33

Property Showcase – Singapore

8 Senoko South Road
8 Senoko South Road comprises a six-storey factory with an 
ancillary office building and a single-storey annex building. 
The building has a passenger lift and two cargo lifts, as well  
as five loading/unloading bays with dock-levellers on the  
first storey. 

The property is located within the Woodlands East 
Industrial Estate, approximately 30 km from the city  
centre at Raffles Place. The property is well-served by 
expressways such as the Bukit Timah Expressway and the 
Seletar Expressway. 

Property Details 8 Senoko South Road

Valuation ($’million) 11.3

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  12.8 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 October 2054 

Land Area (sq m) 7,031.3 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 9,249.0 

NLA (sq m) 7,278.9 

Property Type Manufacturing

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.5

Current Plot Ratio 1.3

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant Sin Hwa Dee Food Stuff Industries Pte Ltd

26 Tuas Avenue 7
26 Tuas Avenue 7 comprises a two-storey purpose-built 
factory with a mezzanine office level. The building has a 
loading and unloading bay and a cargo lift. 

The property is located within the Jurong Industrial Estate, 
approximately 27 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. The property is well-served by major arterial roads/ 
expressways such as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Ayer Rajah 
Expressway and the Pan-Island Expressway. 

Property Details 26 Tuas Avenue 7 

Valuation ($’million)  9.4 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.50

Terminal Yield (%) 7.75

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million) 8.3

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 31 December 2053

Land Area (sq m) 5,823.3 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 6,125.3 

NLA (sq m) 5,522.1 

Property Type  Manufacturing 

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 1.4

Current Plot Ratio 1.05

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Aalst Chocolate Pte Ltd 



Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse, 
Japan
Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse comprises a four-storey 
warehouse with a three-storey office building. The loading/
unloading bay servicing the tenancy is located at the rear  
of the property. The warehouse building is serviced by 
three lifts. Developments in the vicinity are generally 
logistic in nature.

The property is located at the centre of the Saitama 
logistics sub-market and is about 750 metres away from 
the Konba train station in Saitama city. The city is the 
capital of Saitama Prefecture and is approximately 35 km 
north of central Tokyo. 

Property Details  Japan – Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse 

Valuation ($’million)  28.9 

Valuation Date 28 January 2010

Capitalisation Rate (%) 6.00

Acquisition Date 20 December 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  28.67 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year  Freehold 

Land Area (sq m) 4,545.5

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 9,088.6

NLA (sq m) 9,088.6 

Property Type  Warehouse and Logistics 

Town Planning  Exclusive Industrial District 

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  MM Corporation 

Property Showcase – Singapore, Japan

10 Soon Lee Road
10 Soon Lee Road comprises a four-storey factory with an 
ancillary office building and a single-storey factory building. 
The building is equipped with a passenger lift, a goods lift, 
a pallet lift and a loading/unloading area accommodating  
three unloading bays with dock-levellers on the first storey. 

The property is located within the Jurong Industrial Estate, 
approximately 20 km away from the city centre at Raffles 
Place. It is well-served by major arterial roads/expressways 
such as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Ayer Rajah Expressway and 
the Pan-Island Expressway. 

Property Details 10 Soon Lee Road 

Valuation ($’million)  9.4 

Valuation Date 21 December 2009

Capitalisation Rate (%) 7.75

Terminal Yield (%) 8.00

Discount Rate (%) 8.50

Acquisition Date 19 April 2007

Purchase Price ($’million)  8.7 

Leasehold Title Expiry Year 12 March 2041

Land Area (sq m) 9,303.3 

Gross Floor Area (sq m) 8,142.0 

NLA (sq m) 7,214.5 

Property Type Manufacturing

Town Planning Business 2

Maximum Plot Ratio 2.50

Current Plot Ratio 0.88

Lease Terms

Lease Type Master Lease

Name of Major Tenant  Fullmark Pte Ltd 
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Overview of the Singapore Economy and Industrial Real Estate Market
(The following report was prepared as at 11 May 2010, by Colliers International Singapore Pte Ltd 
for the purpose of this Annual Report)

1.	 The	Singapore	Economy:	2009	and	First	Quarter	2010	in	Review

The Singapore economy, which enjoyed seven consecutive years of economic expansion 
from 2002 to 2008, was adversely affected by the global financial crisis in 2009. 

As a result, real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) contracted by 2.0% during 2009, although 
this was mitigated to some extent by the uplift in economic prospects and the nascent 
recovery experienced in the last two quarters of the year. More specifically, real GDP, which 
turned negative in 4Q 2008, expanded by 0.6% year-on-year (YoY) in 3Q 2009 and by a 
further 4.0% YoY in 4Q 2009. 

The improvement in economic performance continued into the first three months of 2010. 
According to advance estimates released by the Ministry of Trade and Industry (MTI) on  
14 April 2010, the Singapore economy grew strongly in 1Q 2010, up 13.1% YoY.

1.1	The	Manufacturing	Sector’s	Performance	and	Investment	Commitments

Singapore’s key manufacturing sector, which contributes to about 25% of the country GDP, 
contracted by 4.1% in 2009, due to a slowdown in external trade. However, the extent of 
decline was mitigated by the rebound in total manufacturing output in the second half of 
the year, which rose by 7.6% and 2.2% in 3Q 2009 and 4Q 2009, respectively. 

According to advance estimates released by the MTI on 14 April 2010, overall 
manufacturing output rose 30.0% YoY in 1Q 2010, driven by the robust expansion in 
electronics production and biomedical manufacturing output. 

The lacklustre business and economic environment of 2009 also affected the quantum of 
fixed asset investments (FAI) in the manufacturing sector, which fell 38.4% from its peak 
of $16.4 billion in 2008 to $10.1 billion in 2009, according to latest available statistics. 
Nonetheless, this was still higher than levels seen between 2002 and 2006. Leading the 
decline in FAI was the chemicals cluster (-73.5%), followed by the general manufacturing 
industries (-44.8%) and transport engineering (-43.8%) clusters. In contrast, there were 
more investments in the precision engineering (69.9%), electronics (66.9%) and biomedical 
manufacturing (41.1%) clusters.

1.2	Transport	and	Storage	Sector	Performance

Affected by the decline in manufacturing output, the transport and storage sector 
registered a 7.0% YoY fall in output to around $20.3 billion in 2009, according to latest 
available statistics. 

The performance of the transport and storage sector was also affected by the slow down 
in global trade in 2009. According to figures from the Economic Survey of Singapore, the 
quantum of sea cargo handled in 2009 fell 8.4% YoY to 472.3 million tonnes, while total 
container throughput fell 13.5% to 25.9 million twenty-foot equivalent units (TEUs).  
Over the same period, the amount of air cargo handled contracted by 12.1% YoY to  
1.6 million tonnes.

1.3	Economic	Outlook

Backed by firmer signs of improving global economic prospects, including rebounds 
in global trade flows and continued expansion in industrial production, the Singapore 
economy is projected to expand by between 7.0% and 9.0% in 2010, according to latest 
projections from the MTI released on 14 April 2010. This was the second upward revision of 
its earlier 2010 growth forecasts of 3.0% to 5.0%, and 4.5% to 6.5%, respectively.



ANNUAL REPORT 2010  |  37

Overview of the Singapore Economy 
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2.	 Factory	Market	Overview

2.1	Existing	and	Potential	Supply	

As of 1Q 2010, Singapore’s island-wide stock of factory space (all types) stood at  
324.2 million sq ft, according to figures from the URA, after the net addition of 1.4 million 
sq ft of new factory space in 1Q 2010. This was on top of the 13.9 million sq ft added in 
2009, which was the highest quantum of annual new supply seen since the addition of 
15.7 million sq ft in 1998. 

The majority of the existing factory space (42.1%) was located in the Western planning 
region, followed by the Central (20.6%), North (15.9%), East (13.6%) and Northeast (7.8%) 
planning regions. The private sector owned 82.2% of the existing supply and the public 
sector owned 17.8%. 
 
Based on available information as of 1Q 2010, some 19.9 million sq ft1 (net floor area) of 
new factory space are projected to be completed between 2Q 2010 and 2014. Of this total 
upcoming supply, 28.7% are expected to be ready by end-2010, followed by 33.3% in 2011 
and 18.5% in 2012. The completion of the remaining 19.6%, or 3.9 million sq ft, is expected 
to materialise in 2013 and 2014. 

Including the 1.4 million sq ft added to the island-wide factory stock in 1Q 2010, this 
represents an average factory space supply of 4.3 million sq ft per year, significantly lower 
than the annual net new supply of 7.3 million sq ft between 2000 and 2009.

2.2	Demand	and	Occupancy

Affected by the poor economic and manufacturing environment, supply consistently 
outstripped demand between 4Q 2008 and 4Q 2009. As a result, overall net new demand 
of factory space shrunk from 11.4 million sq ft in 2008 to 8.0 million sq ft in 2009. This led 
to a 29.1% YoY surge in vacant space and a corresponding 1.5-percentage point slide in the 
average occupancy rate to 91.9%, as of 4Q 2009.

Following the improvement in economic and manufacturing sector prospects, net new 
demand totalled 2.5 million sq ft, exceeding the net new supply of 1.4 million sq ft in  
1Q 2010. This lifted the average occupancy rate to 92.3% as of 1Q 2010. 

1 Note that the level of potential supply could increase due to new projects that may be proposed in the next one to two years.

Net	New	and	Potential	Supply	of	Factory	Space	(as of 1Q 2010)

F: Forecast
Source: URA/Colliers International Singapore Research
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Overview of the Singapore Economy 
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2.3	Rents	and	Capital	Values	of	Multi-User	Factory	Space

Rents

According to rental data from the URA’s Property Market Information publication as of 
1Q 2010, the median rent of multi-user factory space succumbed to downward pressure 
in 2009, in the wake of weak demand and the rise in vacancies. This was after trending 
upwards for five consecutive years. For the entire year, rents were down 12.1% YoY to  
$1.47 per sq ft per month.

However, quarterly data revealed that the rental decline had ceased in 4Q 2009 after sliding 
for four quarters. The median rent of factory space, which crept up 0.4% quarter-on-quarter 
(QoQ) in 4Q 2009, strengthened by another 0.8% QoQ to $1.48 per sq ft per month as  
of 1Q 2010.

Capital values

Mirroring the rental trend, figures from the URA showed the median price of multi-user 
factory space fell by 14.2% in 2009 to $302 per sq ft by the end of the year, after climbing 
for five straight years. 

More specifically, the median price of multi-user factory space, which started to fall in 4Q 
2008, bottomed out in 3Q 2009. Over the next two quarters, the median price rose by 1.5% 
per quarter to $306 per sq ft, as of 1Q 2010. 

Monthly	Median	Gross	Rents	of	Multi-User	Factory	Space

Source: URA/Colliers International Singapore Research
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2.4	Market	Outlook

With economic and manufacturing sector prospects looking positive, more firms are 
expected to reactivate their business expansion plans, thereby supporting demand for 
factory space. Coupled with the reduction in annual net new supply to an estimated  
4.3 million sq ft between 2010 and 2014, from 7.3 million sq ft for the past 10 years 
between 2000 and 2009, this would support occupancy levels. Rents and capital values  
of factory space are thus forecast to strengthen by up to 5% in 2010. 

3.	 Warehouse	Market	Overview

3.1	 Existing	and	Potential	Supply	

The net new supply of warehouse space shrunk to 2.9 million sq ft in 2009, from 3.7 million 
sq ft in 2008, following the softening in demand since 4Q 2008 on the back of a weak 
manufacturing sector. Nevertheless, this was still above the 10-year annual average of  
1.8 million sq ft from 1999 to 2008. 

In 1Q 2010, the quantum of space withdrawn exceeded new completions. This resulted in 
the overall net withdrawal of 97,000 sq ft of warehouse space and a marginal 0.1% QoQ 
reduction in the island-wide warehouse stock to 73.9 million sq ft, as of 1Q 2010. 

The majority (99.3%) of this supply was held by the private sector, with the public sector 
owning a small share of 0.7%. Geographically, the bulk (58.0% or 42.8 million sq ft) of the 
island-wide warehouse stock was located in the Western planning region. The Central 
planning region had the second largest share at 18.9%, followed by the East (13.3%),  
North (5.3%) and Northeast (4.5%) planning regions.

Going forward, an estimated 5.3 million sq ft2 (net floor area) of new warehouse space is 
expected to be completed between 2Q 2010 and 2014, based on available information 
as of 1Q 2010. Of this total upcoming supply, 15.8% or 0.8 million sq ft are expected to 
enter the market by end-2010. However, the bulk of the potential supply is expected to 
materialise in 2011 (28.2%), before tapering off over the next three years to 24.7% in 2012, 
22.5% in 2013 and 8.8% in 2014. 

Median	Price	of	Multi-User	Factory	Space

Source: URA/Colliers International Singapore Research

$ 
p

er
 s

q 
ft

2000
2001

2002
2003

2004
2005

2006
2007

2008
2009

1Q09
2Q09

3Q09
4Q09

1Q10

362

304
276

252 262256
280

344 351

317

303

306

297302 302

2 Note that the level of potential supply could increase due to new projects that may be proposed in the next one to two years.



40  |  AIMS AMP CAPITAL INDUSTRIAL REIT

Overview of the Singapore Economy 
and Industrial Real Estate Market continued

3.2	Demand	and	Occupancy

In 2009, on the back of the weak manufacturing sector, net new demand recorded a steep 
86.1% YoY fall to 0.6 million sq ft from 4.3 million sq ft in 2008. With supply remaining high 
at 2.9 million sq ft, this exerted downward pressure on occupancy levels which dropped  
2.8 percentage points to 90.0%, as of end-2009.

However, with net new demand improving to 43,000 sq ft from the net contraction of 
0.5 million sq ft in 4Q 2008, and the reduction in available stock, the island-wide average 
occupancy rate crept up marginally by 0.1-percentage point to 90.1% as of 1Q 2010.

3.3	 Rents	and	Capital	Values	of	Multi-User	Warehouse	Space

Rents

Based on rental data from URA’s Property Market Information report as of 1Q 2010, the median 
rent of multi-user warehouse space, which held steady in 2008, fell 15.6% in 2009 to $1.38 per  
sq ft per month as of 4Q 2009, on the back of weak demand and the rise in vacant stock.

However, supported by the uplift in economic and manufacturing sector prospects, the 
slide in rents ceased in 4Q 2009 after four straight quarters of decline. As of 1Q 2010, the 
median rent for multi-user warehouse space, which stayed unchanged in 4Q 2009, rose 
3.6% QoQ to $1.43 per sq ft per month.

Net	New	Demand	and	Occupancy	Rate	of	Warehouse	Space
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Capital values

Median prices of multi-user warehouse space, which first eased by 1.2% YoY in 2008, fell by 
16.0% in 2009 to $402 per sq ft as of 4Q 2009. 
 
Similar to rents, the fall in median price, which started in 4Q 2008, reached its trough in 3Q 
2009. Over the next six months, the median price of multi-user warehouse space rose 5.3% in 
4Q 2009, and a further 1.5% QoQ in 1Q 2010, to register at $408 per sq ft as of March 2010. 
 

3.4	Market	Outlook

The Singapore economy and manufacturing sector is expected to remain on the 
expansionary path for the rest of the year; this would support the demand for warehouse 
space. Furthermore, net new supply slowing down to around 1.0 million sq ft per annum 
between 2010 and 2014, compared to 1.9 million sq ft between 2000 and 2009, is expected 
to boost occupancy rates. Rents and capital values of warehouse space are thus forecast to 
appreciate by up to 5% for the entire 2010.

4.	 Business	and	Science	Parks

4.1	Existing	and	Potential	Supply

According to figures from the URA, the addition of some 1.8 million sq ft of new business 
and science park space in 2009 – the largest annual net new supply seen since 20033 

Monthly	Median	Gross	Rents	of	Multi-User	Warehouse	Space

Source: URA/Colliers International Singapore Research
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– raised the island-wide stock of business and science park space to around 12.9 million  
sq ft, as of 4Q 2009. This represents an increase of 15.9% YoY, and was significantly higher 
than the average net new supply of 0.7 million sq ft per annum from 2003 to 2008. 

Following the net increase of around 0.3 million sq ft of space, this brought the island-wide 
stock of business and science park space to 13.2 million sq ft as of 1Q 2010. More than 
half (51.3%) of this supply was located in the Central planning region, with the remainder 
distributed between the West (28.5%) and East (20.2%) regions. In terms of ownership, 
79.1% of the existing stock was held by the private sector, with the public sector holding 
the smaller 20.9% stake. 

An estimated 5.8 million sq ft4 (net floor area) of new business and science park space are 
expected to be completed between 2Q 2010 and 2014, based on available information 
as of 1Q 2010. The majority (37.6%) of this upcoming supply will be located in one-north. 
The Alexandra precinct and Changi Business Park will each contribute 21.6% to the total 
potential supply, followed by Science Park (13.7%) and Cleantech Park (5.6%). 

By year, 38.3% of the upcoming supply is expected to come on stream by end-2010. Supply 
is expected to be low in 2011 (9.4%) and 2012 (10.5%), before rising in 2013 (28.5%). The 
rest of the supply (13.3%) is expected to come on stream in 2014.

Including the 0.3 million sq ft added in 1Q 2010, this works out to an average of 1.2 million 
sq ft per annum between 2010 and 2014, significantly higher than the annual net new 
supply of 0.9 million sq ft between 2003 and 2009. 

4 Note that the level of potential supply could increase due to new projects that may be proposed in the next one to two years.

4.2	Demand	and	Occupancy

Due to the adverse effect of the economic downturn in 2009, the business and science park 
segment saw a net return of around 22,000 sq ft of space during the year. 

This can be attributed to space returned by companies consolidating their business 
operations. At the same time, take-up was affected by firms placing business expansion 
plans on hold, and from stronger competition for qualifying office space users after rents 
of Grade B office space located at the fringes of the central business district and regional 
centres tumbled by over 30% in 2009. As a consequence, the average occupancy rate 
declined by 13 percentage points YoY to 80.8%, as of 4Q 2009.

F: Forecast
Source: URA/Colliers International Singapore Research UpcomingCompleted
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Supported by the improvement in net take-up to 0.3 million sq ft in 1Q 2010 and the 
slowdown in net new supply, the average occupancy rate of business and science park 
space inched up 0.4 percentage point to 81.2% as of 1Q 2010.

4.3	Rents	of	Multi-User	Business	and	Science	Park	Space

According to rental information sourced from the URA’s Real Estate Information System 
(REALIS), which is based on actual rental transactions, the median rent of business and 
science park space declined by 22.0% in 2009 to end the year at $3.33 per sq ft per month, 
on the back of weak demand and the rise in vacant space. This was despite the median rent 
bottoming out in 3Q 2009. 

Rental growth gathered pace in 1Q 2010 amid better economic and business prospects. 
According to the URA, the median rent of business and science park space rose 11.1% QoQ 
in 1Q 2010 to $3.70 per sq ft per month as of end-March 2010. 

4.4	Market	Outlook

The Government’s commitment towards growing high value-added, technology-based 
manufacturing industries and attracting more R&D investments would support the demand 
for business and science park space. However, in view of the still substantial 2.5 million sq ft 
of vacant space as of 1Q 2010, rents are likely to remain under pressure in 1H 2010, albeit it 
is expected to bottom out in 2H 2010, barring any unforeseen external shocks.

Monthly	Median	Gross	Rents	of	Business	and	Science	Park	Space
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MR GEORGE WANG, Aged 48
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Chairman

Board of Directors of the Manager

Mr Wang is the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the 
AIMS Group of Companies. He has 18 years of experience 
in lending, real estate investment and financial markets. 
Mr Wang is an active participant in both the Australian and 
Chinese financial services industries. Mr Wang immigrated 
to Australia from China in 1989 and founded AIMS two 
years later in 1991. Since its establishment, AIMS has 
grown into a diversified financial services group, active in 
the areas of lending, securitisation, investment banking, 
real estate investment and funds management, resources,  
high-tech and infrastructure investment.

He is an advisor to a number of Chinese government  
bodies and government agencies and holds the position  
of Deputy President of the International Trade Council  
of China, a constituent body of the China Council for  
the Promotion of International Trade. In Australia,  
Mr Wang is the President of the Australia-China Finance 
and Investment Council. 

Mr Wang was awarded a Bachelor of Environment 
Engineering degree from China Eastern University, 
Shanghai, China. 

MR TAN KAI SENG, Aged 58
BA (Accountancy), CPA (Singapore), FCCA (UK)
Independent, Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the 
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

Mr Tan is also an Independent Non-Executive Director and 
Audit Committee member of IGB Corporation Berhad, a 
significant property investment and development company 
listed on Bursa Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 

Mr Tan was Finance Director of Parkway Holdings Limited 
from 1988 to 2005 and Group Financial Controller from 
1980 to 1988. Parkway Holdings Limited is a leading fully 
integrated healthcare organisation in Asia, with one of the 
largest network of hospitals and healthcare services in the 
region. Prior to joining Parkway Holdings in 1980, Mr Tan 
had seven years of audit experience with Price Waterhouse 
Singapore and San Francisco. 

Mr Tan graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy from the 
University of Singapore. He is a member of the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and a Fellow of 
the Association of Certified Chartered Accountants,  
United Kingdom. 

Appointed a Director on 7 August 2009. Appointed a Director on 1 December 2006. 
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Board of Directors of the Manager continued

MR NORMAN IP KA CHEUNG, Aged 57
BSC (Econs), Fellow (ICAEW), Fellow (ICPAS)
Independent, Non-Executive Director and Member of the Audit, 
Risk and Compliance Committee 

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung graduated with a BSc (Econs) 
from the London School of Economics and Political 
Science. He is a Fellow of both the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales and the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore. Mr Ip has over 
30 years of experience in auditing, accounting, treasury, 
investments and taxation. Currently, Mr Ip is an Advisor 
to the Straits Trading Company Limited, where he had 
served for 26 years prior to his retirement in 2009. At 
Straits Trading Company Limited, Mr Ip held the position 
of Executive Director, President and Group Chief Executive 
Officer from 2000 to 2009. The Straits Trading Company 
Limited Group is a listed company with diversified 
businesses in property, hospitality and metal and  
mineral resources. 

Mr Ip is the Chairman of the Board of Malaysia Smelting 
Corporation Berhad (listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad) and also serves on the Board of Australia Oriental 
Minerals NL (a company listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange). He is also a Director of WBL Corporation Limited, 
United Engineers Limited and Great Eastern Holdings 
Limited. He is also a Member of the Board of the Building 
and Construction Authority in Singapore. 

Appointed a Director on 31 March 2010.

MR EUGENE PAUL LAI CHIN LOOK, Aged 46
LL. M, LL. B
Independent, Non-Executive Director

Mr Lai is a Partner at Southern Capital Group and brings 
with him a wealth of experience in law, investment 
banking, real estate and private equity. Mr Lai was 
previously the Managing Director and Senior Country 
Officer of Investment Banking at JP Morgan in Malaysia 
and Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Ascott Group Limited. He has also held the position 
of Partner at the Carlyle Group and Managing Director at 
Citigroup Singapore. Mr Lai began his career as an attorney 
in New York and in Singapore. He was awarded an LL.M 
from Harvard University and an LL.B from the London 
School of Economics and Political Science. 

Appointed a Director on 26 February 2010.
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Board of Directors of the Manager continued

MR SIMON VINSON, Aged 49
BCom (Accounting, Finance & Systems), DipVal
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director and Member of the 
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

Mr Vinson is the Head of Asian Property and New Business 
Initiatives at AMP Capital Investors. He was appointed 
Head of New Business Initiatives in March 2009 and leads 
the team responsible for sourcing and developing new 
business and product opportunities for AMP Capital’s 
Property business. Appointed Head of Asian Property in 
2006, Mr Vinson is responsible for establishing and growing 
AMP Capital’s property investment capability in Asia and 
all aspects of property investment, research, acquisitions, 
disposals and portfolio management in the region. From 
2006 to 2009, Mr Vinson also held the position of Managing 
Director, AMP Capital Singapore and spearheaded the 
establishment of AMP Capital’s Asian hub office in that city. 

Joining the AMP Group in 1982, Mr Vinson has worked 
in varied roles, including a substantial period heading 
Property’s Business Development Team, during which time 
the business launched several key property funds, including 
an unlisted Shopping Centre Fund, the Core Property 
Fund for retail investors and Property’s first international 
product, the Global Direct Property Fund. Mr Vinson also has 
extensive experience in property development on both retail 
and commercial projects, as well as experience in property 
acquisitions and disposals across all property sectors.  
Mr Vinson is a member of the Property Leadership Team.

Mr Vinson holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting, Finance 
and Systems) from the University of New South Wales, and 
a Graduate Diploma in Real Estate Valuation from the New 
South Wales Institute of Technology, Sydney, Australia.

MR GRAHAM SUGDEN, Aged 54
MA (Land Economy), MRICS, AAPI
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director

Mr Sugden is the Head of Asian Funds Management at AMP 
Capital Investors. He joined the Group in 2007.

He is responsible for the development and management 
of AMP Capital’s Asian real estate funds management 
operations. Mr Sugden has over 30 years of experience in 
the industry. Prior to joining AMP Capital, he worked with 
other major real estate investment groups in Australia, 
Korea, Malaysia and Singapore, including several years with 
the Macquarie Bank Group. Mr Sugden has handled the 
creation and listing of REIT funds on the Australian, Korean 
and Singaporean stock exchanges and has considerable 
ongoing management experience in those markets.  
Mr Sugden’s prior experience in Australia includes senior 
roles with Richard Ellis and Chestertons, and with Legal & 
General Life of Australia, where he was a Director of the 
property investment management business.

Mr Sugden was a representative on the Founding Members 
Committee of the Asian Public Real Estate Association 
(APREA), and in March 2006 was appointed to the Board 
at the first annual general meeting. He has remained as a 
member of the Executive Committee, continuously serving 
as Vice President since.

Mr Sugden holds a Masters degree in Land Economy from 
the University of Cambridge, England. He is a Member of 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS) and an 
Associate of the Australian Property Institute (AAPI).

Appointed a Director on 24 December 2009. Appointed a Director on 24 December 2009.
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MS GIAM LAY HOON, Aged 46
LLB. Sing (Hons)
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director

MR NICHOLAS PAUL MCGRATH, Aged 37
B.Bus, LLB (Hons)
Executive Director

Prior to joining the Manager as Chief Executive Officer 
in January 2009, Mr McGrath was the Chief Executive 
Officer of Allco Commercial REIT (now known as Frasers 
Commercial Trust) and Managing Director of Allco 
(Singapore) Limited. Mr McGrath moved to Singapore in 
2005 to establish Allco’s real estate funds management 
business. Prior to that, he spent over five years with Allco 
Finance Group in a range of senior executive roles in their 
property funds management division. Before joining Allco 
Finance Group, Mr McGrath was a lawyer at the leading 
Australian law firm, Blake Dawson Waldron.

Ms Giam Lay Hoon is an Executive Director at AIMS 
Financial Group (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., a subsidiary of AIMS 
Financial Group. She is a qualified lawyer by training 
and has over 25 years of experience in legal, corporate 
governance, compliance and regulatory matters.

Before joining AIMS Financial Group, Ms Giam was the 
Group General Counsel at Oxley Corporate Limited from 
2008 to 2009. Prior to that, she was a Senior Vice President 
(Legal & Corporate Secretariat) at Mapletree Investments 
Pte Ltd from 2003 to 2008. Ms Giam was the Company 
Secretary and in-house counsel (Vice President) at Temasek 
Holdings Pte Ltd from 2000 to 2003. 

Prior to joining Temasek Holdings Pte Ltd, she was a  
partner at leading Singapore law firms, specialising in 
the areas of real estate, corporate law and retail and 
institutional banking. 

Ms Giam is also an angel investor in several technology 
companies in Hong Kong.

Appointed a Director on 31 March 2010. Appointed a Director on 26 February 2010.

Board of Directors of the Manager continued
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6. 7.

4.

2.1. 3.

5.

1. Nicholas McGrath
 Chief Executive Officer 

2. Tang Buck Kiau 
 Senior Finance Manager  

and Company Secretary 

3. Wee Lih Koh
 Senior Investment Manager 

4. Joanne Loh
 Asset Manager 

5. Patrina Tan 
 Fund Accountant and 

Compliance Officer

6. Charlotte Khoo 
 Fund Accountant

7. Sue-Lyn Yeoh
 Investor Relations Manager 
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Corporate Governance Statement

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (“AIMSAMPIREIT” or the “Trust”) is a real estate 
investment trust listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited. AIMSAMPIREIT is managed by AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management 
Limited (the “Manager”).

The Board of Directors of the Manager (the “Board”) and the management 
(“Management”), are fully committed to good corporate governance.

The Manager uses the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 issued by the Ministry of 
Finance (the “Code”) as its benchmark, as and where relevant. The following describes the 
Manager’s main corporate governance policies and practices with specific reference to  
the Code.

The Manager

The Manager has general powers of management over the assets of AIMSAMPIREIT. The 
Manager’s main responsibility is to manage the assets and liabilities of AIMSAMPIREIT 
for the benefit of the Unitholders. It will manage the assets of AIMSAMPIREIT with a 
focus on generating rental income and to enhance the returns from the investments of 
AIMSAMPIREIT and ultimately the distributions and total return to Unitholders.

The primary role of the Manager is to set the strategic direction of AIMSAMPIREIT and to 
instruct HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited, as trustee of AIMSAMPIREIT 
(the “Trustee”), on the acquisition, divestment and enhancement of assets in accordance 
with its stated investment strategy.

The Manager has covenanted in the Trust Deed to use its best endeavours to ensure that 
the business of AIMSAMPIREIT is carried out and conducted in a proper and efficient 
manner and to conduct all transactions with or for AIMSAMPIREIT at arm’s length and on 
normal commercial terms.

Other functions and responsibilities of the Manager include:

 Ensuring compliance with the applicable provisions of the Securities and Futures 
Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore and all other relevant legislation, the Listing Manual 
of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Code on Collective 
Investment Schemes (including the Property Funds Appendix) issued by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore (“MAS”), the Trust Deed, the tax ruling issued by the Inland 
Revenue Authority of Singapore on the taxation of AIMSAMPIREIT and its Unitholders 
and all the relevant contracts;

 Managing the finances of AIMSAMPIREIT, including accounts preparation, capital 
management, coordination of the budget process, forecast modelling and corporate 
treasury functions;

 Communicating with Unitholders; and 

 Supervising the Property Manager, AIMS AMP Capital Property Management Pte Ltd,  
which performs the property management functions (including lease management, 
property management, maintenance and administration), pursuant to the Property 
Management Agreement.

The Manager was granted a capital market services (“CMS”) licence to conduct real estate 
investment management activities on 4 January 2010. Each of its employees engaged in 
investment, financing, marketing and investor relations functions has also been granted a 
CMS representative’s licence.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Board Matters

Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the 
company. The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company. 
The Board works with Management to achieve this and the Management 
remains accountable to the Board.

The Board comprises members with a breadth of expertise in real estate, accounting/
finance, law, business and management. The Board members as at 31 March 2010 are:

Mr George Wang1 Chairman, Non-Executive Non-independent

Mr Tan Kai Seng Non-Executive Independent

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung2 Non-Executive Independent

Mr Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look3 Non-Executive Independent

Mr Simon Vinson4 Non-Executive Non-independent

Mr Graham Sugden4 Non-Executive Non-independent

Ms Giam Lay Hoon2 Non-Executive Non-independent

Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath3 Chief Executive Officer Non-independent
Note:
1 Appointed on 7 August 2009
2 Appointed on 31 March 2010
3 Appointed on 26 February 2010
4 Appointed on 24 December 2009

The following persons were also members of the Board during the year ended  
31 March 2010:

Mr Richard Michael Haddock1 Chairman, Non-Executive Independent

Mr Craig Mathew Dunstan2 Chief Investment Officer, 
Executive

Non-independent

Mr Alastair Hugh Gurner3 Non-Executive Independent

Mr Lim How Teck4 Non-Executive Independent

Mr Mendelowitz Lawrence Alan5 Chief Executive Officer (Asia), 
Executive

Non-independent

Mr Gregory Allen Bundy6 Non-Executive Non-independent

Mr Mark Thorpe-Apps6 Non-Executive Non-independent
Note:
1 Resigned on 7 August 2009
2 Resigned on 13 July 2009
3 Resigned on 14 July 2009
4 Resigned on 19 February 2010
5 Resigned on 24 December 2009
6 Appointed on 7 August 2009 and resigned on 24 December 2009

The Board is entrusted with the responsibility for the overall management and the 
corporate governance of the Manager and AIMSAMPIREIT, including establishing goals for 
management and monitoring the achievement of these goals. 

The Board meets regularly, at least once every quarter, and as warranted by particular 
circumstances, to discuss and review strategies and policies, including any significant 
acquisitions and disposals, the annual budget, the financial performance of AIMSAMPIREIT 
against a previously approved budget, and to approve the release of the quarterly, and  
full-year results. 
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The number of Board, Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (“ARC Committee”) and 
Nominating and Remuneration Committee meetings held during the year, as well as the 
attendance of each Board member at these meetings, is disclosed below:

Corporate Governance Statement continued

Board Audit, Risk and 
Compliance 
Committee

Nominating and 
Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meetings No. of meetings No. of meetings

Eligible to 
attend

Attended Eligible to 
attend

Attended Eligible to 
attend

Attended

Mr George Wang1 5 5 – – 1 1

Mr Tan Kai Seng 8 8 5 5 1 1

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung2 – – – – – –

Mr Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look3 – – – – – –

Mr Simon Vinson4 1 1 1 1 – –

Mr Graham Sugden4 1 1 – – – –

Ms Giam Lay Hoon2 – – – – – –

Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath3 – – – – – –

Mr Richard Michael Haddock5 3 2 3 2 – –

Mr Craig Mathew Dunstan6 2 2 – – – –

Mr Alastair Hugh Gurner7 2 2 – – – –

Mr Lim How Teck8 8 8 5 5 – –

Mr Mendelowitz Lawrence Alan9 7 7 – – – –

Mr Gregory Allen Bundy10 4 4 – – 1 1

Mr Mark Thorpe-Apps10 4 4 1 1 – –
Note:
1 Appointed on 7 August 2009
2 Appointed on 31 March 2010
3 Appointed on 26 February 2010
4 Appointed on 24 December 2009
5 Resigned on 7 August 2009
6 Resigned on 13 July 2009
7 Resigned on 14 July 2009
8 Resigned on 19 February 2010
9 Resigned on 24 December 2009
10 Appointed on 7 August 2009 and resigned on 24 December 2009

The Manager’s Articles of Association permit Board meetings to be held by way of 
conference by telephone or any other electronic means of communication, by which all 
persons participating in the meeting are able, contemporaneously, to hear and be heard by 
all other participants. 

The Manager has adopted a set of internal guidelines which sets out the financial authority 
limits for investment properties acquisition and divestment, operating/capital expenditure, 
leasing, disposal and write-off of assets, bank borrowings as well as arrangements 
in relation to cheque signatories that require the approval of the Board. Appropriate 
delegation of authority and approval sub-limits are also provided at management level to 
facilitate operational efficiency. 

Newly appointed directors are briefed on their roles and responsibilities as directors of 
the Manager, the business activities of AIMSAMPIREIT and its strategic directions, and the 
contribution they would be expected to make, including the time commitment and any 
participation in sub-committees of the Board. 
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

The Board is regularly updated, either during Board Meetings or at specially-convened 
meetings involving relevant professionals, on new laws that may affect AIMSAMPIREIT’s 
business, regulatory changes, changes in the Singapore Companies Act and industry-related 
matters and changes in financial reporting standards. Management also provides the Board 
with information in a timely manner through regular updates on financial results, market 
trends and business developments.

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is 
able to exercise objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in 
particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals 
should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board comprises eight members, of whom three are independent non-executive 
directors. The chief executive officer is the only executive director. This enables 
Management to benefit from the external, diverse and objective perspective of the 
independent non-executive directors on issues that are brought before the Board. It also 
enables the Board to interact and work with Management through a robust exchange of 
ideas and views to help shape the strategic process. 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company 
– the working of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s 
business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no 
one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and the positions are held 
by two separate persons in order to maintain an effective check and balance. 

The Chairman is responsible for the overall management of the Board as well as ensuring 
that the Directors and the management work together with integrity and competence, 
and that the Board engages the management in constructive debate on strategy, business 
operations, enterprise risk and other plans. The Chief Executive Officer has full executive 
responsibilities over the business directions and operational decisions in the day-to-day 
management of the Manager.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer 
facilitates effective oversight and a clear segregation of duties. The Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer are not related to each other.

Board Membership

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new 
directors to the Board.

The Manager has established a Nominating and Remuneration Committee to, among other 
things, make recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments. The members as 
at the date of this Annual Report are:

Name Role

Mr George Wang Chairman

Mr Tan Kai Seng Member

Mr Simon Vinson Member
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

The Nominating and Remuneration Committee advises the Manager on board matters 
including policies, performance, composition and succession planning. This includes 
identifying, evaluating and recommending candidates to the Board. 

Each Director has been appointed on the basis of his professional experience and on his 
potential contribution to AIMSAMPIREIT. 

Other key information on the Directors are set out in pages 44 to 47 of this Annual Report 
under the section “Board of Directors of the Manager”. 

Board Performance

Principle 5: There should be formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Board assesses the performance of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each 
Director, taking into consideration factors such as Directors’ attendance, commitments  
and contributions. 

Access to information

Principle 6: In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with 
complete, adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an 
on-going basis.

The respective members of the Board, the ARC Committee and the Nominating and 
Remuneration Committee are provided with, in advance of each meeting, the meeting 
agenda and the relevant papers submitted by the management, containing information 
to enable full deliberation on the issues to be considered at the respective meetings. 
Management and AIMSAMPIREIT’s auditors, who can provide additional insight into the 
matters for discussion, are also invited from time to time to attend such meetings. 

The Directors, either as a group or individually, may, at the Manager’s expense, seek 
independent professional advice where necessary to discharge its or their duties effectively.

Remuneration Matters

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on 
executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual 
directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate 
the directors needed to run the company successfully but companies should 
avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A significant proportion 
of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards 
to corporate and individual performance.

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, 
level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration 
in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its 
remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between 
remuneration paid to directors and key executives, and performance.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

AIMSAMPIREIT, constituted as a trust, is externally managed by the Manager and 
accordingly, it has no personnel of its own. The Manager appoints experienced and well-
qualified personnel to handle the day-to-day operations of the Manager. All directors and 
employees of the Manager are remunerated by the Manager, and not AIMSAMPIREIT.

Accountability and Audit

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Company’s performance, position and prospects.

Management provides the Board with periodic financial reports which present a balanced 
and understandable assessment of AIMSAMPIREIT’s performance, position and prospects. 

The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
AIMSAMPIREIT’s performance, position and prospects, including interim and other price-
sensitive public reports and reports to regulators.

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (“ARC Committee”)

Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of 
reference which clearly set out its authority and duties.

The ARC Committee is appointed by the Board from amongst the Directors of the Manager 
and comprises non-executive Directors, the majority of whom, including the Chairman, are 
independent. The members as at 31 March 2010 are:

Name Role

Mr Tan Kai Seng Chairman

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung Member

Mr Simon Vinson Member

Members of the ARC Committee are appropriately qualified to discharge their 
responsibilities as they possess the requisite accounting and related financial management 
expertise and experience. 

The ARC Committee is governed by written terms of reference with explicit authority to 
investigate any matter within its terms of reference, has full access to, and cooperation of 
Management, and full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend  
its meetings.

During the year, the ARC Committee performed independent reviews of AIMSAMPIREIT’s 
quarterly and full year financial results before their submission to the Board. In the process, 
the ARC Committee reviewed its accounting policies and key areas of management 
judgement applied for adequate provision and disclosure. 

A Whistle-Blowing Policy has been put in place to provide a channel through which 
employees may report, in good faith and in confidence, any concerns in financial and other 
matters, and arrangements are in place for independent investigation with appropriate 
follow-up action. 

In performing its duties, the ARC Committee met with the external auditors separately 
once during the year without the presence of management.
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The ARC Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors and has recommended to the Board the nomination of the external auditors for 
re-appointment. The ARC Committee also reviewed the nature and extent of the non-audit 
services provided to AIMSAMPIREIT by the external auditors for the financial year and is 
satisfied that the provision of such non-audit services do not affect the independence of 
the external auditors.

Internal controls

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system 
of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the 
company’s assets.

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal controls and risk management 
practices to good corporate governance. The Manager has put in place a system of internal 
controls comprising procedures and processes to safeguard AIMSAMPIREIT’s assets, 
Unitholders’ interest as well as to manage risks. 

The Board is satisfied that there are no material weaknesses in the system of internal 
control, based on the findings from external auditors and the management control in place.

Internal audit

Principle 13: The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent 
of the activities it audits.

After taking into consideration the corporate and management structures of the Manager 
and the scale of AIMSAMPIREIT’s operations, the Manager presently does not have in place 
an internal audit function. 

Communication with Unitholders

Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication  
with Unitholders.

Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater Unitholder participation at AGMs and 
allow Unitholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various 
matters affecting the company.

The listing rules of the SGX-ST require that a listed entity discloses to the market 
matters that could or might be expected to have a material effect on the price of the 
entity’s securities. The Manager upholds a strong culture of continuous disclosure and 
transparent communication with Unitholders and the investing community. The Manager’s 
disclosure policy requires timely and full disclosure of all material information relating to 
AIMSAMPIREIT by way of public releases or announcements through the SGX-ST  
via SGXNET.

The Manager also conducts regular briefings and conference calls for analysts and media 
representatives which will generally coincide with the release of AIMSAMPIREIT’s results. 
During these briefings, the Manager reviews AIMSAMPIREIT’s most recent performance, 
as well as discusses the business outlook for AIMSAMPIREIT. In line with the Manager’s 
objective of transparent communication, briefing materials are released to the SGX-ST via 
SGXNET and posted on AIMSAMPIREIT’s website at www.aimsampcapital.com.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

A copy of AIMSAMPIREIT’s Annual Report is sent to all Unitholders. Board members and 
senior management of the Manager are in attendance at AGMs and EGMs and Unitholders 
are given the opportunity to raise questions and clarify any issues they may have relating to 
the resolutions to be passed. 

Additional Information

Dealings in AIMSAMPIREIT Units

In line with Listing Rule 1207 (18) on Dealings in Securities, a quarterly memorandum is 
issued to the Directors, officers and employees of the Manager on restrictions on dealings 
in AIMSAMPIREIT Units:

(a) during the period one month before the public announcement of AIMSAMPIREIT’s 
annual results and two weeks before the public announcement of AIMSAMPIREIT’s 
quarterly results, and ending on the date of announcement of the relevant results; and

(b) at any time while in possession of price-sensitive information.

The Directors and officers are also advised not to deal in the units in AIMSAMPIREIT  
(the “Units”) on short-term considerations.

The Trust Deed requires each Director to give notice to the Manager of his acquisition of 
Units or changes in the number of Units which he holds or in which he has an interest, 
within two (2) business days after such acquisition or the occurrence of the event giving 
rise to changes in the number of Units which he holds or in which he has an interest. 

In addition, the Manager has given an undertaking to MAS that it will announce to the 
SGX-ST the particulars of its holdings in the Units and any changes thereto within two (2) 
business days after the date on which it acquires or disposes of any Units, as the case may 
be. The Manager has also undertaken that it will not deal in the Units one month before 
the public announcement of AIMSAMPIREIT’s annual results and two weeks before the 
public announcement of AIMSAMPIREIT’s quarterly results, and ending on the date of 
announcement of the relevant results.

Interested party transactions

The Manager has established an internal control system to ensure that all transactions 
involving the Trustee and a related party of the Manager (“Interested Party Transactions”) 
are undertaken on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and will not 
be prejudicial to the interests of AIMSAMPIREIT and the Unitholders. As a general rule, 
the Manager must demonstrate to the ARC Committee that such transactions satisfy 
the foregoing criteria, which may include obtaining (where practicable) quotations from 
parties unrelated to the Manager, or obtaining one or more valuations from independent 
professional valuers (in accordance with the Property Funds Appendix). 

The Manager maintains a register to record all interested party transactions which are 
entered into by AIMSAMPIREIT and the bases, including any quotations from unrelated 
parties and independent valuations obtained to support such bases, on which they are 
entered into. Further, the following procedures will be adhered to:

(a) transactions (either individually or as part of a series or if aggregated with other 
transactions involving the same interested party during the same financial year) equal 
to or exceeding $100,000 in value but below 3.0% of AIMSAMPIREIT’s net tangible 
assets will be subject to review by the ARC Committee at regular intervals;
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(b) transactions (either individually or as part of a series or if aggregated with other 
transactions involving the same interested party during the same financial year) equal 
to or exceeding 3.0% but below 5.0% of AIMSAMPIREIT’s net tangible assets will be 
subject to the review and prior approval of the ARC Committee; and

(c) transactions (either individually or as part of a series or if aggregated with other 
transactions involving the same interested party during the same financial year) equal 
to or exceeding 5.0% of AIMSAMPIREIT’s net tangible assets will be reviewed and 
approved prior to such transactions being entered into, on the basis described in the 
preceding paragraph by the ARC Committee which may, as it deems fit, request advice 
on the transaction from independent sources or advisors, including the obtaining of 
valuations from independent professional valuers. Further, under the Listing Manual 
and the Property Funds Appendix, such transactions would have to be approved by the 
Unitholders at a meeting of Unitholders.

(d) ARC Committee’s approval shall only be given if the transactions are on arm’s length 
and on normal commercial terms and consistent with similar types of transactions 
undertaken by the Trustee, with third parties which are unrelated to the Manager.

Where matters concerning AIMSAMPIREIT relate to transactions entered into or to be 
entered into by the Trustee for and on behalf of AIMSAMPIREIT with a related party of 
the Manager (which would include relevant associates thereof), the Trustee is required 
to ensure that such transactions are conducted on normal commercial terms, are not 
prejudicial to the interests of AIMSAMPIREIT and the Unitholders, and are in accordance 
with all applicable requirements of the Property Funds Appendix and/or the Listing Manual 
relating to the transaction in question. Further, the Trustee has the ultimate discretion 
under the Trust Deed to decide whether or not to enter into a transaction involving an 
interested party of the Manager. If the Trustee is to sign any contract with a related party 
of the Manager, the Trustee will review the contract to ensure that it complies with the 
requirements relating to interested party transactions in the Property Funds Appendix (as 
may be amended from time to time) and the provisions of the Listing Manual relating to 
interested person transactions (as may be amended from time to time) as well as other 
guidelines as may from time to time be prescribed by the MAS and the SGX-ST to apply to 
real estate investment trusts.

AIMSAMPIREIT will, in compliance with Rule 905 of the Listing Manual, announce any 
interested person transaction if such transaction, by itself or when aggregated with other 
interested person transactions entered into with the same interested person during the 
same financial year, is 3.0% or more of AIMSAMPIREIT’s latest audited net tangible assets.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Risk Management

Risk management policies and systems of the Trust are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Trust’s activities. The overall risk framework is 
supported by AMP Capital Investors’ risk management and compliance management team.

Operational Risks

AIMSAMPIREIT has established standard operating procedures to manage the day-to-day 
activities and to mitigate operational risks that may arise. The procedures are regularly 
reviewed to ensure relevance and effectiveness.

Investment Risk

AIMSAMPIREIT adopts a formal process for investment decision. This process involves 
conducting comprehensive due diligence on the proposed assets and obtaining approval 
from the Board and the Trustee prior to the transactions being carried out. 

All investment proposals are subject to rigorous scrutiny and assessed against relevant 
investment criteria including yield accretion, rental sustainability, quality of tenant and 
growth potential.

Liquidity Risk

The Manager actively monitors and maintains a level of cash deemed adequate by 
management to finance the AIMSAMPIREIT’s operations. The Manager also monitors and 
observes the CIS Code issued by the MAS concerning limits on total borrowings. 

Currency Risk

AIMSAMPIREIT has exposure to foreign currency risk as a result of transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies, arising from its investment in a property in Japan. 
AIMSAMPIREIT borrows in Japanese currency so as to maintain a natural capital hedge 
to minimise foreign currency risk arising from the foreign currency asset investment. To 
provide unitholders with a degree of income stability, AIMSAMPIREIT hedges the income 
receivable from the Japan property using forward contracts. In addition, AIMSAMPIREIT 
uses cross-currency swaps to hedge the currency exposure of the foreign currency 
denominated equity investment.

Interest Rate Risk

AIMSAMPIREIT proactively seeks to minimise its interest rate risk by fixing the interest  
rate applicable to its borrowings. As at 31 March 2010, 100% of its borrowings are based  
on fixed-rates.

Credit Risk

Tenant credit evaluations are performed by the Manager at the investment stage prior to 
the acquisition of the asset. For new leases, credit risk assessments are performed by the 
Manager prior to signing the lease agreements and the Manager monitors the amount 
owing by tenants on an ongoing basis. Credit risk is further mitigated by the rental deposits 
held for each of the tenants. 

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with financial institutions which are regulated. 
Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are allowed only with 
counterparties which have sound credit ratings.
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Report of the Trustee

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited (the “Trustee”) is under a duty to take into 
custody and hold the assets of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (formerly known as MacarthurCook 
Industrial REIT (the “Trust”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) in trust for the holders (“Unitholders”) 
of units in the Trust (the “Units”). In accordance with, interalia, the Securities and Futures Act, 
Chapter 289 of Singapore, its subsidiary legislation and the Code on Collective Investment Schemes 
issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) and the Listing Manual (collectively referred 
to as the “laws and regulations”), the Trustee shall monitor the activities of AIMS AMP Capital 
Industrial REIT Management Limited (formerly known as MacarthurCook Investment Managers 
(Asia) Limited) (the “Manager”) for compliance with the limitations imposed on the investment and 
borrowing powers as set out in the amending and restating trust deed dated 8 March 2007 between 
the Trustee and the Manager (the “Trust Deed”) in each annual accounting period and report thereon 
to Unitholders in an annual report which shall contain the matters prescribed by the laws and 
regulations as well as the recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 
7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of 
Singapore and the provisions of the Trust Deed.

To the best knowledge of the Trustee, the Manager has, in all material respects, managed the Group 
and the Trust during the year covered by these financial statements, set out on pages 63 to 99, 
comprising the Balance Sheets, Statements of Total Return, Distribution Statements, Statements 
of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds and Portfolio Statements of the Group and of the Trust, 
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement of the Group and Notes to the Financial Statements, in 
accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers set out in the 
Trust Deed, laws and regulations and otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

For and on behalf of the Trustee
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited

Johannes Van Verre

Director

Singapore
12 May 2010
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In the opinion of the Directors of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited (formerly 
known as MacarthurCook Investment Managers (Asia) Limited), the accompanying financial 
statements set out on pages 63 to 99 comprising the Balance Sheets, Statements of Total Return, 
Distribution Statements, Statements of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds and Portfolio Statements 
of the Group and the Trust, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement of the Group and Notes to the 
Financial Statements are drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Group and of the Trust as at 31 March 2010, and the total return, distributable income 
and movements in Unitholders’ funds of the Group and of the Trust and cash flows of the Group 
for the year then ended in accordance with the recommendations of Statement of Recommended 
Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants of Singapore and the provisions of the Trust Deed. At the date of this statement, 
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group and the Trust will be able to meet their 
financial obligations as and when they materialise.

For and on behalf of the Manager 
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited 

Nicholas Paul McGrath 

Director

Singapore
12 May 2010

Statement by the Manager
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
Unitholders of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT
(formerly known as MacarthurCook Industrial REIT)  
(Constituted in the Republic of Singapore pursuant to a Trust Deed)

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT 
(formerly known as MacarthurCook Industrial REIT) (the “Trust”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), 
which comprise the balance sheets and portfolio statements of the Group and of the Trust as at 
31 March 2010, and the statements of total return, distribution statements and statements of 
movements in Unitholders’ funds of the Group and of the Trust and the consolidated cash flow 
statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 63 to 99.

Manager’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements  
in accordance with Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (“RAP”) 7 “Reporting 
Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.  
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the Manager of the Trust, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet, portfolio 
statement, statement of total return and statement of movements in Unitholders’ funds of the 
Trust present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and of the Trust as at 
31 March 2010, and the total return and movements in Unitholders’ funds of the Group and of the 
Trust and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, in accordance with recommendations of 
Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by 
the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
12 May 2010
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 March 2010

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Investment properties 3 631,066  530,341  602,158  497,947 

Subsidiaries 4 – – 16,741  10,657 

  631,066  530,341  618,899  508,604 

CURRENT ASSETS     

Trade and other receivables 5 6,093  3,653  6,054  3,640 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 20,569  9,967  18,566  8,039 

  26,662  13,620  24,620  11,679 

Total assets  657,728  543,961  643,519  520,283 

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Interest-bearing borrowings  7 – 223,813   – 200,852 

Derivative financial instruments 8 1,017  – 1,017  –

Provision 9 – 20,000  – 20,000 

Trade and other payables 10 12,609  5,897  13,301  5,847 

  13,626  249,710  14,318  226,699 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Rental deposits  2,625  2,385  2,124  1,869 

Interest-bearing borrowings  7 182,499  – 168,230  –

Derivative financial instruments 8 2,115  2,635 2,115  2,635 

  187,239  5,020  172,469  4,504 

Total liabilities  200,865  254,730  186,787  231,203 

Net assets  456,863  289,231  456,732  289,080 

Represented by:     

Unitholders’ funds  456,737  289,074  456,732  289,080 

Minority interest 11 126  157  – –

  456,863  289,231  456,732  289,080 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Total Return
Year ended 31 March 2010

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gross revenue 14 50,944 50,827 48,887 48,915

Property operating expenses 15 (10,804) (13,971) (10,238) (13,535)

Net property income  40,140 36,856 38,649 35,380

Interest income  141 350 140 347

Other income  20 64 20 48

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (15) (24) (826) 1,179

Manager’s management fees 16 (2,903) (3,921) (2,903) (3,921)

Borrowing costs  (13,893) (6,020) (13,263) (5,394)

Write off/amortisation of intangible asset  – (1,000) – (1,000)

Impairment loss on loan to subsidiary  – – (1,801) (1,844)

Write back of excess provision/(Provision)  

 for onerous contract 9 955 (20,000) 955 (20,000)

Other trust expenses 17 (1,486) (860) (1,336) (773)

Non-property expenses  (17,327) (31,801) (18,348) (32,932)

Net income  22,959 5,445 19,635 4,022

Net change in fair value of investment properties  (41,356) (29,988) (38,743) (28,132)

Net change in fair value of financial derivatives  (498) (2,459) (498) (2,459)

Total return before income tax  (18,895) (27,002) (19,606) (26,569)

Income tax expense 18 – – – –

Total return after income tax  (18,895) (27,002) (19,606) (26,569)

Minority interest  15 14 – –

Total return after income tax and  

 minority interest   (18,880) (26,988) (19,606) (26,569)

Earnings per unit (cents) 19    

Basic  (2.65) (6.87)1 (2.75) (6.76)1

Diluted  (2.65) (6.87)1 (2.75) (6.76)1

1 The figures have been restated for the effect of the renounceable 2-for-1 rights issue (“Rights Issue”). On 24 December 2009, 975,627,332 Units were issued pursuant to the Rights Issue.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Distribution Statements 
Year ended 31 March 2010

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amount available for distribution to  

 Unitholders at beginning of year  4,995  5,789  4,995  5,789 
     

Total return after income tax and    

 minority interest  (18,880) (26,988) (19,606) (26,569)

Net effect of tax adjustments A 41,950  51,204  41,949  49,990 

Other adjustments B (727) (795) –  – 

  22,343  23,421  22,343  23,421 

Amount available for distribution to  

 the Unitholders  27,338   29,210  27,338  29,210 
     

Distributions to Unitholders during the year:     

2.22 cents per unit for the period 

 1 January 2008 – 31 March 2008    (5,789)   (5,789)

2.35 cents per unit for the period 

 1 April 2008 – 30 June 2008    (6,138)  (6,138)

2.35 cents per unit for the period 

 1 July 2008 – 30 September 2008    (6,138)  (6,138)

2.35 cents per unit for the period 

 1 October 2008 – 31 December 2008    (6,150)  (6,150)

1.875 cents per unit for the period 

 1 January 2009 – 31 March 2009  (4,995)  (4,995) 

1.51 cents per unit for the period 

 1 April 2009 – 30 June 2009  (4,022)  (4,022) 

1.939 cents per unit for the period 

 1 July 2009 – 30 September 2009  (5,166)  (5,166) 

0.95 cents per unit for the period 

 1 October 2009 – 23 November 2009  (2,531)  (2,531) 

0.1868 cents per unit for the period 

 24 November 2009 – 31 December 2009  (2,739)   (2,739) 

  (19,453) (24,215)  (19,453) (24,215)

Amount available for distribution to  

 Unitholders at end of year  7,885  4,995  7,885  4,995 

Please refer to Note 2.12 for the Trust’s distribution policy.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Distribution Statements continued 
Year ended 31 March 2010

Note A – Net effect of tax adjustments
  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amortisation of borrowing costs  2,787 1,078 2,787 1,078

Equity fund raising expenses, net  260 (251) 260 (251)

Foreign exchange gain  – – 811 (1,202)

Manager’s management fees in units  – 1,516 – 1,516

(Write back of excess provision)/ 

 Provision for onerous contract  (955) 20,000 (955) 20,000

Impairment loss on loan to subsidiary  – – 1,801 1,844

Net change in fair value of  

 financial derivatives  498 2,459 498 2,459

Straight-lining of rental income  (1,291) (1,623) (1,291) (1,623)

Net change in fair value of  

 investment properties  41,356 29,988 38,743 28,132

Industrial building allowance  (1,641) (3,311) (1,641) (3,311)

Temporary differences and  

 other tax adjustments  936 1,348 936 1,348

Net effect of tax adjustments  41,950 51,204 41,949 49,990

Note B – Other adjustments

Other adjustments for the Group comprised primarily the accounting profits of the Trust’s subsidiaries.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds 
Year ended 31 March 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year  289,074 337,624 289,080 338,252

Operations     

Total return after income tax and minority interest  (18,880) (26,988) (19,606) (26,569)
     

Foreign currency translation reserve    

Translation differences relating to financial  

 statements of a foreign subsidiary and net  

 investment in foreign operation  (715) 1,041 – –
     

Unitholders’ transactions    

Units issued and to be issued:         

– Manager’s management fees in units  – 1,516 – 1,516

– Manager’s acquisition fees in units  686 – 686 –

– Placement of units  62,000 – 62,000 –

– Rights issue  155,125 – 155,125 –

Distributions to Unitholders  (19,453) (24,215) (19,453) (24,215)

Issue expenses 12 (11,100) 96 (11,100)  96

Change in Unitholders’ funds resulting from  

 Unitholders’ transactions  187,258 (22,603)  187,258 (22,603)

Total increase/(decrease) in Unitholders’ funds  167,663 (48,550)  167,652 (49,172)

Balance at end of the year  456,737 289,074  456,732 289,080

Units in issue and to be issued 13 1,466,599 266,385 1,466,599 266,385

Net asset value per Unit ($)  0.31 1.09 0.31 1.09
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       Group Trust
    Remaining Occupancy1  Percentage of Percentage of 

    term of rate At valuation total Unitholders’ Funds total Unitholders’ Funds
    land lease  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Description of property Location Term of land lease (years) Existing use % % $’000 $’000 % % % %

TRUST           

Properties in Singapore – Leasehold           

1 UE Technology Park 8 & 10 Pandan Crescent 92 years and 8 months 58.5 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 122,900  131,300  26.9  45.4 26.9 45.4

2 GRP Industrial Building 1 Bukit Batok Street 22 60 years 45.3 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 20,000  22,500  4.4 7.8 4.4 7.8

3 Fook Tong Nam Building 31 Admiralty Road 60 years 27.1 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 15,000  14,200  3.3 4.9 3.3 4.9

4 20 Gul Way 20 Gul Way 335 years 30.8 Manufacturing 100% 100% 41,200   43,800  9.0 15.1 9.0  15.1

5 3 Tuas Ave 2 3 Tuas Ave 2 73 years 45.0 Manufacturing 100% 100% 22,000   21,900  4.8 7.6 4.8 7.6

6 8 & 10 Tuas Ave 20 8 Tuas Ave 20  57 years and 2 months 40.6 Manufacturing 100% 100% 12,600  12,200   2.8  4.2  2.8  4.2
  10 Tuas Ave 20 60 years 42.5 

7 8 Senoko South Road 8 Senoko South Road 60 years 44.6 Manufacturing 100% 100% 11,300  12,000  2.5 4.2 2.5 4.1

8 Fullmark Industrial Building 10 Soon Lee Road 60 years 31.0 Manufacturing 100% 100% 9,400   9,400  2.0 3.3 2.0 3.3

9 Aalst Chocolate Building 26 Tuas Avenue 7 60 years 43.8 Manufacturing 100% 100% 9,400   9,300  2.0 3.2 2.0 3.2

10 Ossia Building 10 Changi South Lane 60 years 46.2 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 26,500   33,500  5.8  11.6 5.8  11.6

11 KTL Distribution Centre 23 Changi South Avenue 2 60 years 44.5 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 16,000   22,500  3.5 7.8 3.5 7.8

12 2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 60 years 37.0 Research and Technology 100% 100% 12,700   14,800  2.8 5.1 2.8 5.1

13 King Plastic 541 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 44.3 Manufacturing 100% 100% 13,800   15,900  3.0 5.5 3.0 5.5

14 Farnell Hub 15 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 41.0 Logistics and Warehousing 86% 78% 25,600  26,448  5.6 9.1 5.6 9.1

15 Builders Centre 11 Changi South Street 3 60 years 45.0 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 22,400  20,200  4.9 7.0 4.9 7.0

16 61 Yishun Industrial Park A 61 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 42.4 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 22,200 23,600  4.9 8.2 4.9 8.2

17 103 Defu Lane 10 103 Defu Lane 10 60 years 33.3 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 11,300  13,800  2.5 4.8 2.5 4.8

18 Xpress Building 1 Kallang Way 2A 60 years 45.3 Manufacturing 100% 100% 13,200  13,400  2.9 4.6 2.9 4.6

19 PM Industrial Building 135 Joo Seng Road 60 years 44.3 Manufacturing 100% 100% 23,300  23,300  5.1 8.1 5.1 8.1

20 7 Clementi Loop 7 Clementi Loop 60 years 43.2 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 12,200  16,800  2.7 5.8 2.7 5.8

21 1A International Business Park  1A International Business Park  52 years 49.2 Business Park 100% – 73,000  – 16.0 – 16.0 –

22 23 Tai Seng Drive  23 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 44.0 Logistics and Warehousing 84.0% – 17,600  – 3.9 – 3.9 –

23 3 Toh Tuck Link  3 Toh Tuck Link  60 years 46.7 Logistics and Warehousing 100% – 19,750  – 4.3 – 4.3 –

24 56 Serangoon North Ave 4  56 Serangoon North Ave 4  60 years 45.2 Logistics and Warehousing 100% – 15,200  – 3.3 – 3.3 –

25 30/32 Tuas West Road  30/32 Tuas West Road  60 years 45.8 Logistics and Warehousing 100% – 17,800  – 3.9 – 3.9 –

 Investment properties, at valuation       606,350 500,848 132.8 173.3 132.8 173.2

 Effect of straight-lining of rental income       (4,192) (2,901)   (0.9) (1.0)

        602,158 497,947   131.9 172.2

 Other assets and liabilities (net)       (145,426) (208,867)   (31.9) (72.2)

 Total Unitholders’ funds        456,732 289,080   100.0 100.0

1 The occupancy rates shown are on committed basis.

Portfolio Statements
As at 31 March 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



       Group Trust
    Remaining Occupancy1  Percentage of Percentage of 

    term of rate At valuation total Unitholders’ Funds total Unitholders’ Funds
    land lease  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Description of property Location Term of land lease (years) Existing use % % $’000 $’000 % % % %

TRUST           

Properties in Singapore – Leasehold           

1 UE Technology Park 8 & 10 Pandan Crescent 92 years and 8 months 58.5 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 122,900  131,300  26.9  45.4 26.9 45.4

2 GRP Industrial Building 1 Bukit Batok Street 22 60 years 45.3 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 20,000  22,500  4.4 7.8 4.4 7.8

3 Fook Tong Nam Building 31 Admiralty Road 60 years 27.1 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 15,000  14,200  3.3 4.9 3.3 4.9

4 20 Gul Way 20 Gul Way 335 years 30.8 Manufacturing 100% 100% 41,200   43,800  9.0 15.1 9.0  15.1

5 3 Tuas Ave 2 3 Tuas Ave 2 73 years 45.0 Manufacturing 100% 100% 22,000   21,900  4.8 7.6 4.8 7.6

6 8 & 10 Tuas Ave 20 8 Tuas Ave 20  57 years and 2 months 40.6 Manufacturing 100% 100% 12,600  12,200   2.8  4.2  2.8  4.2
  10 Tuas Ave 20 60 years 42.5 

7 8 Senoko South Road 8 Senoko South Road 60 years 44.6 Manufacturing 100% 100% 11,300  12,000  2.5 4.2 2.5 4.1

8 Fullmark Industrial Building 10 Soon Lee Road 60 years 31.0 Manufacturing 100% 100% 9,400   9,400  2.0 3.3 2.0 3.3

9 Aalst Chocolate Building 26 Tuas Avenue 7 60 years 43.8 Manufacturing 100% 100% 9,400   9,300  2.0 3.2 2.0 3.2

10 Ossia Building 10 Changi South Lane 60 years 46.2 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 26,500   33,500  5.8  11.6 5.8  11.6

11 KTL Distribution Centre 23 Changi South Avenue 2 60 years 44.5 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 16,000   22,500  3.5 7.8 3.5 7.8

12 2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 60 years 37.0 Research and Technology 100% 100% 12,700   14,800  2.8 5.1 2.8 5.1

13 King Plastic 541 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 44.3 Manufacturing 100% 100% 13,800   15,900  3.0 5.5 3.0 5.5

14 Farnell Hub 15 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 41.0 Logistics and Warehousing 86% 78% 25,600  26,448  5.6 9.1 5.6 9.1

15 Builders Centre 11 Changi South Street 3 60 years 45.0 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 22,400  20,200  4.9 7.0 4.9 7.0

16 61 Yishun Industrial Park A 61 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 42.4 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 22,200 23,600  4.9 8.2 4.9 8.2

17 103 Defu Lane 10 103 Defu Lane 10 60 years 33.3 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 11,300  13,800  2.5 4.8 2.5 4.8

18 Xpress Building 1 Kallang Way 2A 60 years 45.3 Manufacturing 100% 100% 13,200  13,400  2.9 4.6 2.9 4.6

19 PM Industrial Building 135 Joo Seng Road 60 years 44.3 Manufacturing 100% 100% 23,300  23,300  5.1 8.1 5.1 8.1

20 7 Clementi Loop 7 Clementi Loop 60 years 43.2 Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 12,200  16,800  2.7 5.8 2.7 5.8

21 1A International Business Park  1A International Business Park  52 years 49.2 Business Park 100% – 73,000  – 16.0 – 16.0 –

22 23 Tai Seng Drive  23 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 44.0 Logistics and Warehousing 84.0% – 17,600  – 3.9 – 3.9 –

23 3 Toh Tuck Link  3 Toh Tuck Link  60 years 46.7 Logistics and Warehousing 100% – 19,750  – 4.3 – 4.3 –

24 56 Serangoon North Ave 4  56 Serangoon North Ave 4  60 years 45.2 Logistics and Warehousing 100% – 15,200  – 3.3 – 3.3 –

25 30/32 Tuas West Road  30/32 Tuas West Road  60 years 45.8 Logistics and Warehousing 100% – 17,800  – 3.9 – 3.9 –

 Investment properties, at valuation       606,350 500,848 132.8 173.3 132.8 173.2

 Effect of straight-lining of rental income       (4,192) (2,901)   (0.9) (1.0)

        602,158 497,947   131.9 172.2

 Other assets and liabilities (net)       (145,426) (208,867)   (31.9) (72.2)

 Total Unitholders’ funds        456,732 289,080   100.0 100.0

1 The occupancy rates shown are on committed basis.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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       Group 

    Remaining Occupancy1  Percentage of 

    term of rate At valuation total Unitholders’ Funds
    land lease  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Description of property Location Term of land lease (years) Existing use % % $’000 $’000 % %

GROUP           

 

1-25 Properties in Singapore – Leasehold (68 – 69) N.A. N.A.    606,350 500,848 132.8 173.3 

 

 Property in Japan – Freehold          

26 Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse  1-398-3, 11, 13 Yoshinocho,  N.A. N.A. Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 28,908 32,394 6.3 11.2 

  Kita-ku, Saitama City, Saitama,  

  Tokyo

        635,258 533,242 139.1 184.5

 Effect of straight-lining of rental income       (4,192) (2,901) (0.9) (1.0)

        631,066 530,341 (138.2) 183.5

 Other assets and liabilities (net)       (174,329) (241,267) (38.2) (83.5)

 Total Unitholders’ funds        456,737 289,074 100.0 100.0

1 The occupancy rates shown are on committed basis.

Portfolio statement by industry segment is not presented, as the Group’s and the Trust’s activities for the year ended  
31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 relate wholly to investing in real estate in the industrial sector in Singapore and Japan.

(a) 23 Tai Seng Drive, 3 Toh Tuck Link, 56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 and 30/32 Tuas West Road, were acquired by the Trust 
on 11 January 2010 from DB International Trust (Singapore) Limited, as trustee of AMP Capital Business Space REIT, 
(the “AMP Capital Properties”). The AMP Capital Properties were valued by CB Richard Ellis (Pte) Ltd and Cushman & 
Wakefield VHS Pte Ltd as at 21 December 2009. The valuations were based on capitalisation approach, discounted cash 
flow analysis and direct comparison methods. The fair value of AMP Capital Properties as at 31 March 2010 were based 
on internal valuation by the Manager, after taking into consideration the independent valuations on 21 December 2009. 

(b) The balance 21 investment properties in Singapore were revalued on 21 December 2009 by CB Richard Ellis (Pte) Ltd. 
The Manager believes that the independent valuers have appropriate professional qualifications and recent experience 
in the location and category of the properties being valued. The valuations were based on capitalisation approach, 
discounted cash flow analysis and direct comparison methods. The fair value of the properties as at 31 March 2010  
were based on internal valuation by the Manager, after taking into consideration the independent valuations on  
21 December 2009.

(c) An independent valuation of the property in Japan was undertaken by Rich Appraisal Institute on 28 January 2010. The 
Manager believes that the independent valuer has appropriate professional qualifications and recent experience in the 
location and category of the properties being valued. The valuation was based on capitalisation approach, discounted 
cash flow analysis and direct comparison methods. The fair value of this property as at 31 March 2010 was based on 
internal valuation by the Manager, after taking into consideration the independent valuation on 28 January 2010.

The net changes in fair value of investment properties have been recognised in the Statements of Total Return.

Portfolio Statements continued 
As at 31 March 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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       Group 

    Remaining Occupancy1  Percentage of 

    term of rate At valuation total Unitholders’ Funds
    land lease  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Description of property Location Term of land lease (years) Existing use % % $’000 $’000 % %

GROUP           

 

1-25 Properties in Singapore – Leasehold (68 – 69) N.A. N.A.    606,350 500,848 132.8 173.3 

 

 Property in Japan – Freehold          

26 Asahi Ohmiya Warehouse  1-398-3, 11, 13 Yoshinocho,  N.A. N.A. Logistics and Warehousing 100% 100% 28,908 32,394 6.3 11.2 

  Kita-ku, Saitama City, Saitama,  

  Tokyo

        635,258 533,242 139.1 184.5

 Effect of straight-lining of rental income       (4,192) (2,901) (0.9) (1.0)

        631,066 530,341 (138.2) 183.5

 Other assets and liabilities (net)       (174,329) (241,267) (38.2) (83.5)

 Total Unitholders’ funds        456,737 289,074 100.0 100.0

1 The occupancy rates shown are on committed basis.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
Year ended 31 March 2010

  Group Group 
  2010 2009 
 Note $’000 $’000

Cash flow from operating activities   

Total return before income tax   (18,895) (27,002)

Adjustments for:    

Net change in fair value of financial derivatives  498  2,459 

Borrowing costs   13,893  5,857 

Straight-lining of rental income  (1,291) (1,623)

Write off/amortisation of intangible asset  – 1,000 

Manager’s management fees in units  – 1,516 

(Write back of excess provision)/Provision for onerous contract  (955) 20,000 

Net change in fair value of investment properties  41,356  29,988 

Operating income before working capital changes  34,606  32,195 

Changes in working capital   

Rental deposits   6,017  179 

Trade and other receivables  (1,150) 1,110 

Trade and other payables  1,618  (1,735)

Cash generated from operating activities  41,091  31,749 

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of investment properties (including acquisition costs) A (161,384) (1,001)

Capital expenditure on investment properties  (210) (945)

Cash flows from investing activities  (161,594) (1,946)

Cash flows from financing activities   

Borrowing costs paid  (21,264) (4,965)

Distributions to Unitholders  (19,453) (24,215)

Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings  191,065  –

Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings  (225,475) –

(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash and deposits  (478) 40

Proceeds from Placement  62,000  –

Proceeds from Rights Issue  155,125  –

Issue expenses paid  (11,021) (292)

Distribution to minority interest  (11) (29)

Cash flows from financing activities  130,488  (29,461)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  9,985  342 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  9,171  8,770 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuation  139  59 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6 19,295   9,171 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement continued

Year ended 31 March 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note:

A Net cash outflow on acquisition of investment properties 
  Group Group 
  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Investment properties  158,823 –

Acquisition related costs  2,561 1,001

Net cash consideration paid  161,384 1,001

B Significant non-cash transactions

(a) During the financial year, the Trust issued:

(i) 4,669,249 Units (2009: 753,115 Units) as payment for the Manager’s base and performance fees amounting to a 

value of $1,087,000 (2009: $429,000); and

(ii) 3,158,379 Units (2009: nil) in satisfaction of the Manager’s acquisition fees of $686,000 (2009: nil) in respect of 

the acquisition of the AMP Capital Properties.

(b) As at 31 March 2009, 4,669,249 Units were to be issued as payment for the Manager’s base and performance fees 

amounting to a value of $1,087,000.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Manager and the Trustee on 12 May 2010.

1 General

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (formerly known as MacarthurCook Industrial REIT) (the “Trust”) is a Singapore-domiciled 
real estate unit trust constituted pursuant to the trust deed dated 5 December 2006, subsequently amended by the 
amending and restating deed dated 8 March 2007 (“Trust Deed”), entered into between AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT 
Management Limited (formerly known as MacarthurCook Investment Managers (Asia) Limited) (the “Manager”) and HSBC 
Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited (the “Trustee”). The Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Republic 
of Singapore. The Trustee is under a duty to take into custody and hold the assets of the Trust in trust for the holders 
(“Unitholders”) of units in the Trust (the “Units”). 

The Trust was formally admitted to the Official List of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)  
on 19 April 2007 (the “Listing Date”) and was included under the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Investment Scheme on  
21 February 2007. On 21 March 2007, the Trust was declared as an authorised Unit trust scheme under the Trustees Act, 
Chapter 337.

The principal activity of the Trust and its subsidiaries is to own and invest in a diversified portfolio of income-producing 
properties throughout Asia that are primarily used for industrial purposes, including, but not limited to warehousing, 
manufacturing and distribution activities. 

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Trust and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

The Trust has entered into several service agreements in relation to the management of the Trust and its property 
operations. The fee structures of these services are summarised below.

1.1 Trustee’s Fees

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee fee shall not exceed 0.1% per annum of the value of the Deposited Property (as defined 
in the Trust Deed) or such higher percentage as may be fixed by an extraordinary resolution at a meeting of Unitholders. 
The Manager has negotiated a scaled fee with the Trustee at a rate of up to 0.03% per annum of the value of the Deposited 
Property subject to a minimum of $10,000 per month.

The Trustee’s fee is accrued daily and is payable out of the value of the Deposited Property of the Group on a monthly basis, 
in arrears. The Trustee is also entitled to reimbursement of expenses incurred in the performance of its duties under the 
Trust Deed.

1.2 Manager’s Fees

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive the base fee and performance fee as follows:

Base fee
The Manager is entitled to a base fee of 0.5% per annum of the value of the Deposited Property or such higher percentage as 
may be fixed by an Extraordinary Resolution of a meeting of Unitholders.

The base fees are payable in the form of cash and/or units as the Manager may elect. Where the base fee (or any part or 
component thereof) is payable in the form of cash, such payment shall be made out of the Deposited Property within 30 
days of the last day of each calendar month in arrears. Where the base fee (or any part or component thereof) is payable in 
the form of units, such payment shall be made within 30 days of the last day of each calendar half-year in arrears.
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Performance fee
The Manager is also entitled to a performance fee of 0.1% per annum of the value of the Deposited Property, provided that 
growth in distribution per unit (“DPU”) in a given financial year (calculated before accounting for the performance fee in 
that financial year) relative to the DPU in the previous financial year exceeds 2.5%. The performance fee is 0.2% per annum if 
the growth in DPU in a given financial year relative to the DPU in the previous financial year exceeds 5.0%.

For a period of 60 months from the Listing Date (save for the period from Listing Date to 31 March 2008 whereby no 
performance fee is payable), 100% of the performance fee shall be paid to the Manager in units and, thereafter, at the 
Manager’s discretion.

Acquisition and divestment fee
The Manager is entitled to receive the following fees:

(a) An acquisition fee of 1.0% of the acquisition price of any Authorised Investment (as defined in the Trust Deed), acquired 
directly or indirectly by the Trust or such higher percentage as may be fixed by an extraordinary resolution at a meeting 
of Unitholders.

(b) A divestment fee of 0.5% of the sale price of any Authorised Investment sold or divested by the Trustee or such higher 
percentage as may be fixed by an extraordinary resolution at a meeting of Unitholders.

The acquisition and divestment fee will be paid in the form of cash or/and units and is payable as soon as practicable after 
completion of the acquisition or disposal.

1.3 Property Manager’s Fees

The Manager has appointed AIMS AMP Capital Property Management Pte Ltd (formerly known as MacarthurCook Property 
Management Pte. Ltd.), a company related to the Manager, as the property manager (the “Property Manager”) to operate, 
maintain and market all of the properties of the Group. The following fee is payable to the Property Manager in respect of all 
of the investment properties in Singapore: 

(i) A property management fee of 2.0% per annum of the rental income of each of the relevant properties. 

(ii) A lease management fee of 1.0% per annum of the rental income of each of the relevant properties.

(iii) A marketing services commission equivalent to:

(a) one months gross rent for securing a tenancy of three years or less;
(b) two months’ gross rent for securing a tenancy of more than three years;
(c) half a month’s gross rent for securing a renewal of tenancy of three years or less; 
(d) one month’s gross rent for securing a renewal of tenancy of more than three years.

If a third-party agent secures a tenancy, the Property Manager will be responsible for all marketing services 
commissions payable to such third-party agent, and the Property Manager shall be entitled to a marketing services 
commission equivalent to:

(a)  1.2 months’ gross rent for securing a tenancy of three years or less; or
(b)  2.4 months’ gross rent for securing a tenancy of more than three years.

The gross rental, where applicable, includes service charge, reimbursements, which are the contributions paid by 
tenants towards covering the operating maintenance expenses of the property, and licence fees.

(iv) A project management fee in relation to development or redevelopment, the refurbishment, retrofitting and renovation 
works on a property.

(v) A property tax services fee in respect of property tax objections submitted to the tax authority on any proposed annual 
value of a property if, as a result of such objections, the proposed annual value is reduced resulting in property tax 
savings for the relevant property.

The Property Manager’s fees are payable monthly, in arrears.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

Year ended 31 March 2010

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 
(“RAP”) 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and the 
applicable requirements of the Code on Collective Investment Schemes (“CIS Code”) issued by the Monetary Authority of 
Singapore (“MAS”) and the provisions of the Trust Deed.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investment properties, derivative 
financial instruments and certain financial assets and liabilities, which are stated at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Trust. All financial 
information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with RAP 7 requires the Manager to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements is included in the 
following notes:

• Note 3 – Valuation of investment properties
• Note 5 – Valuation of trade and other receivables
• Note 22 – Valuation of derivative financial instruments

Starting as of 1 April 2009, the Group has changed its accounting policies in the following areas:

• Presentation of financial statements
• Determination and presentation of operating segments
• Classification of derivatives

Presentation of financial statements
This change in accounting policy is to achieve consistency with the Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on 
Liquidation. The change has resulted in the Unitholders’ funds of the Group being classified as equity. Previously, the 
Unitholders’ funds of the Group were classified as a financial liability. The reclassification was made in accordance with the 
Amendments to FRS 32 and FRS 1, which require instruments that impose on an entity an obligation to deliver to another 
party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation, to be classified as equity instruments, provided 
certain conditions are met. The units in issue met the conditions for classification as equity instruments.
 

This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively, in accordance with the provisions of the Amendments to 
FRS 32 and FRS 1 and the comparatives have been restated. This change does not have any impact on the Group’s and Trust’s 
statement of total return.
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The adoption of the Amendments to FRS 32 and FRS 1 has resulted in the following increase/(decrease) as presented in the 
balance sheets as at 31 March 2009:

  Group Trust 
  2009 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities  

Net assets attributable to Unitholders  (289,074) (289,080)

Minority interest  (157) – 
  

Equity  

Unitholders’ funds   289,074  289,080

Minority interest  157 –

Determination and presentation of operating segments
As of 1 April 2009, the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally 
provided to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Board of Directors of the Manager, who are the Group’s Chief Operating 
Decision Makers (CODMs). This change in accounting policy is due to the adoption of FRS 108 Operating Segments and early 
application of Amendments to FRS 108 Operating Segments. Previously operating segments were determined and presented 
in accordance with FRS 14 Segment Reporting. The new accounting policy in respect of operating segment disclosures is 
presented in Note 2.13.

Since the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation and disclosure aspects, there is no impact on the 
statements of total return.

Classification of derivatives
The Group and the Trust apply the Amendment to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, which became effective on  
1 April 2009. As a result, derivative assets and derivative liabilities which are held for trading purposes are presented on the 
balance sheet as current and non-current on the basis of their settlement. 

This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively in accordance with the provisions of the Amendments to 
FRS 1 and the comparatives have been restated. This change does not have any impact on the Group’s and Trust’s statement 
of total return.

The adoption of the Amendments to FRS 1 has resulted in the following increase/(decrease) as presented in the balance 
sheet as at 31 March 2009:

  Group Trust 
  2009 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Current liabilities  

Derivative financial instruments  (2,635) (2,635)
  

Non-current liabilities  

Derivative financial instruments  2,635 2,635

 
Except as explained in Note 2.1, the accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Group and the 
Trust. The accounting policies used by the Group and the Trust have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements.
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2.2 Consolidation

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights 
presently exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group.

The Group has established a special purpose entity (“SPE”) for investment purposes. The Group does not have any direct or 
indirect shareholdings in this entity. An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship 
with the Group and the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. The SPE controlled by the 
Group was established under terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-making powers of the SPE’s management 
and that results in the Group receiving the majority of the benefits related to the SPE’s operation and net assets, being 
exposed to the majority of risks incidental to the SPE’s activities and retaining the majority of the residual or ownership risks 
related to the SPE or its assets.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Accounting for subsidiaries by the Trust
Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Trust’s balance sheet at cost, less accumulated impairment losses. 

2.3 Foreign Currencies

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the entities in the Group at 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at the date on which the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the statement of total return, except for differences 
arising on the retranslation of monetary items that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign 
operation (see below) and financial liabilities designated as hedges of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the 
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in Unitholders’ funds. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, 
the relevant amount is transferred to the statement of total return.
 

Net investment in a foreign operation
Exchange differences arising from monetary items that in substance form part of the Trust’s net investment in a foreign 
operation are recognised in the Trust’s statement of total return. Such exchange differences are reclassified to Unitholders’ 
funds in the consolidated financial statements. When the foreign operation is disposed of, the cumulative amount in 
Unitholders’ funds is transferred to the statement of total return as an adjustment to total return arising on disposal.
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2.4 Investment Properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or capital appreciation or both. Investment 
properties are accounted for as non-current assets and are stated at initial cost on acquisition and at fair value thereafter. 
The cost of a purchased property comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure. Transaction costs 
shall be included in the initial measurement. Fair value is determined in accordance with the Trust Deed, which requires the 
investment properties to be valued by independent registered valuers in the following events:

(i) in such manner and frequency as required under the CIS code issued by MAS; and

(ii) at least once in each period of 12 months following the acquisition of each investment property.

Any increase or decrease on revaluation is credited or charged directly to the statement of total return as a net change in fair 
value of investment properties.

Subsequent expenditure relating to investment properties that has already been recognised is added to the carrying amount 
of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of originally assessed standard of performance 
of the existing asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which it is incurred.

When an investment property is disposed of, the resulting gain or loss recognised in the Statements of Total Return is the 
difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the property.

Investment properties are not depreciated. The properties are subject to continued maintenance and regularly revalued on 
the basis set out above. 

2.5 Financial Instruments

(a) Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, financial liabilities, 
trade and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings and rental deposits.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through 
profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial 
assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group 
transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e., the date that the Group 
commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligations specified in the 
contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits. 
 

(b) Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
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All impairment losses are recognised in the statement of total return. 

Impairment losses in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost are reversed if the subsequent increase in fair 
value can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risks arising 
from operational, financing and investment activities. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for 
trading purposes. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, attributable transaction costs are recognised in the 
statement of total return when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at 
fair value, and changes therein are recognised immediately in the statement of total return. 

2.6 Impairment – Non-financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment properties, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely 
are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Total Return unless it 
reverses a previous revaluation, credited to Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders, in which case it is charged to Net Assets 
Attributable to Unitholders. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 
unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-
generating unit.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had  
been recognised.
 

2.7 Unitholders’ Funds

Unitholders’ funds represent the Unitholders’ residual interest in the Group’s net assets upon termination and is classified 
as equity. Incremental cost, directly attributable to the issuance, offering and placement of units in the Trust are deducted 
directly against Unitholders’ funds.

2.8 Provision

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
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Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are 
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value 
of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. 
Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

2.9 Revenue Recognition

(i) Rental income and service charge from operating leases
Rental income and service charge from operating leases are recognised in the statement of total return on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are recognised as an income in the period in which they are earned.

(ii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in the statement of total return on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment  
is established.

2.10 Expenses

(i) Manager’s management fees
Manager’s management fees are recognised on an accrual basis based on the applicable formula stipulated in Note 1.2. 

(ii) Property expenses
Property expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. Included in property expenses is the Property Manager’s fee which is 
based on the applicable formula stipulated in Note 1.3.

(iii) Other trust expenses
Other trust expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. Included in other trust expenses is the Trustee’s fees which are 
based on the applicable formula stipulated in Note 1.1.
 

(iv) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs comprise interest expenses on borrowings and amortisation of borrowing-related transaction costs, which 
are recognised in the statement of total return using the effective interest rate method over the period for which the 
borrowings are granted.

2.11 Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense on the return for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in 
the statement of total return, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly to Net Assets Attributable to 
Unitholders, in which case it is recognised in Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary 
differences on initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied 
to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or 
on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
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A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore (“IRAS”) has issued a tax ruling on the taxation of the Trust and its Unitholders. 
Subject to meeting the terms and conditions of the tax ruling issued by IRAS, which includes a distribution of at least 90% of 
the taxable income of the Trust, the Trustee will not be assessed to tax on the taxable income of the Trust that is distributed 
to the Unitholders. In the event that there are subsequent adjustments to the taxable income when the actual taxable 
income of the Trust is finally agreed with IRAS, such adjustments are taken up as an adjustment to the taxable income for 
the next distribution following the agreement with IRAS. 

Distributions made by the Trust out of such taxable income to Individuals and Qualifying Unitholders (as defined below) are 
distributed without deducting any income tax. This treatment is known as the tax transparency treatment.

The Trustee will deduct tax at the reduced rate of 10.0% from distributions made out of the Trust’s taxable income (that is 
not taxed at the Trust level) during the period from the date of constitution to 17 February 2010, to beneficial Unitholders 
who are foreign non-individual Unitholders (as defined below). It was announced in the Singapore Budget 2010 that the 
existing income tax concession for listed Real Estate Investment Trusts on distributions made to foreign non-individual 
Unitholders will be renewed for the period from 18 February 2010 to 31 March 2015. Based on this, the reduced rate of 
10.0% in respect of distributions made to foreign non-individual Unitholders during the period from 18 February 2010 to  
31 March 2015 will continue to apply.

For other types of Unitholders, the Trustee is required to withhold tax at the prevailing corporate tax rate on the 
distributions made by the Trust. Such Unitholders are subject to tax on the regrossed amounts of the distributions received 
but may claim a credit for the tax deducted at source by the Trustee.

Any portion of the taxable income that is not distributed, known as retained taxable income, tax will be assessed on the 
Trustee in accordance with section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134. Where such retained taxable income is 
subsequently distributed, the Trustee need not deduct tax at source. 

A “Qualifying Unitholder” is a Unitholder who is:

• A Singapore-incorporated company which is a tax resident in Singapore;
• A body of persons other than a company or a partnership, registered or constituted in Singapore (e.g. a town council, 

a statutory board, a registered charity, a registered cooperative society, a registered trade union, a management 
corporation, a club and a trade industry association); or

• A Singapore branch of a foreign company which has been presented a letter of approval from IRAS granting waiver from 
tax deducted at source in respect of distributions from the Trust.

A “foreign non-individual Unitholder” is one which is not a resident of Singapore for income tax purposes and:

• who does not have a permanent establishment in Singapore; or
• who carries on any operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, where the funds used to 

acquire the units are not obtained from that operation in Singapore.

The above tax transparency ruling does not apply to gains from sale of real estate properties, if considered to be trading 
gains derived from a trade or business carried on by the Trust. Tax on such gains or profits will be assessed, in accordance 
with section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 and collected from the Trustee. Where the gains are capital gains,  
it will not be assessed to tax and the Trustee and the Manager may distribute the capital gains without tax being deducted 
at source.
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2.12 Distribution Policy

The Manager’s distribution policy is to distribute at least 90.0% of its taxable income, comprising substantially its income 
from the letting of its properties after deduction of allowable expenses. The actual level of distribution will be determined 
at the Manager’s discretion. 

The Trust makes distributions to Unitholders on a quarterly basis, with the amount calculated as at 30 June, 30 September, 
31 December and 31 March in each distribution year for the three-month period ending on each of those dates or at such 
other intervals as the Manager shall decide in its absolute discretion. Distributions, when paid, will be in Singapore dollars.

In the event that there are gains arising from sale of real estate properties, and only if such gains are surplus to the business 
requirements and needs of the Group, the Manager may, at its discretion, direct the Trustee to distribute such gains. Such 
gains, if not distributed, will form part of the Deposited Property.

2.13 Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. 
All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CODMs which comprise mainly the Board 
of Directors and CEO of the Manager to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

3 Investment Properties

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At beginning of the year  530,341  555,411  497,947  524,622 

Acquisition of investment properties  158,823 – 158,823 –

Acquisition-related costs  3,283 7  3,283 7 

(Reversal of)/Capital expenditure   (107)  1,450  (107)  1,450 

Net change in fair value of investment properties  (41,356) (29,988) (38,743) (28,132)

Transfer from provision for onerous contract  (19,045) – (19,045) –

Translation adjustment  (873)  3,461  – –

At end of the year  631,066 530,341  602,158 497,947

     
As at the balance sheet date, $560,732,000 (2009: $530,341,000) of the Group’s and $531,824,000 (2009: $497,947,000) of 
the Trust’s investment properties have been pledged as security for the interest-bearing borrowings (Note 7). 

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on internal valuations performed by the Manager, adjusted for the 
effect of straight-lining of rental income. 

The fair values are based on current open market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be 
exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after 
proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of investment properties include market corroborated capitalisation 
rates, discount rates and terminal yields. The Manager is satisfied that the valuation methods and estimates used are 
reflective of the current market conditions.
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4 Subsidiaries

  Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Unquoted equity, at cost  –* –*

Loan to a subsidiary   

 – Non-current  20,379 12,501

Impairment losses on loan to subsidiary  (3,638) (1,844)

  16,741 10,657
   

* Less than $1,000

 

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

 Effective equity  
 interest held  
 by the Group
 Country of 2010 2009 
 incorporation % %

Subsidiary of the Trust   

Japan Industrial Property Pte Ltd1 Singapore 100.0 100.0

Subsidiary of Japan Industrial Property Pte Ltd   

Goudou Kaisha Bayside2 Japan 99.2 98.7
   

1 Audited by KPMG Singapore
2 Audited by Akasaka International Tax & Co

The Group’s investment in Goudou Kaisha Bayside is through a Tokumei-Kumiai Agreement – a silent partnership agreement 
(“TK Agreement”). Although the Group does not have legal control over this investment, it has a beneficial interest over the 
entity through the TK Agreement, which entitles the Trust to the share of distributable income from Goudou Kaisha Bayside. 
Consequently, the Group consolidates its investment in Goudou Kaisha Bayside as a subsidiary of the Group.

The loan to a subsidiary is denominated in Japanese Yen and is non-trade in nature, unsecured and interest-free. The 
settlement of the amount is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. As this amount is, in substance,  
a part of the Trust’s net investment in subsidiary, it is stated at cost less accumulated impairment. 

During the year, the Trust assessed the recoverable amount of its loan to subsidiary. Based on this assessment, the Trust 
recognised impairment loss of $1,800,625 (2009: $1,844,000). Impairment loss was determined based on the fair value less 
cost to sell of its subsidiary. The fair value of the subsidiary is estimated based on the net tangible assets of the subsidiary. 
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5 Trade and Other Receivables

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables  1,522  204  1,522  204 

Deposits   202  259  202  259 

Other receivables  51  3  24  3 

Loans and receivables  1,775 466 1,748 466

Straight-lining of rental income  4,192  2,901  4,192  2,901 

Pre-payments  126  286  114  273 

  6,093 3,653 6,054 3,640

     

The ageing of the loans and receivables at the reporting date is:

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current  253 262 226 262

30 days or less  623 150 623 150

Past due 31 – 90 days  400 54 400 54

Past due more than 90 days  499 – 499 –

  1,775 466  1,748 466

   
The Manager believes that no impairment allowance is necessary as at the reporting date, as these receivables relate to 
tenants that have provided sufficient security deposits or bankers’ guarantees.

   

The maximum exposure of credit risk for loans and receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was: 

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore  1,750 466 1,798 466

Japan  25 – – –

  1,775 466 1,798 466
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6 Cash and Cash Equivalents

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and in hand  13,569  3,967  11,566  2,039 

Fixed deposits with financial institutions  7,000  6,000  7,000  6,000 

  20,569 9,967 18,566 8,039

Restricted cash and deposits  (1,274) (796) – –

  19,295 9,171 18,566 8,039

The weighted average effective interest rate per annum relating to cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date for 
the Group and the Trust is 0.28% (2009: 0.35%). Interest rates reprice at intervals ranging from three months to four months.

Restricted cash and deposits represent bank balances and deposits in the Japan subsidiary that are required to be 
maintained to comply with terms of the Japan term loan and they are not freely available for use by the Group.

7 Interest-bearing Borrowings

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CURRENT 

Term loans  – 224,389 – 201,250

Less: Unamortised loan transaction costs  – (576) – (398)

  – 223,813 – 200,852

NON-CURRENT     

Term loans  189,978 – 175,000 –

Less: Unamortised loan transaction costs  (7,479) – (6,770) –

  182,499 – 168,230 –

 
At 31 March 2010, the Group has the following term loan facilities from financial institutions:

(a) A $175,000,000 term loan facility (“SGD floating rate term loan”) granted to the Trust and secured on the following:

(i) Mortgage over 21 investment properties of the Trust in Singapore; and

(ii) Assignment of rights, title and interest in leases, insurances and rental proceeds relating to the 21 investment 
properties of the Trust located in Singapore.

(b) A JPY1.0 billion term loan facility (“JPY fixed-rate term loan”) granted to a subsidiary and secured by a mortgage over 
the property in Japan.

At 31 March 2009, the Group has the following term loan facilities from financial institutions:

(a) A $220,800,000 term loan facility (“SGD floating rate term loan”) granted to the Trust and secured on the following:

(i) Mortgage over 20 investment properties of the Trust in Singapore; and

(ii) Assignment of rights, title and interest in leases, insurances and rental proceeds relating to the investment 
properties of the Trust located in Singapore.

(b) A JPY1.5 billion term loan facility (“JPY fixed-rate term loan”) granted to a subsidiary and secured by a mortgage over 
the property in Japan.
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Terms and Debt Repayment Schedule

Terms and conditions of the interest-bearing borrowings are as follows:

 Group Trust
 Nominal Year of Face  Carrying  Face Carrying 
 interest rate maturity value amount value amount 
 %  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 March 2010

SGD floating rate term loan SOR + 3.5% December 2012 175,000   168,230   175,000   168,230 

JPY fixed-rate term loan 2.48%  February 2012  14,978   14,269  – –

   189,978 182,499 175,000 168,230
      

31 March 2009

SGD floating rate term loan SOR + 0.55% April 2009 201,250   200,852   201,250   200,852 

JPY fixed-rate term loan 1.97% December 2009  23,139   22,961   –  –

   224,389   223,813   201,250   200,852 

 
The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash inflows/(outflows) of financial liabilities, including  
interest payments:

 Contractual cash flows
  Carrying   Within  Within More than 
  amount Total 1 year 1 to 5 years 5 years 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 March 2010

GROUP     

Term loans  182,499 (216,168) (8,469) (207,699) –

Trade and other payables  12,609 (12,609) (12,609) – –

Non-current rental deposits  2,625 (2,625) – (2,625) –

  197,733 (231,402) (21,078) (210,324) –

TRUST     

Term loans  168,230 (200,447) (8,098) (192,349) –

Trade and other payables  13,301 (13,301) (13,301) – –

Non-current rental deposits  2,124 (2,124) – (2,124) –

  183,655 (215,872) (21,399) (194,473) –

31 March 2009

GROUP     

Term loans  223,813 (225,290) (225,290) – –

Trade and other payables  5,897 (5,897) (5,897) – –

Non-current rental deposits  2,385 (2,385) – (709) (1,676)

  232,095 (233,572) (231,187) (709) (1,676)

TRUST     

Term loans  200,852 (201,737) (201,737) – –

Trade and other payables  5,847 (5,847) (5,847) – –

Non-current rental deposits  1,869 (1,869) – (193) (1,676)

  208,568 (209,453)  (207,584) (193) (1,676)
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8 Derivative Financial Instruments

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current liabilities:     

Interest rate swaps  1,017 – 1,017 –

  1,017 – 1,017 –

Non-current liabilities:     

Interest rate swaps  674  468  674  468 

Cross-currency swaps  1,189  1,653  1,189  1,653 

Foreign exchange forward contracts  252 514  252 514 

  2,115  2,635  2,115  2,635 

The derivative financial instruments as at 31 March 2010 relate to the following contracts:

(a) A three-year interest rate swap contracts with total notional amount of $175.0 million (2009: $100.0 million), where 
the Trust pays fixed interest rates of 1.905% - 1.91% and receives floating interest rates equal to Singapore dollar swap 
offer rate (“SOR”) on the notional amount. The swaps are being used to manage the Trust’s exposure on variable rate 
borrowings of $175.0 million.

(b) Cross-currency swaps for terms of two to five years (2009: 5 years) with total notional amount of JPY970.0 million  
(2009: JPY730.0 million) to manage the foreign currency risk of the Trust’s investment in Japan; and

(c) A five-year coupon-only foreign exchange forward contract of JPY17.0 million per quarter to minimise the foreign 
exchange exposure of the forecast distributions from the Trust’s investment in Japan.

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash inflows/(outflows) of derivative financial instruments:

 Contractual cash flows
  Carrying  Within Within 
  amount Total 1 year 1 to 5 years 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP AND TRUST     

31 March 2010

Current liabilities:     

Interest rate swaps  1,017 (907) (907) –

  1,017 (907) (907) –

Non-current liabilities:     

Interest rate swaps  674 (463) (779) 316

Cross-currency swaps  1,189 (1,366) 114  (1,480)

Foreign exchange forward contracts  252 (253) (89) (164)

  2,115 (2,082) (754) (1,328)

GROUP AND TRUST     

31 March 2009

Non-current liabilities:     

Interest rate swaps  468 (1,000) (806) (194)

Cross-currency swaps  1,653 (1,610) 109  (1,719)

Foreign exchange forward contracts  514 (502) (128) (374)

  2,635 (3,112) (825) (2,287)
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9 Provision

  Group and Trust Group and Trust 
  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

At beginning of the year  20,000 –

Provision made  – 20,000 

Provision used  (19,045) –

Reversal of excess provision  (955) –

At end of the year  – 20,000 

   
The Trust entered into a Put and Call Agreement in August 2007 to acquire the property at 1A International Business Park 
(the “Property”) for $91,000,000. A change in market conditions resulted in a reduction in the fair value of the Property 
below the contracted amount. Consequently, a provision for onerous contract of $20,000,000 was recognised in the 
Statements of Total Return in financial year 2009. 

During the financial year 2010, $19,045,000 out of the total $20,000,000 provision was utilised, following the completion 
of purchase of the Property. The balance of this provision, being $955,000, was an excess provision and was reversed to 
Statements of Total Return.
 

10 Trade and Other Payables

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables and accrued expenses  5,084  3,592  4,663  3,460 

Amounts due to related parties (trade)     

– the Manager   285  297  285  297 

– the Property Manager   140  165  140  165 

– the Trustee   25  24  25  24 

Goods and services tax payable  250  666  250  581 

Deferred income  – 52  – 52 

Rental received in advance  357  205  182  24 

Rental deposits  6,063 301  6,063  301 

Amount due to subsidiary  – – 1,329 435 

Interest payable  405  595  364  508 

  12,609  5,897  13,301  5,847 

     
The amount due to subsidiary is non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

11 Minority Interest

  Group Group 
  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year  157 179

Translation differences relating to financial statements of a foreign subsidiary  (5) 21

Total return for the year  (15) (14)

Distribution to minority interest  (11) (29)

Balance at end of the year  126 157
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12 Issue Expenses

Issue expenses comprise professional, underwriting and selling commission and other costs related to issuance of Units in 
the Trust.

Included in professional fees are non-audit fees paid to the auditors of the Trust of $252,138 (2009: nil) in connection with 
the issuance of Units during the financial year.

13 Units in issue and to be issued
 

  Group and Trust Group and Trust 
  2010 2009 
 Note ‘000 ‘000

Units in issue at beginning of the year  261,716 260,754

Issue of new Units:   

Units issued as payment of management fees (a) 4,669 962

Units issued as payment of acquisition fee (b) 3,158 –

Units issued pursuant to private placements (c) 221,429 –

Units issued pursuant to rights issue (d) 975,627 –

Units in issue at end of the year   1,466,599 261,716

Units to be issued:   

Manager’s management fees  – 4,669

Total Units in issue and to be issued at end of the year  1,466,599 266,385

   
(a) During the financial year ended 31 March 2010, 4,669,249 Units (2009: 962,094 Units) were issued by the Trust at an 

average price of $0.2328 (2009: $0.6548) per Unit as payment for the Manager’s management fees.

(b)  On 14 January 2010, 3,158,379 Units were issued at $0.2172 per Unit in payment of Manager’s acquisition fees in 
respect of the acquisition of the AMP Capital Properties.

(c)  On 24 November 2009, the Trust issued 78,571,429 Units to AMP Capital Investors (Luxembourg) No.4 S.a.r.l. and 
142,857,143 Units to the Cornerstone Investors (the “Placement”), at an issue price of $0.28 per Unit, (collectively the 
“Placement Units”). The Placement Units were listed on the SGX-ST on 24 November 2009.

(d)  On 24 December 2009, 975,627,332 Units were issued at $0.159 per Unit (the “Rights Units”) pursuant to the 
underwritten and renounceable Rights Issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of two Rights Units for every existing Unit. 
The Rights Units were listed on the SGX-ST on 28 December 2009.

The issue prices for management fees and acquisition fees payable in units were determined based on the volume weighted 
average traded price for all trades done on SGX-ST in the ordinary course of trading for 10 business days immediately 
preceding the last business day of the respective month-end or the date of the completion of the property acquisition.

Each unit in the Trust represents an undivided interest in the Trust and carries the same voting rights. The rights and 
interests of Unitholders are contained in the Trust Deed and include the right to:

• Receive income and other distributions attributable to the Units held;
• Participate in the termination of the Trust by receiving a share of all net cash proceeds derived from the realisation of 

the assets of the Trust less any liabilities, in accordance with their proportionate interests in the Trust. However,  
a Unitholder does not have the right to require that any assets (or part thereof) of the Trust be transferred to him; 

• Attend all Unitholder meetings. The Trustee or the Manager may (and the Manager shall at the request in writing of not 
less than 50 Unitholders representing not less than one-tenth of the issued Units of the Trust) at any time convene a 
meeting of Unitholders in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed; and

• One vote per Unit at meetings of the Trust.
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The restrictions on a Unitholder include the following:

• A Unitholder’s right is limited to the right to require due administration of the Trust in accordance with the provisions of 
the Trust Deed; and

• A Unitholder has no right to request redemption of his Units while the Units are listed on SGX-ST.

A Unitholder’s liability is limited to the amount paid or payable for any Units in the Trust. The provisions of the Trust Deed 
provide that no Unitholders will be personally liable to indemnify the Trustee or any creditor of the Trustee in the event that 
liabilities of the Trust exceed its assets.

14 Gross Revenue

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property rental income  43,028 39,793  40,971 37,881 

Property expenses recoverable from tenants  7,916 11,034  7,916 11,034 

  50,944 50,827  48,887 48,915 

15 Property Operating Expenses

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Land rent  4,287  4,044  4,287  4,044 

Property and lease management fees  1,425  1,319  1,216  1,122 

Property tax  2,098  3,912  1,978  3,792 

Other operating expenses  2,994  4,696  2,757  4,577 

  10,804  13,971  10,238  13,535 

16 Manager’s Management Fees

  Group and Trust Group and Trust 
  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Base fees 

– Paid and payable in cash  2,903  2,405 

– Paid and payable in Units  – 429 

Performance fee   

– Payable in Units  – 1,087 

  2,903  3,921 
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17 Other Trust Expenses

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Auditors’ remuneration to:     

– Auditors of the Trust  150  150  145  145 

– Other auditors  17  16  – –

Non-audit fees paid/payable to auditors of the Trust 62  44  58  40 

Trustee’s fees  136  136  136  136 

Professional fees  77  15  64  15 

Equity fund raising expenses, net   260 (251) 260 (251)

(Write back of provision)/Provision for onerous contract  (955)  20,000  (955)   20,000 

Other expenses   784  750  673  688 

  531  20,860  381  20,773 

18 Income Tax Expense

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total return before income tax  (18,895) (27,002) (19,606) (26,569)
     

Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 17%  (3,212) (4,590) (3,333) (4,517)

Non-tax chargeable items  (382) (276) (382) (480)

Non-tax deductible items  7,792  9,543  7,792  9,541 

Tax losses foregone  (121) (133) – –

Industrial building allowance  (279) (563) (279) (563)

Tax transparency  (3,798) (3,981) (3,798) (3,981)

  – – – –
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19 Earnings Per Unit

The earnings per Unit (“EPU”) is computed using total return after tax and minority interest over the weighted average 
number of Units for the financial year, computed as follows: 

  Group and Trust Group and Trust 
  2010 2009 
  ‘000 ‘000

Units in issued at beginning of the year  261,716 260,754

Effect of creation of new Units:   

– Rights Issue  261,949 –

– Placement  77,652 –

– issued and issuable as payment of Manager’s management fees   3,966 392

– issued as payment of Manager’s acquisition fees  666 –

– adjustment for effect of Rights Issue  107,178 131,800

Weighted average number of Units at the end of the year  713,127 392,946

   
The diluted EPU is the same as the basic EPU as there were no dilutive instruments in issue as at the balance sheet date.

20 Commitments

(a) Lease Commitments

The Group and the Trust lease out their investment properties. The future minimum lease payments receivable under  
non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date are as follows:

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year  47,922 36,504 45,918 34,440

After 1 year but within 5 years  122,861 107,585 120,566 103,157

After 5 years  55,874 36,778 55,874 36,778

  226,657 180,867 222,358 174,375

(b) Operating Lease Commitments

The Trust is required to pay Jurong Town Corporation (“JTC”), the Housing and Development Board (“HDB”) or Ascendas  
Land (Singapore) Pte Ltd (“Ascendas”) annual land rent in respect of certain investment properties. The annual land rent 
is based on the market rent in the relevant year of the current lease term, and the lease provides that any increase in 
annual land rent from year to year shall not exceed 5.5% (JTC and HDB) and 7.6% (Ascendas) of the annual land rent for the 
immediately preceding year. The leases are non-cancellable with the remaining lease term between 27.1 and 58.5 years as  
at 31 March 2010. 

At 31 March 2010, the Group and the Trust have commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases as follows:

  Group and Trust Group and Trust 
  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Within 1 year  5,599 3,753

After 1 year but within 5 years  22,395 16,776

After 5 years  199,975 146,847

  227,969 167,376
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21 Significant Related Party Transactions

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Trust if the Trust has the ability, 
directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating 
decisions, or vice versa, or where the Trust and the party are subject to common significant influence. Related parties may be 
individuals or other entities.

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant related party transactions carried out in the 
normal course of business on terms agreed between the parties are as follows:

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

THE MANAGER     

Manager’s management fees (base fees)  2,903  2,834  2,903 2,834 

Manager’s management fees (performance fees)  –  1,087  – 1,087 

Acquisition fees relating to the purchase of  

 investment properties  1,588 – 1,588 –

ENTITY CONTROLLED BY A DIRECTOR OF  

 THE MANAGER    

Issuance of Placement Units  2,750 – 2,750 –

SUBSIDIARY OF A CORPORATE SHAREHOLDER OF  

 THE MANAGER     

Advisory and arrangement fees  565 – 565 –

ENTITY CONTROLLED BY  

 A CORPORATE SHAREHOLDER OF  

 THE MANAGER  

Acquisition of investment properties  68,600 – 68,600 –

THE PROPERTY MANAGER     

Property management fees  794 731  794 731 

Lease management fees  397 365  397 365 

Marketing service commission  17 78  17 78 

Project management fees  25 26  25 26 

THE TRUSTEE     

Trustee fees  136 136 136 136
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22 Financial Risk Management

Capital Management

The Board of the Manager reviews the Group’s and the Trust’s debt and capital management and financing policy regularly 
so as to optimise the Group’s and the Trust’s funding structure. The Board also monitors the Group’s and the Trust’s exposure 
to various risk elements and externally imposed requirements by closely adhering to clearly established management 
policies and procedures.

The Trust and its subsidiaries are subject to the aggregate leverage limit as defined in the Property Funds Appendix of the 
CIS code. The CIS code stipulates that the total borrowings and deferred payments (together the “Aggregate Leverage”) of 
a property fund should not exceed 35.0% of the fund’s deposited property. The Aggregate Leverage of a property fund may 
exceed 35.0% of its deposited property (up to a maximum of 60.0%) only if a credit rating of the property fund from Fitch 
Inc., Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s is obtained and disclosed to the public. The property fund should continue to maintain 
and disclose a credit rating so long as its Aggregate Leverage exceeds 35.0% of its deposited property. As at 31 March 2010, 
the Aggregate Leverage of the Group and the Trust are 28.9% and 27.2% respectively (2009: 41.3% and 38.7%). 

The Group and the Trust’s corporate rating as at the date of this report is Ba2 and has complied with the Aggregate  
Leverage limit during the financial year. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the 
financial year. 

Overview of Risk Management 

Exposure to credit, interest rate, liquidity and foreign currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.  
The Group has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost 
of managing the risks. The Manager continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure an appropriate 
balance between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.
 

Management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of 
the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. 

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a lessee to settle its financial and contractual 
obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due.

Credit risk assessments are performed by the Manager prior to signing the lease agreements. Rental deposits as a multiple 
of monthly rent, are received, either in cash or bank guarantees, to reduce credit risk. The Manager also monitors the 
amount owing by the lessees on an ongoing basis. 

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with financial institutions which are regulated. Transactions involving derivative financial 
instruments are allowed only with counterparties who have sound credit ratings.

Concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables is limited due to the Group’s many tenants in real estate in the 
industrial sector and credit policy of obtaining security deposits from tenants for leasing the Group’s investment properties. 

At the reporting date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying value of each financial asset in the balance sheet. 
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(b) Interest rate risk
The Manager adopts a proactive interest rate management policy to manage the risk associated with adverse movement in 
interest rates on the loan facilities while also seeking to ensure that the Group’s cost of debt remains competitive. The policy 
aims to protect the Group’s earnings from the volatility in interest rates, providing stability to Unitholders’ returns.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group has interest rate swap contracts with total notional amount of $175.0 million  
(2009: $100.0 million) whereby the Group has agreed with counterparties to exchange at specified intervals, the difference 
between the floating rate pegged to the Singapore dollar SOR and fixed-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to 
the agreed notional amounts. The swaps are used to hedge the exposure to fluctuation in the variable interest rates of its 
floating rate interest-bearing borrowings. 

Sensitivity analysis

For the variable rate financial liabilities and the derivative financial instruments, a change of 100 basis points (bps) in 
interest rate at the reporting date would increase/(decrease) Unitholders’ funds and total return of the Group and the 
Trust by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, 
remain constant.

 Group and Trust
 Total Return Unitholders’ Fund
  100 bps   100 bps   100 bps   100 bps  
   increase   decrease   increase   decrease  
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 March 2010

Variable rate financial liabilities  (1,750) 1,750 – –

Derivative financial instruments  2,812 (2,378) – –

  1,062 (628) – –
     

 31 March 2009

Variable rate financial liabilities  (2,013) 2,013 – –

Derivative financial instruments  874 (2,551) – –

  (1,139) (538) – –

     
(c) Liquidity risk
The Manager monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance  
the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effect of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically, the Group ensures that it has 
sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a reasonable period, including the servicing of 
financial obligations.
 

The Group also monitors and observes the Property Funds Appendix issued by the MAS concerning limits on total borrowings.

(d) Foreign currency risk
The Group’s foreign currency risk mainly relates to its Japanese Yen (“JPY”) denominated interest-bearing borrowings and 
distributable income from this investment. The Manager monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure on an ongoing 
basis and adopts currency risk management strategies that include:

• the use of foreign currency denominated borrowings to match the currency of the asset investment;
• the use of foreign exchange derivatives to minimise the foreign exchange risk of the foreign currency income receivable 

from the offshore assets back into Singapore dollars; and
• the use of cross-currency swaps to reduce the currency exposure of the foreign currency equity investment.
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The Trust’s exposures to JPY as at balance sheet date are as follows:

  Group Group Trust Trust 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current     

Loan to a subsidiary  – – 20,379 12,501

Derivatives financial instruments  (1,442) (2,167)  (1,442) (2,167) 

  (1,442) (2,167) 18,937 10,334

Current     

Amount due to a subsidiary  – – (1,329) (435)

  – – (1,329) (435)

  (1,442) (2,167)  17,608 9,899 

 
Sensitivity analysis

A 10% change in the value of the Singapore dollar against the Japanese Yen at the reporting date would increase/
(decrease) Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders and the total return as at 31 March 2010 by the amounts shown 
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, interest rates remain constant and is stated before 
the impact of hedging instruments.

 10% increase in $ against JPY 10% decrease in $ against JPY
  Unitholders’ Fund Total Return Unitholders’ Fund Total Return 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 March 2010

GROUP     

Derivative financial instruments  – 1,769 – (1,773)

TRUST     

Loan to a subsidiary  – (2,038) – 2,038

Amount due to a subsidiary  – 133  – (133)

Derivative financial instruments  – 1,769  – (1,773)

  – (136) – 132 
     

31 March 2009

GROUP     

Derivative financial instruments  – 1,561 – (1,561)

TRUST     

Loan to a subsidiary  – (1,250) – 1,250

Amount due to a subsidiary  – 43  – (43)

Derivative financial instruments  – 1,561  – (1,561)

  – 354 – (354) 

Estimation of Fair Values

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 
instruments of the Group and the Trust:
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(a) Financial derivatives
The fair values of derivative financial instruments are based on quotes by banks. These quotes are tested for reasonableness 
by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest and 
currency exchange rates for similar instruments at the reporting date.
 

(b) Other financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and provision) are assumed to approximate their fair values 
because of the short period to maturity. All other financial assets and liabilities are discounted to determine their fair values.

Discount rates used in determining fair value

Discount rates used to estimate fair values, where applicable, are based on the following rates:

  Group and Trust Group and Trust 
  2010 2009 
  % %

SGD financial liabilities  3.96 1.93

JPY financial liabilities  2.49 1.62

   
The aggregate net fair values of recognised financial liabilities which are not carried at fair value in the balance sheet as at 
31 March 2010 are represented in the following table:

  2010 2010 2009 2009 
  Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP     

Rental deposits  2,625 2,031 2,385 2,175
     

Unrecognised gain   594  210
     

TRUST     

Rental deposits  2,124 1,568 1,869 1,685
     

Unrecognised gain   556  184

Fair Value Hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been 
defined as follows:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP AND TRUST     

31 March 2010     

Derivative financial instruments  – 3,132 – 3,132
     

31 March 2009

Derivative financial instruments  – 2,635 – 2,635
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23 Segment Reporting

Segment information is presented based on the information reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Makers 
(“CODMs”) for performance assessment and resource allocation. For the purpose of the assessment of segment 
performance, the Group’s CODMs have focused on its investment properties. This forms the basis of identifying the 
operating segments of the Group under FRS 108 Operating Segments.

As each investment property is mainly used for industrial (including warehousing and office park) purposes, these 
investment properties are similar in terms of economic characteristics and nature of services. The CODMs are of the view 
that the Group only has one reportable segment – leasing of investment properties. This forms the basis of identifying the 
operating segments of the Group under FRS 108 Operating Segments. 

Accordingly, no operating segment information has been prepared as the Group only has one reportable segment.

No geographical segment information has been prepared as all the investment properties of the Group (except for the 
property in Japan) are located in Singapore and the contribution from the property in Japan to the Group’s revenue, total 
return and net assets is less than 10%.

Major Tenant

Rental income from two major tenants of the Group’s reportable segment represents approximately $12,716,000 (2009: 
$12,640,000) of the Group’s property rental income.

24 Financial Ratios

  Group  Group  
  2010 2009 
  % %

Expenses to weighted average net assets1   

– Expense ratio excluding performance related fee  1.26 1.03

– Expense ratio including performance related fee  1.26 1.36

Portfolio turnover rate2  – –

1 The annualised ratios are computed in accordance with the guidelines of Investment Management Association of Singapore. The expenses used in the computation relate to 
expenses of the Group, excluding property related expenses, borrowing costs and foreign exchange gain/(losses).

2 The annualised ratio is computed based on the lesser of purchases or sales of underlying investment properties of the Group expressed as a percentage of daily average net asset value.

25 Subsequent Events

On 12 May 2010, the Manager announced a distribution of 0.5376 cents per Unit, amounting to $7,884,000, in respect of the 
period from 1 January 2010 to 31 March 2010.
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Issued and Fully Paid Units

(Voting rights: 1 vote per Unit)
1,466,599,377 Units

There is only one class of Units in AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT.
Market capitalisation $322.7 million (based on market closing price of $0.22 on 17 May 2010)

Distribution of Unitholdings
Size of Unitholdings Number of Unitholders % No of Units %

1 - 999 9 0.20 1,517 0.00

1,000 - 10,000 2,302 49.91 10,835,983 0.74

10,001 - 1,000,000 2,241 48.59 176,126,000 12.01

1,000,001 and above 60 1.30 1,279,635,877 87.25

Total 4,612 100.00 1,466,599,377 100.00

Top 20 Unitholders
As listed in the Register of Unitholders

Name Number of Units % 

1 BNP Paribas Securities Services Singapore 315,555,858 21.52

2 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 139,770,582 9.53

3 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 137,625,160 9.38

4 DBSN Services Pte Ltd 123,366,498 8.41

5 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 122,184,530 8.33

6 Great World Capital Holdings Limited 101,459,854 6.92

7 Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 73,954,644 5.04

8 Tolaram Corporation Pte Ltd 35,637,000 2.43

9 DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 30,889,000 2.11

10 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 21,461,000 1.46

11 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 17,332,000 1.18

12 DBS Vickers Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 11,701,000 0.80

13 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 10,552,000 0.72

14 Asian Trust Investment Pte Ltd 10,000,000 0.68

15 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 9,081,000 0.62

16 Macarthurcook Limited 7,786,094 0.53

17 Kwan Chee Seng 6,031,557 0.41

18 Lee Fui Joon @ Lee Pui Joon 5,600,000 0.38

19 Mayban Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 5,600,000 0.38

20 CIMB-GK Securities Pte. Ltd. 5,502,000 0.38

Total 1,191,089,777 81.21
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Substantial Unitholders 
As listed in the Register of Substantial Unitholders maintained by the Manager

Name Direct interest Deemed  
interest

% of Total 
Issued Units

AMP Capital Investors (Luxembourg No. 4) S.A.R.L.1 – 235,714,287 16.07%

AMP Group Holdings Limited2 –  235,714,287 16.07%

AMP Capital Holdings Limited2 –  235,714,287 16.07%

AMP Holdings Limited2 –  235,714,287 16.07%

AMP Capital Investors International Holdings Limited2 – 235,714,287 16.07%

AMP Limited2 –  235,714,287 16.07%

Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited 120,861,498 – 8.24%

George Wang3 –  112,245,948 7.65%

APG Algemene Pensioen Groep N.V. 107,142,858 – 7.31%

Stichting Depository APG Tactical Real Estate Pool4 – 107,142,858 7.31%

Great World Capital Holdings Limited3 101,459,854 – 6.92%

Note:
1 AMP Capital Investors (Luxembourg No. 4) S.A.R.L. (“AMPCIL”)‘s interest in the Units is held through BNP Paribas Securities Services, Singapore 

Branch. 
2 Deemed to have an interest in the Units held by AMPCIL through BNP Paribas Securities Services, Singapore Branch. 
3 Mr George Wang has a deemed interest in these Units as he is the ultimate 100.0% owner of (i) Great World Capital Holdings Limited which 

directly owns 101,459,854 Units, (ii) MacarthurCook Limited which directly owns 7,786,094 Units and (iii) MacarthurCook Fund Management 
Limited which directly owns 3,000,000 Units. 

4 Deemed to have an interest in the 107,142,858 Units which are directly held by APG Algemene Pensioen Groep N.V. 

Unitholdings of Directors of the Manager 
As at 21 April 2010
As listed in the Register of Directors’ Unitholdings maintained by the Manager 

 Directors                               No of Units
 Direct interest Deemed interest 

Mr George Wang – 112,245,948 

Mr Graham Sugden 105,000 –

Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath 135,000 –

Unitholders Information continued

As at 17 May 2010

Free Float

Based on information available to the Manager as at 17 May 2010, no less than approximately 76.2% 
of the Units in AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT were held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, 
Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited has been 
complied with.
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Interested Party Transactions 

The transactions entered into with related parties during the financial year and falling within 
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Property Funds Appendix under the Code of Collective 
Investment Schemes are:

Name of Entity Aggregate value of all Interested  
Party Transactions during  

the financial year under review  
(excluding transactions less than $100,000)

$'000

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT  
Management Limited
– Management fees
– Acquisition fees

2,903
1,588

Great World Capital Holdings Limited
– Units issued pursuant to Placement 2,750

MacarthurCook Limited
– Advisory and arrangement fees 565

AMP Capital Business Space REIT
– Purchase of 23 Tai Seng Drive, 30/32 Tuas West Road, 
 56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 and 3 Toh Tuck Link 68,600

AIMS AMP Capital Property Management Pte. Ltd.
– Property management fees
– Lease management fees

794
397

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited
– Trustee fees 136

Please also refer to Note 21 “Significant Related Party Transactions” in the Financial Statements.

Except as disclosed above, 

(a) There are no other material contracts entered into by the AIMSAMPIREIT and its subsidiaries 
involving the interest of the chief executive officer, any director or controlling Unitholder, either 
still subsisting at the end of the year or entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

(b) There were no additional interested party transactions (excluding transactions of less than 
$100,000 each) entered into up to and including 31 March 2010.
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Use of Proceeds 

Status report on the specific use of proceeds from the AMP Capital Investment and the Cornerstone 
Investments (the “Placements”) 

Description of Transaction
$'million

Gross proceeds from the Placement 62.0 

Use of proceeds

Payment of IBP Total Acquisition Cost 49.5 

Repayment of JPY500 million of JPY Term Loan 7.8 

Cost of the Placements 2.1 

Payment for debt-related costs 0.3 

59.7

Balance of proceeds 2.3 

Status report on the specific use of proceeds from the 2-for-1 renounceable rights issue (“Rights Issue”).

Description of Transaction
$'million

Gross proceeds from the Rights Issue 155.1 

Use of proceeds

Payment of AMP Capital Total Acquisition Cost 69.2 

Repayment of the bridge loan 39.9 

Repayment of a portion of S$ Term Loan 27.3 

Cost of the Rights Issue 9.4 

Working capital and debt-related costs 9.3 

155.1

Such use of proceeds from the Placements and the Rights Issue is in accordance with the stated 
use of proceeds, and there is no material deviation from the percentage allocated and previously 
disclosed in the Circular to Unitholders of AIMSAMPIREIT dated 6 November 2009 (the “Circular”) and 
the Offer Information Statement dated 30 November 2009 (the “OIS”).
 
Terms defined in this Annual Report will have the meaning ascribed to them in the Circular and the 
OIS, unless otherwise defined herein.

Additional Information continued
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Investors Summary

Unitholders Value 

The primary objective of the AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT is to provide Unitholders with stable 
income distributions on a quarterly basis. 

The performance of the Trust is represented by the aggregation of the distribution return and the 
growth return, in the following table:

From 1 April 2009 to  
31 March 2010 (%)

From 19 April 2007 to  
31 March 2010 (%)

Distribution return 24.42 11.05

Unit price growth -6.52 -43.63

Total Unitholders return 17.90 -32.58

The distribution return is calculated on the following basis:

(a) the gross distribution to Unitholders before deducting any withholding tax which may be 
applicable.

(b the distributions are assumed to be reinvested into the Trust on the day the distributions were 
paid out. 

Unitholders Enquiries

Unitholders with enquiries are welcome to access information by any of the following methods:
 By contact with the share registry: Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd, 50 Raffles 

Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623.

 Via the Trust’s website: www.aimsampcapital.com

 By contact with the Manager: 
The Investor Relations Manager 
Telephone: (65) 6309 1050 or (65) 6309 1054 
Facsimile: (65) 6534 3942 
Email: investorrelations@aimsampcapital.com 

Exchange Listings

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Units are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited and reported in the daily newspapers under the SGX Code: AIMSAMPIReit. 
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AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Website

www.aimsampcapital.com 

The Trust’s Website offers the following features:

 Investor relations page, enabling Unitholders to access unit price and corporate governance 
information and browse Trust announcements. 

 News service providing up to date information on recent Fund activities and items of interest.
 Access to annual and half year reports. The Annual Report can be downloaded as a PDF  

electronic file. 
 Feedback service to enhance communication between the company and its Unitholders.

Financial Calendar

1st Quarter FY2010 Results Announcement 7 August 2009

Payment of 1st Quarter distribution to Unitholders 18 September 2009

2nd Quarter FY2010 Results Announcement 5 November 2009

Payment of 2nd Quarter distribution to Unitholders 15 December 2009

3rd Quarter FY2010 Results Announcement 5 February 2010

Payment of 3rd Quarter Distribution:

– Special Distribution for period from 1 October 2009 to 23 November 2009 23 March 2010

– Distribution for period from 24 November 2009 to 31 December 2009 26 March 2010

4th Quarter FY2010 Results Announcement 12 May 2010

Payment of 4th Quarter distribution to Unitholders 28 June 2010
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Investor Relations and Corporate Communications

The Manager of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT believes in the importance of timely, accurate and 
transparent communication with stakeholders. This creates opportunities to address the concerns of 
the investing community and better manage their expectations. 

Through its structured investor relations programme, the Manager hopes to raise awareness and 
understanding of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT and provide clarity on its performance, business 
developments and growth strategies. 

Communications with the Investment Community

Regular meetings and teleconferences are held with investors of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT 
from Singapore and overseas. The Manager also conducts briefings for the media and analysts as and 
when there are significant corporate announcements. Senior management provides updates and 
address concerns during these meetings. 

During the financial year, the Manager participates in a number of investor presentations and 
conferences hosted by renowned financial institutions in Singapore, Hong Kong, China, Japan  
and Australia. 

The Manager also conducts tours of key properties for investors upon request in order to provide 
them with a first hand view and appreciation of the properties. 

Dissemination of Information to the Public

Financial results and announcements of significant corporate developments are released to the  
SGX-ST and updated on the Trust’s corporate website: www.aimsampcapital.com. Direct 
communication channels via emails and phone lines between investors and the Manager have also 
been established. 

The Manager believes that its transparent communication policy gives the investment community a 
better understanding of its operations and rationale for key business initiatives.
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Financial Performance Summary 

Financial result summary (all figures in $’000 unless otherwise shown)

Period ended 31 March 2010 2009 2008

Financial performance

Gross revenue 50,944 50,827 32,214

Net property income 40,140 36,856 24,824

Net change in fair value of investment properties (41,356) (29,988) 37,010

Total return after income tax and minority interest (18,880) (26,988) 52,969

Amount available for distribution 22,343 23,421 19,611

Financial position

Total assets 657,728 543,961 569,332

Total liabilities 200,865 254,887 231,528

Unitholders’ funds 456,737 289,074 337,804

Units in issue and to be issued (‘000) 1,466,599 266,385 260,963

Net asset value per unit ($) 0.31 1.09 1.29

Key performance measure

Earnings per unit (cents) – basic and diluted (2.65) (6.87) 28.22

Distribution per unit (cents) 5.1234 8.9250 7.5200

Aggregate leverage ratio (%) 28.9 41.3 39.0

Interest coverage ratio (times) 3.17 7.4 9.8

Management expense ratio (%) 1.26 1.03 1.02

Closing price per Unit ($) 0.215 0.230 0.985

Occupancy (%) 96.0 98.6 100.0
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Corporate Directory

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT

The Manager

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited
Company Registration No. 200615904N
1 Raffles Place
#21-01 One Raffles Place 
Singapore 048616
Telephone: (65) 6309 1050
Fax: (65) 6534 3942
Website: www.aimsampcapital.com 

Trustee

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited
21 Collyer Quay
#14-01 HSBC Building
Singapore 049320

Auditor

KPMG LLP
Certified Public Accountants
16 Raffles Quay
#22-00 Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581
Telephone: (65) 6213 3388
Fax: (65) 6225 0984
Partner in charge: Leong Kok Keong
(With effect from financial period ended 31 March 2008)

Unit Registrar 

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.
50 Raffles Place 
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower 
Singapore 048623
Website: www.boardroomlimited.com

Directors of the Manager

Mr George Wang 
Mr Tan Kai Seng
Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung 
Mr Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look
Mr Simon Vinson 
Mr Graham Sugden
Ms Giam Lay Hoon 
Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath 

Audit Committee

Mr Tan Kai Seng (Chairman)
Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung 
Mr Simon Vinson

Nominating and Remuneration Committee

Mr George Wang 
Mr Tan Kai Seng
Mr Simon Vinson

Company Secretary

Ms Tang Buck Kiau
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 1st Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the holders of Units of 
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (“AIMSAMPIREIT”, and the holders of Units of AIMSAMPIREIT, 
“Unitholders”) will be held at STI Auditorium, 168 Robinson Road, Level 9, Capital Tower, Singapore 
068912 on Wednesday, 30 June 2010 at 2.00 p.m. to transact the following business:

Routine Business 

1. To receive and adopt the Report of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited, as 
trustee of AIMSAMPIREIT (the “Trustee”), the Statement by AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT 
Management Limited, as manager of AIMSAMPIREIT (the “Manager”), and the Audited Financial 
Statements of AIMSAMPIREIT for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 and the Auditors’ 
Report thereon.

2. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors of AIMSAMPIREIT and to hold office until the conclusion of 
the next AGM and to authorise the Manager to fix their remuneration.

Special Business 

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any 
modifications:

3.  That authority be and is hereby given to the Manager, to 

(a) (i) issue units in AIMSAMPIREIT (“Units”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise;  
 and/or 

 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or  
 would require Units to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of  
 (as well as adjustments to) securities, warrants, debentures or other instruments  
 convertible into Units, 

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons 
as the Manager may in its absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b)  issue Units in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Manager while this 
Resolution was in force (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution 
may have ceased to be in force at the time such Units are issued), 

 provided that: 

(1)  the aggregate number of Units to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Units to 
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution):

(a) (until 31 December 2010 or such later date as may be determined by Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”)) by way of renounceable rights 
issues on a pro rata basis (such renounceable rights issues as authorised by this sub-
paragraph 1(a), “Renounceable Rights Issues”) to Unitholders shall not exceed one 
hundred per cent (100%) of the total number of issued Units (excluding treasury Units, 
if any) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) below); and

(b) by way of unit issues other than Renounceable Rights Issues (“Other Unit Issues”) shall 
not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the total number of issued Units (excluding treasury 
Units, if any) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) below), of which the 
aggregate number of Units to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to Unitholders 
does not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the total number of issued Units (excluding 
treasury Units, if any) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) below); 

(2) the Units to be issued under the Renounceable Rights Issues and Other Unit Issues shall 
not, in aggregate, exceed one hundred per cent (100%) of the total number of issued Units 
(excluding treasury Units, if any) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) below); 
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(3) subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST for the purpose 
of determining the aggregate number of Units that may be issued under sub-paragraphs 
(1) and (2) above, the total number of issued Units (excluding treasury Units, if any) shall 
be based on the number of issued Units (excluding treasury Units, if any) at the time this 
Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(a) any new Units arising from the conversion or exercise of any Instruments which are 
outstanding at the time this Resolution is passed; and

(b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Units;

(4) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Manager shall comply with 
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the trust deed constituting AIMSAMPIREIT 
(as amended) (the “Trust Deed”) for the time being in force (unless otherwise exempted or 
waived by the Monetary Authority of Singapore); 

(5) unless revoked or varied by the Unitholders in a general meeting, the authority conferred 
by this Resolution shall continue in force until (i) the conclusion of the next AGM of 
AIMSAMPIREIT or (ii) the date by which the next AGM of AIMSAMPIREIT is required by 
applicable regulations to be held, whichever is earlier;

(6) where the terms of the issue of the Instruments provide for adjustment to the number of 
Instruments or Units into which the Instruments may be converted, in the event of rights, 
bonus or other capitalisation issues or any other events, the Manager may issue additional 
Instruments or Units notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may 
have ceased to be in force at the time the Instruments or Units are issued; and

(7) the Manager and the Trustee, be and are hereby severally authorised to complete and do 
all such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as the 
Manager or, as the case may be, the Trustee may consider expedient or necessary or in the 
interest of AIMSAMPIREIT to give effect to the authority conferred by  this Resolution.

4. That, contingent on the passing of Resolution 3 above, authority be and is hereby given to the 
Manager to fix the issue price for Units that may be issued by way of placement pursuant to 
the twenty per cent. (20%) sub-limit for Other Unit Issues on a non pro rata basis referred to in 
Resolution 3 above, at a discount exceeding ten per cent. (10%) but not more than twenty per 
cent. (20%) of the price as determined in accordance with the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, until 
31 December 2010 or such later date as may be determined by the SGX-ST. 

Other Business

5. To transact any other business which may properly be brought forward. 

By Order of the Board
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited 
(Company Registration No. 200615904N, Capital Markets Service licence no.: CMS100137-1)
As Manager of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT

Nicholas Paul McGrath

Chief Executive Officer

Singapore
11 June 2010
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Notes:
1. A Unitholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to 

attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Unitholder. 

2. Where a Unitholder appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies 
the proportion of his/her holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. 

3. The proxy form must be lodged at Manager’s appointed Unit Registrar’s office at Boardroom Corporate & 
Advisory Services Pte. Ltd at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not later than 
28 June 2010 at 2.00 p.m. being 48 hours before the time fixed for the AGM.

Explanatory Notes:

Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 3 above, if passed, will empower the Manager from the date of this AGM 
until (i) the conclusion of the next AGM of AIMSAMPIREIT or (ii) the date by which the next AGM 
of AIMSAMPIREIT is required by the applicable regulations to be held, whichever is earlier, to issue 
Units and to make or grant instruments (such as securities, warrants or debentures) convertible 
into Units and issue Units pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding (i) 100% for 
Renounceable Rights Issues and (ii) 50% for Other Unit Issues of which up to 20% may be issued other 
than on a pro rata basis to Unitholders, provided that the total number of Units which may be issued 
pursuant to (i) and (ii) shall not exceed 100% of the issued Units (excluding treasury Units, if any).

For determining the aggregate number of Units that may be issued, the percentage of issued Units 
will be calculated based on the issued Units at the time Ordinary Resolution 3 above is passed, 
after adjusting for new Units arising from the conversion or exercise of any Instruments which are 
outstanding at the time this Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or 
subdivision of Units.

The authority for 100% Renounceable Rights Issues is proposed pursuant to the SGX news release of 
19 February 2009 which introduced certain measures to accelerate and facilitate listed issuers’ fund 
raising efforts (the “SGX News Release”), which permits the authority for 100% Renounceable Rights 
Issues to be effective until 31 December 2010. The effectiveness of this measure will be reviewed by 
the SGX-ST at the end of the period. 

Fund raising by issuance of new Units may be required in instances of property acquisitions or debt 
repayments. In any event, if the approval of Unitholders is required under the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST and the Trust Deed or any applicable laws and regulations in such instances, the Manager will 
then obtain the approval of Unitholders accordingly.

Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 4 above, if passed, will authorise the Manager to fix the issue price for Units 
that are issued by way of placement pursuant to the twenty per cent (20%) sub-limit for Other Unit 
Issues on a non pro rata basis referred to in Ordinary Resolution 3 above at a discount exceeding 
10% but not more than 20% of the price as determined in accordance with the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST (the “Reference Price”), being the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for 
the full SGX-ST market day on which the placement or subscription agreement is signed. If trading in 
the Units is not available for a full SGX-ST market day, the weighted average price must be based on 
the trades done on the preceding SGX-ST market day up to the time the placement or subscription 
agreement is signed. The authority for this Resolution is proposed pursuant to the SGX News 
Release, which permits this authority to be effective until 31 December 2010. The effectiveness of 
this measure will be reviewed by the SGX-ST at the end of the period. 

Without Ordinary Resolution 4, under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the Manager may only fix 
the issue price for Units that are issued (i) by way of placement on a non pro rata basis or (ii) on a 
non-renounceable pro rata basis to Unitholders, pursuant to Other Unit Issues referred to in Ordinary 
Resolution 3 above at a discount not exceeding 10% of the Reference Price. 
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A Unitholder entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint up to two proxies to 
attend and vote instead of him; a proxy need not be a Unitholder. The instrument appointing the 
proxy or proxies (a form is enclosed) must be deposited at the Manager’s appointed Unit Registrar’s 
office at Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore 
Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding  
the meeting. 

Important Notice

The value of Units and the income derived from them may fall as well as rise. Units are not 
obligations of, deposits in, or guaranteed by, the Manager, or any of its affiliates. An investment in 
Units is subject to investment risks, including the possible loss of the principal amount invested.

Investors have no right to request the Manager to redeem their Units while the Units are listed. It is 
intended that Unitholders of AIMSAMPIREIT may only deal in their Units through trading on the  
SGX-ST. Listing of the Units on the SGX-ST does not guarantee a liquid market for the Units.

The past performance of AIMSAMPIREIT is not necessarily indicative of the future performance  
of AIMSAMPIREIT. 





AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited
Company Registration No. 200615904N
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#21-01 One Raffles Place
Singapore 048616
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